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主席報告Chairman’s Statement

Overview
2003 was a difficult year in which the Group suffered its fourth straight

year of losses. The adverse impact of the global uncertainty arising from

the war in Iraq, terrorism and the SARS outbreak in East Asia, especially

in China and Hong Kong, affected our different projects and businesses

to varying degrees. In this challenging environment, we took steps to

streamline and rationalise the Group’s asset base to maximise the

application of our resources. We disposed of several non-core and non-

performing assets while at the same time restructured and repositioned

the Group’s core businesses to improve their performance in the short

term and to realise their potential in the longer term. In this process,

accounting provisions had to be made for certain assets involved to

better reflect their true economic values arising from the changed

circumstances.

The restructuring and repositioning process, which often involved difficult

choices between alternatives and tough decisions, will continue into

2004. I expect that it will eventually change the Group’s profile as we

respond to the emerging economic realities of the market place.

Concurrent with the restructuring and repositioning process, the Group

made progress during 2003 towards improving operational efficiency.

We controlled costs tightly and better managed the allocation of our

human resource to activities which we believe possess the greatest

potential for extraction of returns. Although our staff strength fell from

about 480 to 400 during the year, we now have a more focused

management team to underpin our recovery strategy. We believe these

initiatives bode well for the future.

回顧
二零零三年是艱辛之一年，本集團第四年錄

得虧損。因伊拉克戰爭、恐佈主義以及非典

型肺炎在東亞地區爆發（尤其是中港兩地）帶

給全球之不確定因素不利之衝擊，導致本集

團不同項目及業務受到不同程度之影響。面

對如此艱困之環境，本集團進一步精簡本集

團之資產基礎，務求使投入之資源得以發揮

最大效益。本集團已出售若干非核心及表現

欠佳之資產，並同時重組本集團之核心業務

及將其重新定位，藉於短期內改善有關業務

之表現，長遠而言則發揮其潛力。就此，本

集團已於有關過程中就若干所涉及之資產作

出會計撥備，以更有效反映其於若干條件變

動後之真實經濟價值。

重組及重新定位之過程，將持續至二零零四

年，而其中往往牽涉難以取捨之選擇及決策。

本人預期，有關過程最終會令本集團之組合

出現轉變，以回應市場萬變之經濟實況。

除重組及重新定位之工作外，本集團亦同時

於二零零三年改善營運效率之行動中取得進

展。本集團不僅嚴格控制成本，更有效調配

本集團之人力資源至本集團認為擁有龐大回

報潛力之業務。儘管本集團之員工人數於年

內由約480人減至400人，惟其管理隊伍現時

更為集中，為本集團之復甦策略提供支援。

本集團相信，此等措施於日後將取得理想效

果。

Dr. Han Cheng Fong Chairman
韓禎豐博士 主席
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Chairman’s Statement 主席報告

We continued during the year to shift our focus and resources to China

to take advantage of its attractive business opportunities. Consistent

with this strategy, we pumped over HK$460 million of fresh capital

during 2003 into our existing projects there.

Financial Performance
The loss attributable to shareholders for 2003 was HK$846 million

compared to HK$267 million in 2002. This deterioration in the Group’s

performance was due to the operating losses incurred by the information/

communication technology business (“Infocomm”), the reduced sales

of our Hong Kong portfolio of developed residential properties, the

increased marketing expenses of our residential projects in China, and

more importantly, the provisions totalling HK$776 million relating to

the Shenzhen business park property, the Infocomm business and other

minor assets.

Although operating provisions decreased to HK$37 million from

HK$59 million in 2002, non-operating provisions rose substantially by

HK$597 million to HK$739 million from HK$142 million. These non-

operating provisions were made in accordance with accounting policies

and principles. The single largest provision of HK$583 million was

attributed to the remaining undeveloped site of the Vision (Shenzhen)

Business Park (“VSBP”) to properly reflect the uncertainty of its future

investment potential. A non-operating provision amounting to HK$109

million was also made on the goodwill relating to CyberCity Investments

Group (representing the bulk of the Infocomm business) that was

acquired in May 2002 in view of its operating losses and the uncertain

outlook arising from the termination of our agreement with Edusoft, a

leading English language training company, to operate training centres

in China. Finally, a provision of HK$40 million was made for our effective

25%-shareholding in an electricity power plant in Wuhu, China to reflect

its estimated recoverable amount. This is a non-core asset and is

earmarked for disposal. As a result, loss per share rose to HK29.8 cents,

up from HK11.3 cents in 2002.

本集團於年內一直將本集團之重心及資源轉

移至中國，以於其具吸引力之商機中獲益。

本集團為貫徹此策略，已於二零零三年將超

過港幣460,000,000元之新資金注入本集團於

當地之現有項目。

財務表現
二零零三年度股東應佔虧損為港幣846,000,000

元，而二零零二年則為港幣267,000,000元。

本集團表現出現倒退乃由於資訊科技業務（「資

訊科技」）產生之經營虧損、香港已發展住宅

項目組合銷售額減少、有關中國住宅項目之

市場推廣開支增加以及更為重要是本集團就

深圳商業園物業、資訊科技業務及其他小型

資產作出合共港幣776,000,000元之撥備所致。

雖然就經營業務之撥備由二零零二年之港幣

59,000,000元減至港幣37,000,000元，就非經

營業務之撥備卻由港幣142,000,000元大幅增

加港幣597,000,000元至港幣739,000,000元。

此等就非經營業務撥備乃按照會計政策及原

則而作出。單一最大撥備港幣583,000,000元

乃就深圳威新軟件科技園（「深圳威新」）之餘

下未發展地盤而作出，藉以適當反映其未來

投資潛力之不確定因素。此外，鑑於CyberCity

Investments Group之經營虧損，本集團已就於

二零零二年五月收購之CyberCity Investments

Group（佔資訊科技業務之大部份）之商譽，

以及本集團終止與Edusoft（一間具領導地位之

英語培訓公司）於中國合作營辦培訓中心而

訂立之協議所產生之不確定前景作出港

幣109,000,000元之非經營業務撥備。最後，

本集團就其實際擁有25%股權之中國蕪湖發

電廠作出港幣40,000,000元之撥備，以反映其

預計可收回數額。此乃一項非核心資產，且

作出售用途。就此，每股虧損由二零零二年

之港幣11.3仙升至港幣29.8仙。
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主席報告Chairman’s Statement

The Group’s turnover for 2003 was HK$185 million, representing less

than 42% of 2002’s turnover of HK$443 million. The property segment

continued to be the key contributor to the turnover, earning HK$162

million, or 88% of the total, compared to HK$416 million or 94% of

the total for 2002. The significant drop in the turnover was due to the

lower sales achieved in the Hong Kong residential portfolio, HK$81

million in 2003 against HK$413 million in 2002. With a provision of

HK$11 million made for developed properties held for sale in Hong

Kong, a loss of HK$39 million was recorded in 2003 for the property

segment. The loss was due to the considerable marketing and selling

expenses incurred to boost sales for Scenic Place in Beijing and The

Ninth•ZhongShan in Dalian, especially in the aftermath of SARS. VSBP

phase 1 contributed a stable rental income stream of HK$12 million

during the year. However, the asset suffered a HK$14 million loss as a

result of a revaluation deficit of HK$20 million made to reflect the

diminution in its carrying value.

Progress made
Despite the unsatisfactory financial performance, I should report that

we did make considerable progress in several key areas during the year.

Notwithstanding intense competition, our flagship business park (VSBP

phase 1) in Shenzhen, recorded a creditable occupancy rate of 93% as

at 31 December 2003. In addition, we received approval from the

Shenzhen authorities to develop phase 2 in March 2003, some 18

months after the plans were submitted. This phase 2 development will

create another 120,000 square metres of world-class business park space

and we are now planning its construction. Meanwhile, we are

intensifying our marketing efforts to seek high-quality multi-national

corporations and domestic users for the proposed development. We

are also examining the design and development of the last undeveloped

parcel of our Shenzhen site – referred to as phase 3 – which occupies

254,000 square metres with an existing permissible developable area

of 408,000 square metres.

本集團於二零零三年之營業額為港幣185,000,000

元，佔少於42%之二零零二年之營業額港幣

443,000,000元。物業分部仍為營業額之主要

來源，計為港幣162,000,000元，佔總營業額

之88%，而二零零二年則為港幣416,000,000

元，佔總營業額之94%。營業額之大幅減少

是由於香港住宅組合之銷售額由二零零二年

之港幣413,000,000元大幅減至二零零三年之

港幣81,000,000元。另鑑於就香港待出售之已

完成物業作出港幣11,000,000元之撥備，故物

業分部於二零零三年錄得港幣39,000,000元之

虧損。該虧損乃基於為北京蝶翠華庭及大連

中山九號之推銷而耗用大量市場推廣及銷售

費用所致，尤其是在非典型肺炎後。深圳威

新第一期於年內帶來港幣12,000,000元之穩定

租金收入。然而，資產卻因為反映其賬面減

值而出現重估虧絀港幣20,000,000元，繼而蒙

受港幣14,000,000元之虧損。

進展
儘管財務表現未如理想，本人謹此報告，本

集團於年內在若干主要範疇仍取得有目共睹

之進展。

雖然競爭激烈，本集團位於深圳之旗艦商業

園（深圳威新第一期）於二零零三年十二月三

十一日仍錄得93%之可觀出租率。此外，本

集團在遞交計劃18個月後，於二零零三年三

月取得深圳有關部門就進行第二期發展發出

之批文。第二期發展將額外帶來120,000平方

米之世界級商業園空間，而本集團現正規劃

其建築工程。就此，本集團正加強其市場推

廣，著力尋求高質素之跨國公司及國內租戶。

同時，本集團正就其深圳最後一幅未發展地

塊，即佔地254,000平方米及408,000平方米現

時獲准可發展面積之第三期土地，進行設計

及發展評估。
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Chairman’s Statement 主席報告

The construction progress of the Group’s other residential and business

park projects in China was generally on schedule. As at December 2003,

the construction of Vision International Centre (“VIC”), which is the

maiden business park development of Vision Huaqing (Beijing)

Development Co. Ltd., the joint venture company between the Group

and Beijing Tsinghua Science Park Construction Co. Ltd., reached the

ninth level with four more levels to top-up stage. This high quality

building is expected to be ready for occupancy in August 2004. The

marketing of about 30,000 square metres of office space in VIC to a

select group of multi-national corporations and well-established domestic

companies has started.

The construction of the three towers of Scenic Place (phase 1) in XuanWu

District, Beijing was completed towards the end of 2003 and as at 31

December 2003, the Group had entered into agreements for the sale

of 421 units or 53% of the total 788 units. The marketing of The

Ninth•ZhongShan in Dalian started in May 2003 and as at year-end,

the Group had entered into agreements to sell 114 units or 26% of the

total 432 units.

I am pleased to advise that we secured an enhanced plot ratio of 3.5

times, up from 2.74 times, for our Scenic Place site in October 2003.

This will increase the developable gross floor area by about 94,000 square

metres. We are currently planning for the development of the remaining

site, which will yield an estimated 297,000 square metres of residential

area, 26,000 square metres of serviced apartment, 13,000 square metres

of commercial/retail area and the remaining area for facilities such as

schools and public amenities.

本集團於中國之其他住宅及商業園項目之工

程一般如期進行。於二零零三年十二月，本

集團與北京清華科技園建設股份有限公司合

組之合營企業－威新華清（北京）置業發展有

限公司之首個商業園發展項目－威新國際大

廈之工程已建至第九層，尚餘四層便達平頂

階段。該幢優質之大廈預計於二零零四年八

月便可供租用。本集團已向特定跨國公司及

國內優質公司展開推廣威新國際大廈約達30,000

平方米之辦公空間。

位於北京宣武區之蝶翠華庭（第一期）三幢大

樓之工程已於二零零三年末完成，本集團並

於二零零三年十二月三十一日訂立協議出售

421個單位，佔合共788個單位之53%。大連

中山九號之市場推廣已於二零零三年五月展

開，本集團已於年末訂立協議出售114個單

位，佔合共432個單位之26%。

本人欣然宣佈，本集團已於二零零三年十月

為蝶翠華庭地盤取得更高之地積比率，由2.74

倍提高至3.5倍，這將額外增加約94,000平方

米之建築樓面面積。本集團現計劃餘下工地

之發展，預計提供297,000平方米之住宅面積、

26,000平方米之酒店服務式公寓，13,000平方

米之商業／零售面積及餘下面積作學校及公

共設施等用途。
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主席報告Chairman’s Statement

Amidst the tough market conditions in Hong Kong – record high

unemployment, weak economy and poor business sentiments,

aggravated by the SARS outbreak – especially in the first half of 2003,

we continued to sell-down the remaining units of our three completed

residential projects in Hong Kong.

Although a wide-range of cost-cutting measures and consolidation and

restructuring steps (including the sale of the Group’s 85%-shareholding

in loss-incurring Beijing Golden Voyage to the founder shareholders)

were implemented during the year, the Infocomm business generated

a turnover of HK$11 million and suffered a loss of HK$26 million,

excluding the non-operating provision of HK$109 million. It is clear that

this performance is unacceptable and immediate and appropriate

measures are being taken to stem the recurring losses.

Looking forward
We will focus on optimising our resources and streamlining operations

to achieve cost efficiency. The top priority for 2004 is to seek ways to

restructure the Group’s businesses so as to generate cash flows.

The Group will concentrate its resources on the real estate development

business in China. While full commitment and focus are given to the

existing residential projects in Beijing (Scenic Place) and Dalian (The

Ninth•ZhongShan), and business parks in Shenzhen and Beijing, the

Group will explore development opportunities in second-tier cities in

China such as Tianjin, Shenyang, Nanjing and Hangzhou where the

economic growth is robust. As property development in China faces

intense competition, it is urgent for the Group to build a brand name

synonymous with quality, innovative designs and a high standard of

property management capable of maintaining capital values. We aim

to develop projects that offer value-for-money and product differentiation

to attract purchasers.

面對香港嚴峻之市況，特別是二零零三年上

半年，失業率高企，經濟疲弱及市況低迷等

問題，加上非典型肺炎爆發下，本集團仍繼

續出售其於香港三個已完成住宅項目之剩餘

單位。

雖然本集團於年內推行不同類型之削減成本

措施，並進行整合及重組（包括向創辦人股

東出售本集團於產生虧損之北京金海航所擁

有85%股權），資訊科技業務之營業額仍僅

為港幣 11 ,000 ,000元，並錄得虧損港幣

26,000,000元，不包括非經營業務撥備港幣

109,000,000元。此業務之表現顯然難以接受，

故本集團已採取即時及適當之措施以遏抑虧

損。

展望
本集團將致力善用資源以及精簡運作，藉以

達致成本效益之目標。本集團於二零零四年

之首要任務是尋求重組本集團業務之方法，

從而產生現金流量。

本集團將集中資源至中國之房地產發展業務。

在專心致志於北京（蝶翠華庭）及大連（中山

九號）之現有住宅項目及深圳與北京之商業

園時，本集團將於中國經濟增長迅速之第二

級城市如天津、瀋陽、南京及杭州尋求發展

機會。由於中國物業發展競爭激烈，本集團

當務之急乃建立本身之品牌，同時以優質而

富創意之設計及高水平之物業管理，從而維

持物業之資本價值。本集團旨在發展物超所

值及與眾不同之項目，以吸引買家。
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The existing loss-making Infocomm activities will be critically assessed

so as to improve their performance. Where it is commercially appropriate,

activities maybe restructured, ceased or divested. We intend to complete

this review and its implementation by July 2004.

Most importantly, we are collaborating with our two major shareholders,

Fraser and Neave and Ascendas to tap into a wide range of business

and investment opportunities in China, including fee-generating ones.

With the combination of their strengths and expertise in areas such as

business park management, residential property development, shopping

mall and serviced apartment management, we are confident of

generating a proprietary deal-flow of business opportunities for the

Group.

In addition, we are also seeking ways to expand our business co-

operation with strategic partners such as Tsinghua University. With our

joint venture in VIC progressing well, the Group is presently in discussion

with the University to form and build a world-class pan-China platform

to undertake fee-income property management of business parks and

other real estate categories. We believe that such a venture holds much

promise and will be a catalyst to upgrade property management in China

to reach a new standard.

With China as the world’s fastest growing economy, I believe the Group’s

focus there is the right strategy. We will continue to seek out new

investment and business opportunities in China while progressing on

our existing ones.

本集團將對現時產生虧損之資訊科技業務作

出嚴格評估，藉此改善其表現。倘符合商業

利益，業務或會重組、終止或減持。本集團

擬於二零零四年七月完成此項檢討及施行有

關計劃。

更為重要的是，本集團正與兩名主要股東花

莎尼及騰飛合作，進軍中國不同類型之業務

及投資機會，包括收費項目。透過結合彼等

之優勢及於商業園管理、住宅物業發展、商

場及旅館式公寓管理之經驗，本集團有信心

可為集團帶來有關商機之獨有交易流程。

此外，本集團亦正尋求與清華大學等策略性

夥伴拓展業務合作之途徑。鑑於本集團之合

營企業在威新國際大廈之效果理想，本集團

現與大學磋商成立及建立一個世界級之泛中

國平台，以承辦商業園及其他房地產類別之

收費物業管理。本集團相信，有關企業前景

可觀，並可將中國物業管理之素質推向更高

水平。

由於中國乃全球增長最迅速之經濟體系，故

本人相信本集團集中國內市場乃正確策略。

本集團將在發展現有項目之餘，並繼續於中

國尋求新投資及業務機會。
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主席報告Chairman’s Statement

Corporate Governance and Investor Relations
The Group is fully committed to maintaining good corporate governance

and investor relations to safeguard the interests of the shareholders,

lenders and other stakeholders. In this context, the Group will continue

to embrace all best practices in corporate governance, particularly in

relation to transparency, keeping shareholders fully informed through

effective and timely communication and selecting an effective board

with strong and wholly independent directors. We are also working to

further strengthen the internal audit process and management control

system.

Acknowledgement
I was pleased to accept appointment as Chairman of the Board in October

2003, succeeding Dr. Simon Jiang Xiaoming, who retired to pursue his

personal interests. I record here my sincere appreciation of Dr. Jiang’s

many contributions and achievements over the past 31/2 years. I wish

Dr. Jiang success in his future endeavours. Likewise, I want to thank Mr.

Michael Kuan Chao and Mr. Charles Chan Wing Ming, who retired

from the Board in October 2003, for their past services and contributions

to the Group.

Mr. Ang Ah Lay was re-designated from Managing Director to Chief

Executive Officer of the Group in October 2003. I wish Mr. Ang success

in his expanded role and hope that under his stewardship, the Group

will deliver improved performance in 2004 and beyond.

To my fellow directors, I thank them for their untiring energy and hard

work over the past year. Individually and collectively, their expertise is

unmatched and I am confident that they will continue to make significant

contributions to the Group’s affairs in the future.

企業管治及與投資者之關係
本集團致力維持優質之企業管治及與投資者

的良好關係，以保障股東、借款人及其他保

管人之權益。就此而言，本集團將繼續諾守

企業管治之一切最佳守則，特別是有關透明

度之守則，藉以透過有效及適時之聯繫，且

推選由有實力及完全獨立董事組成之董事局，

使股東可以絕對知情。本集團亦致力進一步

加強內部核數程序及管理控制系統。

鳴謝
本人很榮幸於二零零三年十月接受委任為董

事局主席，接替因個人理由退休之蔣小明博

士。本人謹此就蔣博士於過往三年半所作之

貢獻及成就致以衷心謝意，並謹祝蔣博士前

程似錦。另外，本人亦藉此多謝已於二零零

三年十月辭任董事局之關新先生及陳永明先

生，感謝彼等以往對本集團之服務及貢獻。

洪亞歷先生於二零零三年十月由本集團董事

總經理調任為行政總裁。本人謹祝洪先生鵬

程萬里，並冀在彼之領導下，本集團於二零

零四年及以後均有理想之表現。

至於各董事，本人感謝彼等於往年所作出之

不懈努力，而彼等個別及共同之專才更鮮為

人及。因此，本人深信彼等日後仍會對本集

團作出重大貢獻。
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Chairman’s Statement 主席報告

On behalf of the Board, I thank all our employees for their dedication

and their understanding in making sacrifices during this difficult time as

we take steps to secure the Group’s long-term prospects. I look forward

to their continued support . I must add my appreciation to our customers,

bankers, business partners and shareholders for their trust and unstinting

support.

Dr. Han Cheng Fong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 March 2004

本人謹代表董事局，就全體僱員在本集團實

踐長遠目標之艱難時刻，就其奉獻及諒解而

作出之犧牲，表示衷心感謝。本人並期待彼

等繼續給予本集團支持。本人亦須藉此鳴謝

本集團客戶、銀行、業務夥伴及股東之信任

及無限支持。

韓禎豐博士

主席

香港，二零零四年三月十六日
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二零零三年財務摘要2003 Financial Highlights

(HK$’000) 2003 2002

Turnover 184,989 443,431

Loss attributable to shareholders 846,103 267,019

Total assets 1,672,821 2,454,296

Total liabilities 971,778 904,895

Shareholders’ funds 701,043 1,549,401

Total borrowings 552,502 387,123

Net borrowings 281,324 59,641

Loss per share (HK cents) 29.8 11.3

Net asset value per share (HK cents) 24.7 54.6

Current ratio 1.5 2.5

Gearing ratio (%) 79% 25%

Net borrowings over shareholders’ funds (%) 40% 4%

（港幣千元）

營業額

股東應佔虧損

總資產

總負債

股東基金

貸款總額

貸款淨額

每股虧損（港仙）

每股淨資產（港仙）

流動比率

資本負債比率（百分比）

貸款淨額除以股東基金（百分比）
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Financial Review 財務回顧

Results of 2003
For the year ended 31 December 2003, the Group recorded a loss

attributable to shareholders of HK$846 million compared to loss of

HK$267 million in 2002. The increase in loss for the year under review

was primarily due to provisions totalling HK$776 million, which reflected

the permanent diminution in the values of certain real estate projects

and goodwill. On a per-share basis, the Group recorded a loss of HK29.8

cents.

Excluding the effect of the non-operating provisions, the attributable

loss amounted to HK$107 million, which represented a 14%

improvement compared to the loss before non-operating provisions of

HK$125 million in 2002.

The property segment continued to be the major revenue contributor

to the Group. The three core businesses of the Group experienced a

difficult year amidst the persistent weak economy in Hong Kong and

the highly competitive business environment in China, compounded by

the outbreak of SARS which hit Hong Kong and the mainland hard,

especially in the first half of 2003.

Review of Overall Performance
Turnover for the year amounted to HK$185 million, a reduction of

HK$258 million compared to HK$443 million in 2002. The lower in

turnover was primarily attributable to the decrease in property sales

revenue in Hong Kong by HK$332 million, partially offset by property

sales revenue of HK$80 million from the Scenic Place project in Beijing.

二零零三年業績
截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度，本

集團錄得股東應佔虧損港幣846,000,000元，

二零零二年之虧損則為港幣267,000,000元。

於回顧年度虧損增加，主要由於作出反映若

干房地產項目及商譽永久減值之撥備合共港

幣776,000,000元。按每股計算，本集團錄得

虧損港幣29.8仙。

撇除非經營業務撥備之影響，應佔虧損為港

幣107,000,000元，較二零零二年非經營業務

撥備前之虧損港幣125,000,000元改善14%。

物業分部仍為本集團之主要收益來源。本集

團三項核心業務經歷艱辛的一年（尤其是二

零零三年上半年），乃因香港經濟持續疲弱，

中國營商環境競爭激烈，加上非典型肺炎在

中港兩地肆虐，令經濟環境雪上加霜。

整體業績回顧
本年度營業額為港幣185,000,000元，較二零

零二年錄得之港幣 443,000,000元減少港幣

258,000,000元。營業額下降主要由於香港物

業銷售收益下跌港幣332,000,000元，惟部份

以來自北京蝶翠華庭項目之物業銷售收益港

幣80,000,000元抵銷。

Turnover by segment

營業額，按分部

2003
二零零三年

2002
二零零二年

Property Business park

Infocomm

technology Total

0

50,000

150,000

250,000

350,000

450,000

物業 商業園 資訊科技 總計

HK$’000

港幣千元
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財務回顧Financial Review

Sales of properties continued to be the major component of the Group’s

turnover. It accounted for 87%, a slight decrease compared to 93% in

2002.

The Group made provisions in the aggregate amount of HK$776 million,

of which HK$37 million and HK$739 million were provisions for

operations and non-operating provisions respectively.

Provisions made for operations decreased from HK$59 million in 2002

to HK$37 million in 2003, a reduction of 37%. Provisions for 2003

were made in respect of property projects, overdue outstanding

receivables and other non-core assets.

Non-operating provisions amounted to HK$739 million for the year.

These provisions were made based on the results of the impairment

test carried out in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. For

the year ended 31 December 2003, a provision of HK$583 million was

made in respect of the diminution in the value of our Shenzhen project

in view of the uncertainty concerning the future investment potential

of the remaining undeveloped site. Besides, the Group had written off

HK$109 million intangible goodwill in respect of our Infocomm projects.

The write-off was to reflect the unfavorable outlook of the business

environment faced by the Infocomm technology segment in the

foreseeable future. Finally, a provision of HK$40 million for the

investment in a jointly controlled entity was made to write down the

value to its estimated recoverable amount.

物業銷售仍為本集團營業額之主要部份，佔

87%，較二零零二年之93%輕微下調。

本集團已作出合共港幣776,000,000元之撥備，

其中就經營業務及非經營業務分別作出港

幣37,000,000元及港幣739,000,000元之撥備。

為經營業務所作之撥備由二零零二年之港

幣 59 ,000 ,000元下降至二零零三年之港

幣37,000,000元，跌幅為37%。二零零三年之

撥備乃就物業項目、逾期未償還應收款項及

其他非核心資產而作出。

年內就非經營業務所作之撥備為港幣739,000,000

元。此等撥備乃按照本集團會計政策所進行

之減值測試之結果而作出。截至二零零三年

十二月三十一日止年度，鑑於剩餘之未發展

地盤之未來投資潛力未明，已就深圳項目作

出港幣583,000,000元之減值撥備。此外，本

集團已就其資訊科技項目撇銷港幣109,000,000

元之無形商譽。該項撇銷乃為反映資訊科技

業務於可見未來所面對之不明朗業務前景而

作出。最後，本集團亦就共同控制企業之投

資作出港幣40,000,000元之撥備，以將其價值

撇減至預計可收回數額。
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Financial Review 財務回顧

Finance costs dropped significantly to HK$10 million in 2003 from HK$22

million, which was attributable to reductions in average bank and other

borrowings, as well as increase in the capitalization of interest for projects

in the mainland. The repayment of bank and other borrowings was

financed primarily by the proceeds realised from the sales of Hong Kong

property projects.

Due to the adoption of revised accounting standards on deferred tax in

2003, the Group recorded a deferred tax credit of HK$3 million which

represented the income tax effect on the temporary differences resulting

from the recognition of revenue and expenses for tax and for financial

reporting purpose.

The Group had divested certain of its non-core assets, which included

the 40% interest in Laford Centre. Share of profits of associated

companies was HK$4 million, which represented the gain on disposal

of Laford Centre. Share of profit from a jointly controlled entity amounted

to HK$2 million compared to the share of loss of HK$4 million in 2002.

Business Segments
Property

Property segment continued to be the key contributor to the Group’s

revenue. Turnover of the property segment was HK$162 million or 88%

of the total turnover compared to HK$416 million or 94% in 2002. The

Group had sold all the remaining residential units in Greenery Place and

various units in Elite Court and Harbourview Garden in Hong Kong. The

construction of Scenic Place (phase 1) in Beijing was completed during

the year and a revenue of HK$80 million was recognised on the sales of

170 residential units in one tower.

The Hong Kong property market remained competitive throughout 2003.

In the mainland, the outbreak of SARS dampened market sentiments

and disrupted the sales of Scenic Place in Beijing and The

Ninth•ZhongShan in Dalian. A loss of HK$39 million was reported for

the Group’s property segment due to significant increases in marketing

expenses incurred to boost sales in the two projects.

財務費用由港幣22,000,000元大幅下降至二零

零三年之港幣10,000,000元，原因為銀行及其

他貸款平均減少，以及國內項目利息資本化

增加。用以償還銀行及其他貸款之資金主要

來自出售香港物業項目所變現之所得款項。

由於在二零零三年就遞延稅項採納經修訂會

計準則，本集團錄得遞延稅項抵免港幣3,000,000

元，乃所得稅就課稅及財務申報目的而確認

收支項目時所產生暫時差異之影響。

本集團已減持其若干非核心資產，包括勵豐

中心 40%權益。應佔聯營公司之溢利為港

幣4,000,000元，乃來自出售勵豐中心之收益。

應佔共同控制企業之溢利為港幣2,000,000元，

而二零零二年則錄得應佔虧損港幣4,000,000

元。

業務分部
物業

物業分部仍為本集團之主要收益來源。物業

分部之營業額為港幣162,000,000元，或佔總

營 業 額 之 8 8 %， 而 二 零 零 二 年 則 為 港

幣416,000,000元，或佔總營業額之94%。本

集團已售出香港翠韻華庭所有剩餘之住宅單

位，以及雅賢軒與維景雅軒之多個單位。北

京蝶翠華庭（第一期）建築工程已於年內竣工，

更已落實售出其中一幢中之170個住宅單位，

銷售收益達港幣80,000,000元。

香港物業市場之競爭於二零零三年一直持續

激烈。國內爆發之非典型肺炎打擊入市意欲

以及北京蝶翠華庭及大連中山九號之銷情。

由於為該兩個項目推銷，致使市場推廣開支

大幅增加，故本集團之物業分部錄得港

幣39,000,000元之虧損。
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財務回顧Financial Review

Business Park

Phase 1 of the Shenzhen business park continued to provide a stable

income stream to the Group with turnover of HK$12 million. During

the year under review, owing to a revaluation deficit of HK$20 million,

a loss of HK$14 million was reported for the business park segment.

Infocomm Technology

The Group embarked on the restructuring and consolidation of the

Infocomm business during the year and certain uneconomical activities

were disposed of. In 2003, Infocomm technology segment contributed

HK$11 million to the Group’s turnover. Operating loss for the segment

amounted to HK$26 million.

Other Operations

Other operations of the Group included a non-core investment in an

electricity power plant in Wuhu, China. It was the intention of the Group

to divest its non-core investments under acceptable terms and conditions.

Geographical Segments
Hong Kong

As a result of the Group’s success in shifting its investment focus to the

mainland and the continued downsizing of the Hong Kong property

portfolio, turnover derived in Hong Kong decreased to HK$83 million

or 45% compared to HK$417 million or 94% in 2002.

China

Following the completion of one block of Scenic Place (phase 1) in Beijing

and the recognition of property sales for the 170 residential units in one

tower in 2003, turnover earned in the mainland recorded a significant

jump when compared to the preceding year. Sales of property in the

mainland amounted to HK$80 million. Together with business park

operation and Infocomm business, turnover earned from the mainland

amounted to HK$102 million or 55% of the total turnover compared

to HK$26 million or 6% in 2002. The increase in turnover from the

mainland was in line with the Group’s strategic penetration into that

market.

商業園

深圳商業園第一期繼續為本集團提供穩定之

收入來源，營業額為港幣12,000,000元。於回

顧年度，由於產生重估虧絀港幣20,000,000

元，故商業園分部錄得虧損港幣14,000,000

元。

資訊科技

本集團已於年內致力重組及整合資訊科技業

務，並出售若干不具經濟效益之業務。於二

零零三年，資訊科技分部為本集團營業額貢

獻港幣11,000,000元，惟該業務仍錄得經營虧

損港幣26,000,000元。

其他業務

本集團之其他業務包括一項於中國蕪湖電廠

之非核心投資。本集團擬在可接納之條款及

條件下出售該非核心業務之投資。

地區分部
香港

由於本集團已成功將其投資重點轉移至國內，

加上持續縮減香港之物業組合，故此源自香

港之營業額已下降至港幣83,000,000元或45%，

而二零零二年則為港幣417,000,000元或94%。

中國

於二零零三年，北京蝶翠華庭（第一期）其中

一幢樓宇落成及確認一幢樓宇當中170個住

宅單位之物業銷售後，國內產生之營業額較

往年錄得大幅增長。國內物業之銷售額為港

幣80,000,000元，連同商業園業務及資訊科技

業務，源自國內之營業額為港幣102,000,000

元或佔總營業額55%，而二零零二年則為港

幣26,000,000元或佔總營業額6%。國內營業

額之增長與本集團進軍該市場之策略一致。
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Assets
The value of the Group’s total assets decreased to HK$1,673 million as

at 31 December 2003, representing a reduction of HK$781 million

compared to December 2002. The reduction was due to provisions made

for the permanent diminution in the value of assets.

Assets held under property segment maintained at HK$1,019 million in

December 2003 or 61% of the Group’s total assets compared to HK$993

million as in December 2002. As a result of the substantial impairment

provision made in 2003, the gross asset value of business park segment

was reduced to HK$364 million, representing a 62% drop from HK$966

million in 2002. The assets held by the other businesses decreased to

HK$290 million, which constituted 17% of the Group’s total assets

compared to 20% in December 2002.

Total assets held in the mainland amounted to HK$1,432 million in

December 2003, representing 86% of the Group’s total assets, compared

to 81% in 2002.

資產
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本集團之資

產總值下跌至港幣1,673,000,000元，較二零

零二年十二月減少港幣781,000,000元。減少

之原因為就資產之永久減值作出撥備。

於二零零三年十二月，物業分部項下持有之

資產維持在港幣1,019,000,000元，或佔本集

團資產總值之61%，而於二零零二年十二月

則為港幣993,000,000元。由於在二零零三年

作出重大減值撥備，商業園分部之總資產值

因而由二零零二年之港幣966,000,000元下降

至港幣364,000,000元，跌幅為62%。其他業

務持有之資產減至港幣290,000,000元，或佔

本集團資產總值之17%，而於二零零二年十

二月則為20%。

於國內持有之資產總值於二零零三年十二月

為港幣1,432,000,000元，佔本集團資產總值

之86%，而二零零二年則佔81%。
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Shareholders’ Funds
The Group’s total shareholders’ funds decreased from HK$1,549 million

as at 31 December 2002 to HK$701 million as at 31 December 2003.

The reduction in shareholders’ funds was due to the loss for the year

2003 of HK$846 million, of which HK$776 million were provisions of a

non-cash nature. On a per-share basis, the consolidated net asset value

of the Group at 31 December 2003 was HK24.7 cents, compared to

HK54.6 cents as at 31 December 2002. The total shareholders’ funds

was 42% of the total assets of HK$1,673 million as at 31 December

2003.

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure
Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the year under review, the Group’s total borrowings increased

by 43% from HK$387 million as at 31 December 2002 to HK$552

million as at 31 December 2003 while net debt (measured by total bank

borrowings minus cash and bank deposits) increased to HK$281 million

due to the additional fundings applied towards the development of the

mainland property projects. The progress of both the Beijing and Dalian

projects was in line with forecast. The construction of the Beijing project,

Scenic Place (phase 1) was completed towards the end of 2003 and

occupation permit had been received by one of the three towers. The

application of the occupation permit for the remaining two was

underway. The Dalian project would also be completed in 2004.

The substantial amount of provisions made during the year caused the

gearing ratio to increase to 79% as at 31 December 2003, from 25%

as at 31 December 2002.

股東基金
本集團之股東基金總額由二零零二年十二月

三十一日之港幣1,549,000,000元減至二零零

三年十二月三十一日之港幣701,000,000元。

股東基金之減少乃由於二零零三年度虧損港

幣846,000,000元，其中港幣776,000,000元為

非現金性質項目之撥備。按每股計算，本集

團於二零零三年十二月三十一日之綜合資產

淨值為港幣24.7仙，而二零零二年十二月三

十一日則為港幣54.6仙。於二零零三年十二

月三十一日，股東基金總額佔資產總值港

幣1,673,000,000元之42%。

財務資源、流動資金及資本架構
流動資金及資本資源

於回顧年內，本集團之貸款總額由二零零二

年十二月三十一日之港幣387,000,000元增加

43%至二零零三年十二月三十一日之港

幣552,000,000元，而債務淨額（以銀行貸款

總額減現金及銀行存款計算）則由於向國內

物 業 項 目 發 展 投 入 額 外 資 金 而 增 至 港

幣281,000,000元。北京及大連項目均如期進

行。北京項目蝶翠華庭（第一期）之建築工程

已於二零零三年末竣工，並已取得三棟大樓

之其中一棟之入住許可證。餘下兩棟大樓之

入住許可證申請仍在進行中。大連項目預期

於二零零四年竣工。

年內作出的巨額撥備導致資產負債比率由二

零零二年十二月三十一日之25%上升至二零

零三年十二月三十一日之79%。
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Short-term and Long-term Borrowings

The maturity profiles of the Group’s bank and other borrowings

outstanding as at 31 December 2003 and 31 December 2002 are

summarized as follows:

31 December 2003 31 December 2002
二零零三年 二零零二年

十二月三十一日 十二月三十一日
HK$ million % HK$ million %
港幣百萬元 百分比 港幣百萬元 百分比

Within one year 474 86% 223 58%

In the second year 78 14% 42 11%

In the third to fifth year – – 122 31%

Total 552 100% 387 100%

The increase in amount due within one year was in line with the

construction progress of our two residential projects in the mainland.

Financial Management
Foreign Currency Risk

The Group did not use any financial instrument to hedge foreign currency

risk. Instead, the Group has increased its renminbi financing to mitigate

any potential exposure in its mainland projects where cashflows are

denominated in that currency.

The denomination of the Group’s bank and other borrowings

outstanding as at 31 December 2003 and 31 December 2002 are

summarized as follows:

31 December 2003 31 December 2002
二零零三年 二零零二年

十二月三十一日 十二月三十一日
HK$ million % HK$ million %
港幣百萬元 百分比 港幣百萬元 百分比

In HK$ 167 30% 183 47%

In RMB 385 70% 204 53%

Total 552 100% 387 100%

The increase in the proportion of renminbi borrowings was in line with

the Group’s additional business exposure in the mainland and the

financial policy to minimize exposure to currency risk.

短期及長期貸款

本集團於二零零三年十二月三十一日及二零

零二年十二月三十一日之未償還銀行及其他

貸款之還款情況概述如下：

一年內

第二年

第三至第五年

總額

一年內到期數額之增加為本集團位於中國之

兩項住宅項目之工程進度一致。

財務管理
外匯風險

本集團並無使用任何財務工具對沖外匯風險。

惟本集團已增加其人民幣融資，以減輕在以

該貨幣為主要現金流量之國內項目之潛在風

險。

本集團於二零零三年十二月三十一日及二零

零二年十二月三十一日尚未償還之銀行及其

他貸款按記賬貨幣分類概述如下：

港幣

人民幣

總額

人民幣貸款之比率有所增加，符合本集團加

強國內業務之目標及盡量減低外匯風險之財

務政策。
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Interest Rate Risk

The Group was exposed to changes in interest rate fluctuations to the

extent that they affect the cost of funds for floating rate borrowings.

As at 31 December 2003, about 30% of the Group’s total borrowings

were on a floating rate basis whilst the remaining 70% were fixed rate

borrowings. In comparison, 47% of the borrowings were on floating

rate and 53% on fixed rate as at 31 December 2002. The Group would

continue to maintain a mixture of floating rate and fixed rate borrowings

and take action to hedge against any foreseeable interest rate exposure,

if necessary.

Pledge of Assets
The Group’s bank loans, overdrafts and other loans were secured by

certain investment properties, completed properties held for sale and

those under development with carrying values of HK$753 million (2002:

HK$605 million) and cash deposits of HK$153 million (2002: HK$122

million).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2003, the Company issued guarantees to the extent

of HK$329 million (2002: HK$271 million) of which HK$320 million

(2002: HK$203 million) was utilized in respect of bank and other

borrowings granted to its subsidiaries and HK$1 million (2002: HK$1

million) was utilized in respect of the lease of fixed assets taken up by a

subsidiary.

利率風險

本集團面對利率波幅變動，限於浮動利率貸

款對資金成本之影響。於二零零三年十二月

三十一日，本集團貸款總額當中，約30%以

浮動利率計息，其餘70%為定息貸款。相比

之下，於二零零二年十二月三十一日，本集

團貸款當中之47%為浮息貸款，另外53%則

為定息貸款。本集團將繼續維持浮息貸款及

定息貸款之借貸組合，並在有需要時採取措

施對沖任何可預見之利率波動風險。

資產抵押
本集團之銀行貸款、透支及其他貸款乃由賬

面值港幣753,000,000元（二零零二年：港幣

605,000,000元）之若干投資物業、待出售之

已完成物業及發展中物業以及現金存款港幣

153,000,000元（二零零二年：港幣122,000,000

元）作為抵押。

或然負債
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本公司所作

出之擔保合共港幣329,000,000元（二零零二

年：港幣271,000,000元），其中就授予附屬

公司之銀行及其他貸款已動用港幣320,000,000

元（二零零二年：港幣203,000,000元），就附

屬公司之固定資產租賃已動用港幣1,000,000

元（二零零二年：港幣1,000,000元）。
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Acquisition and Disposal of Interests in
Subsidiaries and Associated Companies
On 13 January 2003, the Group entered into an agreement with China

Travel Services Group to acquire the remaining 35% shareholding in

the Scenic Place project at a consideration of HK$64 million.

On 14 October 2003, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose

New Digital Associates Limited (“New Digital”), a 85%-owned subsidiary

of the Group, at a consideration of RMB1 million. New Digital owns the

entire 100% equity interest in Beijing Golden Voyage Electronic

Technology Co., Ltd., a company which developed and distributed

e-learning platform to educational institutions and corporations.

On 24 December 2003, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose

Easykeys Limited (“Easykeys”), a 72%-owned subsidiary of the Group,

and US$30,000 was received as consideration. Easykeys developed and

owned the intellectual property rights in KW-1 Chinese Language

Keyboard.

收購及出售附屬公司及聯營公
司之權益
於二零零三年一月十三日，本集團與中旅集

團訂立一項協議，以代價港幣64,000,000元收

購蝶翠華庭項目餘下35%股權。

於二零零三年十月十四日，本集團訂立一項

協議，以代價人民幣1,000,000元出售本集團

擁有85%權益之附屬公司New Digital Associates

Limited （「New Digital」）。New Digital擁有北京

金海航電子技術有限責任公司之全部股權。

北京金海航電子技術有限責任公司乃一間為

教育機構及公司開發及分銷電子學習平台之

公司。

於二零零三年十二月二十四日，本集團訂立

一項協議，以出售本集團擁有72%股權之附

屬公司Easykeys Limited（「Easykeys」），並已收

取30,000美元作為代價。Easykeys開發及擁有

KW-1中文鍵盤之知識產權。
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Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
截至 截至 截至 截至 截至

二零零三年 二零零二年 二零零一年 二零零零年 一九九九年
十二月 十二月 十二月 十二月 十二月

三十一日止 三十一日止 三十一日止 三十一日止 三十一日止
(In HK$’000) 年度 年度 年度 年度 年度

Results

Turnover 184,989 443,431 383,048 565,025 99,829

(Loss)/profit

before taxation (869,132) (277,021) (402,881) (383,148) 29,315

Taxation 2,793 (780) (846) (905) 102

(Loss)/profit

before minority

interests (866,339) (277,801) (403,727) (384,053) 29,417

Minority interests 20,236 10,782 7,074 28,242 (9,767)

(Loss)/profit

attributable to

shareholders (846,103) (267,019) (396,653) (355,811) 19,650

At 31 At 31 At 31 At 31 At 31
December December December December December

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
於 於 於 於 於

二零零三年 二零零二年 二零零一年 二零零零年 一九九九年
十二月 十二月 十二月 十二月 十二月

(In HK$’000) 三十一日 三十一日 三十一日 三十一日 三十一日

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 1,672,821 2,454,296 2,440,613 2,804,093 2,140,992

Less:

Total liabilities 971,778 904,895 1,219,851 1,206,198 736,494

Shareholders’ funds 701,043 1,549,401 1,220,762 1,597,895 1,404,498

（以港幣千元為單位）

業績

營業額

除稅前（虧損）

／溢利

稅項

未計少數股東權益前

（虧損）／溢利

少數股東權益

股東應佔（虧損）

／溢利

（以港幣千元為單位）

資產與負債

總資產

減：

總負債

股東基金
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Business Park Sector
Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park (“VSBP”)

Despite strong competition, the existing phase 1 of VSBP achieved a

record occupancy of 93% as at 31 December 2003, up from 74% a

year ago. Phase 1 offered a total office space of 23,500 sqm, which

was occupied by 33 tenants comprising multi-national corporations and

local high-tech companies. During the year, existing recreational facilities

and activities for our tenants were upgraded and new ones added. This

was in line with our policy of offering a “work-play” environment to all

those who worked in the park.

Our phase 1 property was awarded the ISO 9000 certification (Property

Management) in September 2003. This is further testament to the

consistent and high quality international standard of services we provide

to all our tenants.

The Shenzhen authorities approved our phase 2 development plans on

31 March 2003, some 18 months after the plans were submitted. We

have started the process of securing the necessary permits for

construction. At the same time, we are assessing the development of

the phase 3 site of 254,088 sqm with a developable area of 408,180

sqm.

Vision Huaqing (Beijing) Development Co., Ltd. (“VHDL”)

VHDL is a joint venture company between the Group and Beijing Tsinghua

Science Park Construction Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of the prestigious

Tsinghua University in Beijing. The joint venture company is undertaking

the development and construction of Vision International Centre, a high

quality and state-of-the-art business park facility located within the

Tsinghua Science Park in Zongguancun, Haidian District, Beijing.

Construction work on the 13-storey building commenced in June 2003

and is scheduled to complete in July 2004. Upon completion, it will

yield a gross floor area about 30,000 sqm of fully wired-up space, suitable

to multi-national corporations and domestic companies engaged in

technology and IT-related business; research-based activities in biomedical

and pharmaceutical; and education related to technology, multi-media

and animation. In addition, there will be two basements of 9,000 sqm

to accommodate some 200 car-park lots.

商業園業務
深圳威新軟件科技園（「深圳威新」）

儘管競爭激烈，深圳威新現有第一期之出租

率於二零零三年十二月三十一日仍由去年之

74%升至93%之新高。第一期提供之辦公大

樓總面積達23,500平方米，由33家跨國公司

及內地高科技公司租用。於回顧年內，本公

司已為租戶新增及更新現有之康樂設施及活

動，此舉體現了本公司為所有在科技園內工

作之人士提供「工作及休閒」環境之政策。

本集團之第一期物業已於二零零三年九月獲

取物業管理 ISO9000証書。這是本集團向所有

租戶提供優質及具國際水平服務之又一明證。

第二期項目發展規劃在提呈審批約十八個月

後，已於二零零三年三月三十一日獲深圳有

關政府部門批准。本集團已開展申領建築工

程所需許可證之程序。同時，我們現正評估

面積達254,088平方米，並有可發展面積達

408,180平方米之第三期土地發展。

威新華清（北京）置業發展有限公司（「威

新華清」）

威新華清乃本集團與著名學府北京清華大學

之附屬公司北京清華科技園建設股份有限公

司成立之合營公司。該合營公司負責發展及

興建位於北京海淀區中關村清華科技園內之

新型優質商業園區內之威新國際大廈。該幢

樓高13層之大廈已於二零零三年六月動工，

定於二零零四年七月竣工。落成後，該大廈

之總樓面面積約達30,000平方米，所有單位

之線路均配備齊全，適合從事科技及資訊科

技相關業務、生物醫藥研究以及科技、多媒

體及動畫製作相關教育活動之跨國公司及國

內公司使用。此外，該大廈亦會建兩層佔地

9,000平方米之地庫，可容納約200個泊車位。
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When completed, the building will offer an international standard of

property management, with a comprehensive range of value-added

facilities and amenities available to all its occupants.

To reach out to as many high-quality prospects globally as possible, we

have appointed Ascendas Services Pte Ltd. and Jones Lang LaSalle to

strengthen our marketing thrust. Notwithstanding the intense

competition in the office sector in Beijing, we are confident of securing

an early anchor tenant before the completion of construction.

Real Estate Development
Property Projects in China

The Group presently has two high-rise residential projects held for

development in China, one in Beijing and the other in Dalian. The

marketing and construction of both projects were hampered by the

outbreak of SARS during March to June of 2003.

The construction of 3 blocks under phase 1 of Scenic Place in XuanWu

District, Beijing was completed. As at 31 December 2003, the Group

had entered into agreements to sell 421 of the 788 units. Over 200

units have been handed over to the purchasers.

An enhanced plot ratio of 3.5 times, up from 2.74 times, was secured

in October 2003. This will enable the construction of an additional 94,000

sqm of gross floor area. The Group is planning to submit a new scheme

for the development of the remaining site, which will yield an estimated

297,000 sqm of residential area, 26,000 sqm of serviced apartment,

13,000 sqm of commercial/retail area.

落成後，該大廈將提供符合國際水準之物業

管理服務，並將為所有租戶提供一整套完備

的增值設備及設施。

為最大限度地吸納國際性的優質租戶，本集

團已委任Ascendas Services Pte Ltd.及仲量聯行

為代理，以加強本集團之市場推廣力。儘管

北京之辦公室租務市場競爭激烈，本集團仍

有信心在建築工程完成前尋求具知名度之商

戶。

房地產發展
中國物業項目

目前，本集團在中國擁有兩個興建中之高層

住宅項目，一個位於北京，一個位於大連。

兩個項目之市場推廣及建築工程均因二零零

三年三月至六月爆發非典型肺炎而受到影響。

北京宣武區蝶翠華庭第一期三幢樓宇之建築

工程已經完成。於二零零三年十二月三十一

日，本集團已分別訂立協議出售該項目788

個單位中之421個。超過200個單位已交付予

買家。

於二零零三年十月，蝶翠華庭項目之地積比

率由2.74倍提高至3.5倍，從而使建築工程可

額外多建94,000平方米之建築樓面面積。本

集團現計劃就餘下工地之發展提出新計劃，

使預計之住宅面積提高至297,000平方米、酒

店服務式公寓提高至26,000平方米及商業／

零售面積提高至13,000平方米。
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大連項目中山九號已於二零零三年五月起展

開市場推廣活動。於二零零三年十二月三十

一日，本集團已分別訂立協議出售該項目432

個高級公寓單位中之114個。該發展項目位

於中山區核心地帶，為大連之商業中心區。

該兩幢大樓（一幢30層高及另一幢32層高）將

提供大連市及沿海怡人之全景。該項目目前

預計將於二零零四年五月竣工。因該項目地

處黃金地段且建築質量優越，加上建有設備

齊全之會所設施，本集團有信心於二零零四

年售出更多單位。

香港之已建成住宅項目

於本年首九個月，本集團在出售三個香港之

已建成住宅項目（即西營盤之雅賢軒、九龍

城之維景雅軒及元朗之翠韻華庭）時，面對

激烈競爭及充滿挑戰之市況。由於香港面對

失業率高企、經濟疲弱及市況低迷等問題，

加上受非典型肺炎影響，房地產資本值於本

年度之有關月份繼續全面下跌。然而，隨著

二零零三年最後數月交投量及價格回升，市

場情況亦因而有所改善。

年內，本集團訂立協議出售位於荔枝角之工

業／辦公大樓之勵豐中心。此項本集團擁有

40%股權之非核心資產之銷售已於二零零三

年七月完成。

The marketing of the Dalian project, named The Ninth•ZhongShan,

started in May 2003. As at 31 December 2003, the Group had entered

into agreements to sell 114 of the 432 elegant apartments. This

development is superbly located at the core area of ZhongShan District,

which is the central business district of Dalian. The twin-tower, one 30-

storey and the other 32-storey, will offer panoramic views of Dalian and

its coastline. This project is now expected to be completed by May 2004.

Given its prime location, high quality construction and a comprehensive

club facility, the Group is confident of selling more units during 2004.

Completed Residential Projects in Hong Kong

The Group faced intense competition and challenging market conditions

during the first nine months of the year as it sought to sell down its

three completed residential projects in Hong Kong, namely Elite Court

in Sai Ying Pun, Harbourview Garden in Kowloon City and Greenery

Place in Yuen Long. The capital values of real estate across the board

continued to fall during those months of the year, reflecting Hong Kong’s

problems of record high unemployment, weak economy and poor

business sentiments, aggravated by the SARS outbreak. However, market

sentiments improved towards the final months of 2003 when the volume

of transactions and prices recovered.

During the year, the Group entered into an agreement to sell Laford

Centre – an industrial/office building – in Lai Chi Kok. The sale of the

Group’s 40% shareholding in this non-core asset was completed in July

2003.
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資訊科技服務
資訊科技部有兩項主要服務：

(a) 企業網絡解決方案服務

為企業提供企業網絡解決方案服務之主

要公司為南凌科技集團（「南凌科技」）。

該公司所提供之主要服務包括主機託管、

虛擬私人網絡、網路語音電話、視像會

議及專線租用服務。南凌科技總部設於

深圳，並在北京、東莞及哈爾濱設有辦

事處及數據中心，協助企業更迅速有效

地運作網絡相關服務。南凌科技提供之

網絡解決方案，可協助在中國內外多處

地點設有辦事處之公司減少通訊成本。

(b) 教育及培訓服務

提供教育及培訓服務之實體有兩個，有

關服務旨在提升個人及企業之表現，產

品包括電子學習平台、數碼內容、英語

學習、管理及技能課程。

The 8th Network Corporation（「8th

Network」）專長於企業培訓，滿足中國國

有企業及中小型企業之需求。8th Network

與企業客戶緊密合作，釐定其培訓需要，

度身訂造培訓計劃，提供合適資源推行

計劃及高質素導師，並進行培訓後評估

及後續支援。

Infocomm Technology Services
The Infocomm Technology Group has two main activities:

(a) Enterprise Network Solution Services

The main entity which provides enterprise network solution services

to corporations is Nova Network Group (“Nova Network”). Among

its principal services include managed hosting, virtual private

network, VoIP, video conferencing and lease line services.

Headquartered in Shenzhen with offices and data centers in Beijing,

Dongguan and Harbin, Nova Network enables enterprises to run

their network-related services more efficiently and effectively. Its

network solutions help companies with multiple locations in and

out of China to reduce their telecommunication costs.

(b) Education and Training Services

There are two entities which offer education and training services.

These services are intended to enhance the performance for

individuals and corporations. The products include e-learning

platform, digital contents, English learning, management and skill

sets.

The 8th Network Corporation (“8th Network”) specializes in

corporate training to meet the needs of China state-owned

enterprises and the small and medium-sized companies. 8th

Network works closely with corporate customers to define their

training needs, tailor-make a training program, deliver customized

materials, provide qualified trainers and conduct post-training

evaluation and follow-up.
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CC-Edu集團（「CC-Edu」）開發及推廣學前

（幼稚園）至高中生之資訊科技及英語學

習課程及其他電子教育相關產品，並於

深圳經營英語培訓中心。CC-Edu與中國

多個省份有長期合作關係，為學生提供

資訊科技教科書並配備精心設計之電腦

唯讀光碟。此專有關係及光碟與教科書

結合安排，令其在中國分銷數碼內容產

品時獨具優勢。二零零三年初開始，CC-

Edu將其數碼內容業務拓展至英語學習。

至二零零三年十二月為止，CC-Edu於深

圳之英語培訓中心共有超過1,700位學生。

於二零零三年四月及五月，資訊科技部之業

績表現因爆發非典型肺炎而受到嚴重影響。

由於國內禁止小組聚集，培訓服務之需求大

幅下降。同樣，英語培訓中心的招生數量亦

急劇下降。幸而各類活動已於二零零三年六

月開始逐步恢復。

資訊科技業務於年內面對不少難題及挑戰。

為遏止營運虧損，若干業務均已整合及重組，

以削減成本及改善效益。位於上海之一人制

銷售辦事處已關閉，而另一項重大決定為出

售產生虧損之北京金海航電子技術有限責任

公司。本集團現正繼續尋求從速改善業績之

方法。

未來展望
本集團將透過改善營運效率、加強成本管理

及妥善分配資金及資源，以賺取最豐厚利益。

本集團之首要工作是從資產組合中取得更高

回報，特別指該等因不同限制而使表現未如

理想之資產。

展望未來，由於中國經濟前景穩健，加上本

集團完成國內兩項可確認收入之住宅項目，

本集團在撇除不可預見之情況下，對二零零

四年之經營業績改善持樂觀態度。

CC-Edu Group (“CC-Edu”) develops and distributes IT and English

language contents and other electronic education-related products

for pre-school (kindergarten) to high school students. It also

operates an English training center in Shenzhen. CC-Edu has long-

term relationship with several provinces in China to supplement

their IT text books with customized CD ROM for the students. The

exclusive relationship and bundling arrangement are a relatively

unique means to distribute digital contents in China. Since early

2003, CC-Edu expanded its digital content business to include

English learning. By December 2003, CC-Edu had more than 1,700

students registered in the English training center in Shenzhen.

The performance of the Infocomm Technology Group was hard hit by

SARS in April and May 2003. The demand for training services fell

materially because group gatherings were disallowed in China. Likewise,

enrolment at the English training center tumbled. Fortunately, activities

started to be restored gradually in June 2003.

The Infocomm business faced many daunting problems and formidable

challenges during the year. To stem the operating losses, certain activities

were consolidated and restructured to cut cost and improve efficiency.

The one-employee sales office in Shanghai was closed. One major

decision taken was the sale of loss-making Beijing Golden Voyage

Electronic Technology Co., Ltd.. We are continuing to examine ways to

improve performance quickly.

FUTURE PROSPECTS
The Group will pursue profit maximization through improvements in

operational efficiencies, stringent cost management and optimal

allocation of capital and resources. Our priority is to extract higher returns

from our portfolio of assets, especially those which have underperformed

due to various constraints.

Going forward, in view of the healthy economic outlook of China and

the completion of our two residential projects there from which income

can be recognized, we are optimistic that the operating results of 2004

will improve, barring unforeseen circumstances.
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Executive Director
Mr. Ang Ah Lay (“Mr. Ang”), aged 56, was appointed as Chief

Executive Officer of the Company in October 2003. He joined the

Company as Managing Director in December 2002. Prior to joining the

Company, Mr. Ang was the Managing Director and one of the founding

partners of Schroder Property Asia Group, a private equity real estate

fund management company. He was also Non-executive Director and

audit committee member of The Ascott Ltd., a Singapore-listed

Company. Before Schroder Property Asia Group, he was Group

Managing Director of MCL Land Limited and held senior management

or board-level positions with Suntec Investment Pte Ltd., Elders Pacific

Pte Ltd., Pontiac Land Group, Singapore International Bankers Limited

and Esso Singapore. Mr. Ang holds a Bachelor’s degree of Business

Administration (Honours) from University of Singapore and a Master’s

degree in Business Administration from Johnson Graduate School of

Business, Cornell University, USA.

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Han Cheng Fong (“Dr. Han”), aged 62, was appointed as Director

of the Company in February 2001 and then as Chairman of the Board

of Directors and the Executive Committee in October 2003. Dr. Han has

considerable experience in real estate business and international

investment.

He is the Managing Director of Fraser and Neave Limited (“F&N”) and

Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors of Centrepoint Properties

Limited, a subsidiary of F&N. Dr. Han also holds directorship positions in

Asia Pacific Breweries Limited, Fraser and Neave Holdings Berhad, Asia

Pacific Investment Pte Limited, Times Publishing Limited and DB Breweries

Limited.

Until April 2000, Dr. Han held directorships in companies related to

DBS Land Limited, including Deputy Chairman and Group Chief Executive

Officer of DBS Land Limited, Chairman of Raffles Hotel (1886) Limited,

Raffles City Pte Limited and RC Hotels Pte Limited, Deputy Chairman of

執行董事
洪亞歷先生（「洪先生」），現年56歲，於二零

零三年十月獲委任為本公司行政總裁。彼於

二零零二年十二月加入本公司出任董事總經

理。在加入本公司前，洪先生為一家私人投

資房地產基金管理公司Schroder Property Asia

Group之董事總經理及創辦人之一。彼亦曾出

任一家新加坡上市公司The Ascott Ltd.之非執

行董事及審核委員會成員。在創辦Schroder

Property Asia Group以前，彼乃MCL Land Limited

之集團董事總經理，及曾於Suntec Investment

Pte Ltd.、 Elders Pacific Pte Ltd.、 Pontiac Land

Group、 Singapore International Bankers Limited

及Esso Singapore等公司擔任高級管理人員或

董事會職位。洪先生持有新加坡大學之工商

管理（榮譽）學士學位及美國康奈爾大學詹森

管理研究院工商管理碩士學位。

非執行董事
韓禎豐博士（「韓博士」），現年62歲，於二零

零一年二月獲委任為本公司董事，其後於二

零零三年十月獲委任為董事局及執行委員會

主席。韓博士在房地產業務及國際投資方面

擁有豐富經驗。

彼為花莎尼有限公司（「花莎尼」）之董事總經

理，並為先得坊產業有限公司（花莎尼之附

屬公司）董事會副主席。韓博士同時於亞太

釀酒有限公司、 Fraser and Neave Holdings

Berhad、Asia Pacific Investment Pte Limited、時

信出版有限公司及DB Breweries Limited擔任董

事職務。

於二零零零年四月前，韓博士曾於新加坡發

展置地有限公司之多家關連公司擔任多個董

事職務，包括新加坡發展置地有限公司之副

主席兼集團行政總裁， Raffles Hotel（1886）

Limited、Raffles City Pte Limited及RC Hotels Pte
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Raffles Holdings Limited, Chairman of The Ascott Limited and Deputy

Chairman of Parkway Holdings Limited. On the regional corporate scene,

he was Chairman of Australand Holdings Limited in Australia and Deputy

Chairman of United Malayan Land Bhd in Malaysia. He was also the

Deputy Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the Singapore Management

University.

Dr. Han holds a Bachelor of Science (First Class Honours) degree in

Physics from the University of Singapore, a Master of Science and a

Doctor of Philosophy from the University of Birmingham. His honours

and awards include the Singapore State Scholarship (1963-1966), the

Commonwealth Scholarship (1966-1969) and Outstanding Chief

Executive Officer Award (1995) conferred by the Business Times and

DHL.

Ms. Chong Siak Ching (“Ms. Chong”), aged 45, was appointed as

Director of the Company in February 2001 and as Deputy Chairman of

the Company in March of the same year. Ms. Chong is the President,

the Chief Executive Officer and Director of Ascendas Pte Ltd.

(“Ascendas”), one of the shareholders of Vision Century Limited (“VCL”),

the ultimate holding company of the Company. She is also a director of

various subsidiaries including Ascendas-MGM Funds Management

Limited (a fund management company involving properties principally

in Singapore). Ascendas Group is a developer, manager and marketer

of science, business and industrial parks in Singapore, China, India and

the Philippines. Ms. Chong was the Managing Director of Ascendas

Land (Singapore) Pte Ltd., a hi-tech industrial developer in Singapore

from July 1991 to April 1998 and its Chairman from February 2000 to

January 2001 and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of JTC Corporation

from 1998 to 2000. Ms. Chong was the President of the International

Association of Science Parks (“IASP”) Asia Pacific Division from 1994 to

1996, and was a member of the IASP Executive Board from 1994 to

1998. A licensed valuer, Ms. Chong obtained a Bachelor’s degree of

Science in Estate Management (Hons.) and a Master’s degree in Business

Administration from the National University of Singapore and attended

the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business School.

Limited之主席，Raffles Holdings Limited之副主

席，The Ascott Limited之主席及Parkway Holdings

Limited之副主席。於地區業務方面，韓博士

亦曾任澳洲Australand Holdings Limited之主席

及馬來西亞United Malayan Land Bhd之副主席。

彼亦曾為Singapore Management University之受

託委員會副主席。

韓博士持有新加坡大學之物理學理學學士（一

等榮譽）學位、伯明翰大學理學碩士學位及

哲學博士學位。彼所獲取之榮譽及獎項包括

新加坡國家獎學金（一九六三年至一九六六年）、

英聯邦獎學金（一九六六年至一九六九年）及

由Business Times及DHL頒授之Outstanding Chief

Executive Officer Award（一九九五年）。

張雪倩女士（「張女士」），現年45歲，於二零

零一年二月獲委任為本公司董事，並於同年

三月獲委任為本公司副主席。張女士為騰飛

私人有限公司（「騰飛」）之總裁、行政總裁兼

董事。騰飛為Vision Century Limited（「VCL」）（本

公司之最終控股公司）其中一名股東。彼亦

為Ascendas-MGM Funds Management Limited（一

間以新加坡產業為主之新加坡基金管理公司）

屬下多間附屬公司之董事。騰飛集團是新加

坡、中國、印度及菲律賓之科學園、商業園

及工業園的開發、管理和營銷商。張女士於

一九九一年七月至一九九八年四月擔任騰飛

置地（新加坡）私人有限公司（一新加坡高科

技產業開發商）之董事總經理，並於二零零

零年二月至二零零一年一月出任主席一職。

彼於一九九八年至二零零零年曾擔任裕廊集

團之副行政總裁。張女士於一九九四年至一

九九六年出任國際科學園協會（「IASP」）亞太

區總裁，並於一九九四年至一九九八年出任

IASP執行董事局成員。張女士乃持牌評估師，

彼於新加坡國立大學獲取產業管理學（榮譽）

理學學士學位及工商管理碩士學位，亦曾於

哈佛商學院修讀高級管理課程。
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Mr. Lai Seck Khui (“Mr. Lai”), aged 51, was appointed as Director of

the Company in February 2001 and as Deputy Chairman of the Company

in March of the same year. Mr. Lai is the President and Chief Executive

Officer of Times Publishing Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of F&N.

Fraser and Neave Investments (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned

subsidiary of F&N, is a shareholder of VCL. Mr. Lai was previously the

Chief Operating Officer, Dairies Division and Chief Operating Officer,

New Ventures Division of the F&N Group. Mr. Lai graduated from the

University of Birmingham with a Bachelor degree in electronic

engineering. Mr. Lai also holds Master’s degrees in Industrial Engineering

and Public and Business Administration. Mr. Lai is a UK Chartered

Engineer and registered Professional Engineer in Singapore. He has held

directorships in statutory boards and public companies.

Mr. Lew Syn Pau (“Mr. Lew”), aged 49, was appointed as Director of

the Company in March 2002. He is the Chairman of Ascendas, the

Chairman of Ascendas-MGM Funds Management Limited and the

Managing Director of Stanbridge International Pte Ltd. (“Stanbridge”).

Stanbridge is an executive search firm focusing on the recruitment of

senior management positions. He started his career in the Administrative

Service from where he was seconded to the National Trades Union

Congress (“NTUC”) in Singapore. He was the Executive Secretary of the

Metal Industries Workers’ Union from 1981 to 1982 and 1984 to 1989.

From 1987 to 1993, he was the General Manager and subsequently

Managing Director of NTUC Comfort, the largest transport co-operative

in Singapore. During this period, he was concurrently the General

Manager of NTUC Pasir Ris Resort (1989-1991), the Managing Director

of General Automotive Services Pte Ltd. (1990-1993), and the Assistant

Secretary-General of NTUC from 1990 to 1994. Mr. Lew left the NTUC

Group in 1994 to join Banque Indosuez (subsequently renamed as Credit

Agricole Indosuez) as General Manager and Senior Country Officer from

1994 to 1997.

黎錫駒先生（「黎先生」），現年51歲，於二零

零一年二月獲委任為本公司董事並於同年三

月獲委任為本公司副主席。黎先生為時信出

版有限公司花莎尼之全資附屬公司）之總裁

兼行政總裁。Fraser and Neave Investments (Hong

Kong) Limited（花莎尼之全資附屬公司）亦是

VCL股東。黎先生曾任花莎尼集團奶品部首

席營運總監及新創項目首席營運總監。黎先

生畢業於伯明翰大學，取得電子工程學士學

位。黎先生亦持有工業工程及公共行政與工

商管理碩士學位。黎先生為英國特許工程師

及新加坡註冊專業工程師，擔任多個政府法

定委員會及公眾公司之董事職務。

劉信保先生（「劉先生」），現年49歲，於二零

零二年三月獲委任為本公司董事。彼為騰飛

及Ascendas-MGM Funds Management Limited主

席及 S tanbr idge  In te rna t iona l  P te  L td .

（「Stanbridge」）董事總經理。Stanbridge 乃一

間主要招聘高級管理職位之行政人員獵頭公

司。彼於Administrative Service開展其事業，後

調派至新加坡National Trades Union Congress

（「NTUC」）任職。彼於一九八一年至一九八

二年及一九八四年至一九八九年擔任Metal

Industries Workers' Union執行秘書長。一九八

七年至一九九三年，彼為新加坡最大型運輸

合作企業NTUC Comfort之總經理，及後擢升

為董事總經理。期間，彼同時出任NTUC Pasir

Ris Resort之總經理（一九八九年至一九九一年），

General Automotive Services Pte Ltd. 之董事總

經理（一九九零年至一九九三年）及於一九九

零年至一九九四年出任NTUC之副秘書長。劉

先生於一九九四年離開NTUC集團後，加入法

國東方銀行（後易名為法商東方匯理銀行），

並於一九九四年至一九九七年間出任總經理

及高級國家主管。
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Mr. Lew was a Singapore Government Scholar with a Master in

Engineering degree from Cambridge University, UK and a Master in

Business Administration degree from Stanford University, USA. He was

a Member of Parliament from 1988 to 2001. He had previously chaired

the Government Parliamentary Committees for Education, Finance, Trade

& Industry and National Development. He was a Board member of Jurong

Town Corporation from 1996 to 1999. Mr. Lew was elected as President

of the Singapore Manufacturer’s Federation from 2002 to 2004.

Mr. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick (“Mr. Goh”), aged 59, was appointed

as Alternate Director to Dr. Han Cheng Fong in October 2001. He is an

accountant by training and is a member of the Institute of Certified

Public Accountants of Singapore. He is a Fellow member of the

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK and an Associate

member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, UK.

He joined the F&N Group in January 1969 and has served under various

capacities in the Corporate Finance Office. He is currently the Group

Financial Controller and heads the Corporate Finance Office of the F&N

Group. The scope of his responsibilities includes group treasury, group

taxation, group accounting, corporate restructuring, and merger and

acquisition.

Mr. Tan Ser Ping (“Mr. Tan”), aged 45, was appointed as Alternate

Director to Ms. Chong Siak Ching in November 2001. He is currently

the Executive Vice President, Real Estate Development and Investments

of Ascendas. Before joining Ascendas, Mr. Tan worked in China for

more than 6 years in the Chinese real estate industry. Prior to working

in China, he worked in the banking industry in Singapore for more than

10 years. He has a Bachelor of Accountancy (Hons) degree from the

National University of Singapore and an MBA degree from the University

of Leicester, UK.

劉先生曾是新加坡政府學者，並持有英國劍

橋大學工程學碩士學位及美國史丹福大學工

商管理碩士學位。彼於一九八八年至二零零

一年曾為國會議員。彼曾任政府國會之教育、

財經、貿易及工業和國家發展委員會之主席。

彼亦曾於一九九六年至一九九九年擔任裕廊

鎮管理局董事會成員。劉先生並獲選為二零

零二年至二零零四年新加坡工業家聯會主席。

吳榮鈿先生（「吳先生」），現年59歲，於二零

零一年十月獲委任為韓禎豐博士之替任董事。

彼為職業會計師，並為新加坡會計師協會之

會員。彼為英國特許公認會計師公會資深會

員及英國特許管理會計師公會之會員。彼於

一九六九年一月加入花莎尼集團，並曾於企

業融資部擔任多個職位。彼現為花莎尼集團

之集團財務總監及企業融資部主管。彼之職

責範圍包括集團庫務、集團稅務、集團會計、

企業重組及合併與收購。

陳思伻先生（「陳先生」），現年45歲，於二零

零一年十一月獲委任為張雪倩女士之替任董

事。彼現為騰飛的執行副總裁，主管物業開

發與投資部。在加入騰飛前，陳先生曾在中

國的地產業服務了超過6年，在此之前彼在

新加坡銀行界任職超過10年。陳先生擁有新

加坡國立大學會計系（榮譽）學士學位及英國

理思特大學工商管理系碩士學位。
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Mr. Hui Choon Kit (“Mr. Hui”), aged 39, was appointed as Alternate

Director to Mr. Lai Seck Khui in August 2001. He is currently General

Manager, Special Projects and Corporate Communications for F&N. Prior

to joining F&N, Mr. Hui worked as a corporate finance banker based in

Singapore and Thailand, covering the Asia-Pacific region. Mr. Hui

commenced his career as an accountant and financial consultant with

Ernst & Young. Mr. Hui holds a Bachelor of Business degree from Curtin

University, Australia and a Master of Business Administration degree

from Nanyang Technological University, and is a member of the Institute

of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.

Mr. Goh Toh Sim (“Mr. Goh”), aged 47, was appointed as Alternate

Director to Mr. Lew Syn Pau in January 2004. Mr. Goh was appointed

as the Chief Executive Officer of Ascendas China with effect from 1

January 2004. He is also the Chief Executive Officer of Singapore-Suzhou

Township Development Pte Ltd.. Mr. Goh was formerly the Executive

Vice President of China-Singapore Suzhou Industrial Park Development

Co Ltd. (“CSSD”), where his responsibilities included infrastructure

development, finance and administration. Mr. Goh joined CSSD in 1994.

Prior to this, he was a civil servant in Singapore. Mr. Goh was awarded

Honorary Citizenship by Suzhou Municipal Government in 2002, the

Friends of Jiangsu Award by the Jiangsu Provincial Government in the

same year, and the Labour Model Award by Jiangsu Province on 1 May

2003. Mr. Goh graduated as a Diplome d’ Ingenieur (Engineering) from

Ecole Nationale Superieure des Telecommunications de Paris in 1981.

He also holds a MBA degree from INSEAD, France.

許遵傑先生（「許先生」），現年39歲，於二零

零一年八月獲委任為黎錫駒先生之替任董事。

彼現時為花莎尼特別項目及企業傳訊部總經

理。在加入花莎尼前，許先生為駐新加坡及

泰國之亞太區企業財務銀行家。許先生初期

於安永會計師事務所任職會計師兼財務顧問。

許先生持有澳洲Curtin University之商業學士學

位及南洋理工大學之工商管理碩士學位，並

為新加坡會計師協會之會員。

吳多深先生（「吳先生」），現年47歲，於二零

零四年一月獲委任為劉信保先生之替任董事。

吳先生將從二零零四年一月一日起擔任騰飛

中國的行政總裁。彼亦是蘇州工業園區新方

財團之行政總裁，吳先生曾擔任中新蘇州工

業園區開發有限公司（「CSSD」）之執行副總裁，

主要負責基建開發、財務與行政管理。吳先

生於一九九四年加入CSSD，在此之前彼曾在

新加坡政府部門工作。二零零二年，蘇州市

政府及江蘇省政府分別向彼授出「榮譽市民」

及「江蘇友誼獎」，彼並於二零零三年五月一

日獲江蘇省授予「勞動模範」稱號。吳先生在

一九八一年畢業於Ecole Nationale Superieure des

Telecommunications de Paris並取得工程學文憑。

彼並擁有法國 INSEAD之工商管理碩士學位。
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Alan Howard Smith (“Mr. Smith”), J.P., aged 60, was appointed

as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in March

2001. Mr. Smith retired as the Vice Chairman, Pacific Region, of Credit

Suisse First Boston (“CSFB”), a leading global investment bank, in

December 2001. Prior to joining CSFB, he was the Chief Executive of

the Jardine Fleming Group from 1983 to 1994 and was Chairman of

the Jardine Fleming Group from 1994 to 1996. Mr. Smith has over

twenty-five years’ investment banking experience in Asia. He was elected

a council member of the Stock Exchange on two occasions. He was a

member of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government’s

Economic Advisory Committee from 1994 to the end of 2001, and was

a member of the Hong Kong Government’s Standing Committee on

Company Law Reform for 10 years. He graduated with a LLB (Hons)

degree from Bristol University in 1964, and was admitted as a solicitor

in England in 1967, and in Hong Kong in 1970.

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon (“Mr. Kwong”), aged 54, was

appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company

in May 2001 and the Chairman of the Audit Committee in August 2001.

Mr. Kwong graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1972,

qualifying as a chartered accountant in England in 1977.  He was a

partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers from 1984 to 1998.  He currently is

a Non-executive Director of COSCO Pacific Limited and COSCO

International Holdings Limited. He also serves as Independent Non-

executive Director of a number of Hong Kong listed companies. In the

public sector services, he was a part-time panel member of the Hong

Kong Government’s Central Policy Unit from 1993 to 1995 and was an

independent member of the Council of the Stock Exchange from 1992

to 1997.

Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela (“Ms. Wang”), aged 46, was appointed

as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in May 2001.

Ms. Wang holds a LLB (Hons) degree, and is an Advocate & Solicitor

(Singapore) and a Solicitor (Hong Kong and the UK). She has practised

with major law firms in Singapore, Australia and Hong Kong and is

currently the senior partner of a firm of solicitors in Hong Kong. She

also acts for and holds various positions with listed companies in Hong

Kong and elsewhere.

獨立非執行董事
Alan Howard Smith先生（「Smith先生」），太平

紳士，現年60歲，於二零零一年三月獲委任

為本公司獨立非執行董事，Smith先生曾為一

家全球首屈一指之投資銀行Credit Suisse First

Boston（「CSFB」）亞太區之副主席，彼於二零

零一年十二月退休。在加入CSFB前，彼於一

九八三年至一九九四年間出任 Jardine Fleming

Group之行政總裁，並於一九九四年至一九九

六年間出任Jardine Fleming Group之主席。Smith

先生擁有逾25年亞洲投資銀行之經驗。彼曾

兩度獲選為聯交所之理事會會員。彼於一九

九四年至二零零一年年底期間曾為香港特別

行政區政府之經濟顧問委員會成員，並為香

港政府之公司法改革常務委員會成員長達10

年。彼於一九六四年畢業於Bristol University，

持有法律（榮譽）學士學位，並於一九六七年

及一九七零年分別在英國及香港成為認許律

師。

鄺志強先生（「鄺先生」），現年54歲，於二零

零一年五月獲委任為本公司獨立非執行董事

及於二零零一年八月出任審核委員會主席。

鄺先生於一九七二年畢業於香港大學。一九

七七年在英國獲取特許會計師資格。一九八

四年至一九九八年期間為羅兵咸永道會計師

事務所合夥人。彼現任中遠太平洋有限公司

及中遠國際控投有限公司之非執行董事。彼

同時亦擔任多家香港上市公司之獨立非執行

董事。在公職方面，鄺先生於一九九三年至

一九九五年擔任港府中央政策小組顧問，於

一九九二年至一九九七出任聯交所獨立理事。

王培芬女士（「王女士」），現年46歲，於二零

零一年五月獲委任為本公司之獨立非執行董

事。王女士持有法律（榮譽）學士學位，並為

新加坡之訟務律師以及香港及英國之事務律

師。彼曾在新加坡、澳洲及香港之主要律師

事務所執業，彼現為香港一間律師事務所之

高級合伙人。彼亦同時為在香港及其他地方

之上市公司服務及出任不同職位。
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Senior Management
Mr. Chan Tin Wai, David (“Mr. Chan”), aged 39, Chief Financial Officer

and Company Secretary, joined the Company in July 2001. Prior to joining

the Company, he had worked in several blue chip companies in Hong

Kong and has over 16 years’ experience in overseeing corporate finance,

merger and acquisition activities, accounting, administration and human

resource issues, and legal matters. Mr. Chan has a LLB (Hons) degree,

and a Master’s degree in Law from the University of London in UK and

a Master’s degree of Accounting from Curtin University in Australia. He

is also a Fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants, the Hong Kong Society of Accountants and the Taxation

Institute of Hong Kong, and an Associate member of the Institute of

Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute

of Company Secretaries.

Dr. Siu Miu Man, Simon (“Dr. Siu”), aged 46, General Manager –

Residential and Commercial Group, joined the Company in May 2000.

Prior to joining the Company, he was a director of a Hong Kong publicly

listed property company. He is an Authorised Person under the Hong

Kong Building Ordinance and a corporate member of the Royal Institution

of Chartered Surveyors, the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, the Hong

Kong Institute of Surveyors and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

He is a Registered Professional Engineer (RPE) and a Registered

Professional Surveyors (RPS) under relevant local Registration Ordinances.

He has over 20 years’ experience in property investment and

development. He has a Master’s degree in E-commerce from Hong Kong

Polytechnic University and a Master’s degree in Business Administration

from Brighton University in Hawaii. He was also granted an Honourable

Doctoral degree in Laws from the University of Santa Barbara, California.

高級管理人員
陳天衛先生（「陳先生」），現年39歲，任職本

公司財務總裁及公司秘書，於二零零一年七

月加入本公司。在加入本公司前，彼於香港

多家藍籌公司工作，並於企業融資、合併及

收購業務、會計、行政及人力資源以及法律

事務上具有逾16年經驗。陳先生持有英國倫

敦大學法律（榮譽）學士學位及法律碩士學位，

並持有澳洲Curtin University之會計碩士學位。

陳先生為英國特許公認會計師公會、香港會

計師公會及香港稅務學會之資深會員，亦為

英國特許秘書及行政人員公會及香港公司秘

書公會之會員。

蕭妙文博士（「蕭博士」），現年46歲，任職本

公司地產發展部總經理，於二零零零年五月

加入本公司。在加入本公司前，彼乃一間香

港上市地產公司之董事。彼根據香港建築物

條例獲香港政府授予認可人士資格，彼並為

英國皇家特許測量師學會、英國特許仲裁師

學會、香港測量師學會及香港工程師學會會

員。根據香港政府之相關註冊條例，彼乃註

冊專業工程師及註冊專業測量師。蕭博士於

物業投資及發展方面有逾20年之經驗。彼持

有香港理工大學之電子商貿碩士學位及夏威

夷Brighton University之工商管理碩士學位，並

獲加利福尼亞州University of Santa Barbara頒授

榮譽法學博士學位。
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Dr. Woo Kwok Fai, Louis (“Dr. Woo”), aged 56, General Manager –

Infocomm Technology Group, joined the Company in May 2002. Prior

to his appointment, Dr. Woo was the Chief Executive Officer of CyberCity

Holdings Limited (“CCH”). Before joining CCH, he was the President

and General Manager of Asia Pacific at Lernout & Hauspie (“L&H”)

responsible for overall business operations in Australia, Hong Kong, India,

Japan, China, Malaysia, New Zealand, Singapore and Taiwan. Prior to

joining L&H in November 1998, he was the Managing Director of

AsiaWorks Pte Ltd., which was co-founded by him in 1997. He had also

worked at Apple Computers for 12 years in business development,

regional marketing and R&D. Dr. Woo holds B.Sc., M.Sc. and Ph.D

degrees from Stanford University. He had taught at State University of

New York at Albany, University of Chicago and Stanford University. He

had also acted as the consultant to USAID, UNESCO, the World Bank

and various state government agencies in the USA.

Mr. Chen Hongfei, (“Mr. Chen”), aged 41, is the Deputy General

Manager of the Legal and Corporate Affairs Department of the

Company. He also holds the position as a director and General Manager

of Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Co., Ltd., the Company’s subsidiary.

Before joining the Company, Mr. Chen was employed by an international

investment consortium based in Hong Kong as the Chief Investment

Officer and Legal Counsel. Mr. Chen had also worked as a senior counsel

for international law firms in Australia as well as Hong Kong. Mr. Chen

has nearly 20 years’ experience in international investments, mergers

and acquisitions, and commercial law related matters. Mr. Chen was

granted a Bachelor in Laws by Zhongshan University in Guangzhou,

China and a Master in Laws by Melbourne University in Australia. Mr.

Chen has been qualified to practise as a lawyer in both China and

Australia.

胡國輝博士（「胡博士」），現年56歲，資訊科

技部總經理，彼於二零零二年五月加入本公

司。獲委任前，胡博士曾擔任賽博控股有限

公司（「賽博控股」）行政總裁。加盟賽博控股

前，彼乃Lernout & Hauspie（「L&H」）之亞太區

總裁及總經理，主管香港、印度、日本、中

國、馬來西亞、紐西蘭、新加坡及台灣之整

體業務運作。胡博士於一九九八年十一月加

入 L&H前，曾出任彼於一九九七年與他人共

同創辦之AsiaWorks Pte Ltd.之董事總經理。彼

曾於蘋果電腦任職達12年，負責業務發展、

地區市場推廣及研發。胡博士持有史丹福大

學之理學學士、理學碩士及哲學博士學位。

彼曾於紐約州立大學奧巴尼分校、芝加哥大

學及史丹福大學任教，並曾於美國國際開發

署、聯合國教科文組織、世界銀行及美國不

同之州政府機關出任顧問。

陳鴻飛先生（「陳先生」），現年41歲，現任本

公司法律及公司事務部副總經理，同時還擔

任本公司附屬公司深圳威新軟件科技園有限

公司董事兼總經理之職務。在加入本公司前，

陳先生是香港某國際財團之投資總監兼法律

顧問，彼亦曾在澳洲和香港之國際律師事務

所任職高級律師。陳先生於國際投資、企業

收購及合併以及與商業法例方面具有接近20

年的工作經驗。彼持有中國廣州中山大學之

法律學士學位及澳洲墨爾本大學之法律碩士

學位。陳先生早年已取得了在中國及澳洲的

執業律師資格。
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements

of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2003.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the Company continues to be investment holding

while the principal activities of its subsidiaries are property investment,

property development and management, development and

management of business parks, investment in info-communication and

education projects, as well as provision of technology services.

The Group’s associated companies are principally engaged in property

investment and investment in information-technology projects.

The Group’s jointly controlled entity is principally engaged in the business

of power generation.

董事局謹提呈本公司截至二零零三年十二月

三十一日止年度之年報及經審核財務報告。

主要業務
本公司繼續以投資控股為主要業務，而其附

屬公司之主要業務則為物業投資、物業發展

及管理，商業園之開發及管理、資訊傳訊及

教育項目投資，以及提供科技服務。

本集團之聯營公司主要從事物業投資及投資

於資訊科技項目。

本集團之共同控制企業主要從事發電業務。
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Segmental Information
The Group’s turnover and contribution to operating loss for the year by

business segments and geographical segments are as follows:

By business segments:

Business Infocomm Other
Property park technology operations Corporate Group
物業 商業園 資訊科技 其他業務 企業服務 本集團

(In HK$’000) 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003

Turnover 162,392 11,621 10,976 – – 184,989

Operating loss 38,653 14,268 26,417 369 46,761 126,468

By geographical segments:

Operating
Turnover loss
營業額 經營虧損

(In HK$’000) 2003 2003

Hong Kong 83,262 44,111

China 101,727 82,357

184,989 126,468

Subsidiaries, Associated Companies and a Jointly
Controlled Entity
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries, associated companies and a jointly

controlled entity as at 31 December 2003 are set out in notes 14, 15

and 16 to the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2003 are set

out in the consolidated income statement on page 71 of the annual

report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year. The directors have resolved

not to propose any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2003.

分部資料
年內，本集團按業務分部及地區分部劃分之

營業額及經營虧損如下：

按業務分部劃分：

（以港幣千元為單位）

營業額

經營虧損

按地區分部劃分：

（以港幣千元為單位）

香港

中國

附屬公司、聯營公司及共同控
制企業
本公司於二零零三年十二月三十一日之附屬

公司、聯營公司及共同控制企業之詳情載於

財務報告附註14、15及16。

業績及分配
本集團截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年

度之業績載於年報第71頁之綜合收益表。

年內，並無派付中期股息。董事局決議不就

截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度派發

任何末期股息。
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Financial Summary
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the

past five financial years is set out on page 20 of the annual report.

Fixed Assets
Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during the year are

set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

Major Interests in Properties
Particulars of major interests in properties held by the Group as at 31

December 2003 are set out on pages 143 to 146 of the annual report.

Borrowings and Interest Capitalised
The Group’s bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2003 and

the amount of interest capitalised by the Group during the year are set

out in notes 22 and 5 to the financial statements respectively.

Share Capital
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year

are set out in note 23 to the financial statements.

Reserves
Details of movements in reserves during the year are set out in note 25

to the financial statements.

Warrants, Options or Similar Rights
Other than the employee share option scheme of the Company as

explained in note 24 to the financial statements, the Company had no

outstanding warrants, options or similar rights as at 31 December 2003.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
of the Company
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during the

year.

財務摘要
本集團於過去五個財政年度之業績及資產與

負債概要載於年報第20頁。

固定資產
本集團固定資產於年內之變動詳情載於財務

報告附註12。

主要物業權益
本集團於二零零三年十二月三十一日持有之

主要物業權益詳情載於年報第143頁至第146

頁。

貸款及撥充資本之利息
本集團於二零零三年十二月三十一日之銀行

及其他貸款及年內本集團將利息撥充資本之

數額分別載於財務報告附註22及5。

股本
本公司股本於年內之變動詳情載於財務報告

附註23。

儲備
儲備於年內之變動詳情載於財務報告附註25。

認股權證、認股權或類似權利
除已於財務報告附註24說明之本公司僱員認

股權計劃外，本公司於二零零三年十二月三

十一日概無任何尚未行使之認股權證、認股

權或類似權利。

購買、出售或贖回本公司之上
市證券
於年內，本公司或其任何附屬公司概無於香

港聯合交易所有限公司（「聯交所」）購買、出

售或贖回本公司之上市證券。
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Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ang Ah Lay (Appointed as Chief Executive Officer

on 16 October 2003)

Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon (Resigned as Chairman and Executive Director

on 16 October 2003)

Mr. Chan Wing Ming, Charles (Resigned as Deputy Managing Director

on 16 October 2003)

Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Han Cheng Fong (Appointed as Chairman on 16 October 2003)

Ms. Chong Siak Ching (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Lai Seck Khui (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Lew Syn Pau

Mr. Kuan Michael Chao (Resigned on 16 October 2003)

Mr. Zheng Hongqing (Resigned on 3 March 2003)

Mr. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick (Alternate to Dr. Han Cheng Fong)

Mr. Tan Ser Ping (Alternate to Ms. Chong Siak Ching)

Mr. Hui Choon Kit (Alternate to Mr. Lai Seck Khui)

Mr. Goh Toh Sim (Appointed as Alternate Director to Mr. Lew Syn Pau

on 27 January 2004)

Mr. Goh Tien Jin (Resigned as Alternate Director to Mr. Lew Syn Pau

on 27 January 2004)

Mr. Ng Chi Man, Michael (Resigned as Alternate Director to

Mr. Zheng Hongqing on 3 March 2003)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P. (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon

Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela

董事
年內及截至本年報日期止本公司之董事如下：

執行董事：

洪亞歷先生 （於二零零三年十月十六日獲委任為

行政總裁）

蔣小明博士 （於二零零三年十月十六日辭任主席

兼執行董事）

陳永明先生 （於二零零三年十月十六日辭任副董

事總經理）

非執行董事：

韓禎豐博士 （於二零零三年十月十六日獲委任為

主席）

張雪倩女士 （副主席）

黎錫駒先生 （副主席）

劉信保先生

關新先生 （於二零零三年十月十六日辭任）

鄭洪慶先生 （於二零零三年三月三日辭任）

吳榮鈿先生 （韓禎豐博士之替任董事）

陳思伻先生 （張雪倩女士之替任董事）

許遵傑先生 （黎錫駒先生之替任董事）

吳多深先生 （於二零零四年一月二十七日獲委任

為劉信保先生之替任董事）

吳天仁先生 （於二零零四年一月二十七日辭任劉

信保先生之替任董事）

吳志文先生 （於二零零三年三月三日辭任鄭洪慶

先生之替任董事）

獨立非執行董事：

Alan Howard Smith先生，太平紳士 （副主席）

鄺志強先生

王培芬女士
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Directors (continued)
In accordance with bye-law 109(A) of the bye-laws of the Company,

Ms. Chong Siak Ching, Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela and Mr. Kwong

Che Keung, Gordon will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting

of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company are not

appointed for specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation

and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in

accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.

Share Option Scheme
On 20 May 2003, the share option scheme adopted by the Company

on 10 January 2000 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) was terminated

and a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was

adopted by the Company to comply with the new amendments to the

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the

“Listing Rules”) in respect of share option schemes of a listed company.

As a result, the Company would no longer grant any further options

under the Old Share Option Scheme. No share option was granted under

the Old Share Option Scheme since the date of its adoption. As at 31

December 2003, there were 20,065,000 share options outstanding

under the New Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain

the best quality personnel for the development of the Company’s

businesses, to provide additional incentives to employees, consultants,

agents, representatives, advisers, suppliers of goods or services,

customers, contractors, business allies and joint venture partners, and

to promote the long term financial success of the Company by aligning

the interests of option holders to shareholders.

董事（續）
張雪倩女士、王培芬女士及鄺志強先生將依

照本公司之公司細則第109(A)條於即將召開

之本公司股東週年大會輪值告退，惟符合資

格並願膺選連任。

本公司之獨立非執行董事並無特定任期，惟

須依照本公司之公司細則於本公司之股東週

年大會上輪值告退並膺選連任。

認股權計劃
於二零零三年五月二十日，本公司終止其於

二零零零年一月十日採納之認股權計劃（「舊

認股權計劃」），並採納新認股權計劃（「新認

股權計劃」）以符合聯交所證券上市規則（「上

市規則」）有關上市公司認股權計劃之新修訂

規定。據此，本公司不會再根據舊認股權計

劃進一步授出任何認股權。自舊認股權計劃

採納日期以來，本公司並無根據舊認股權計

劃授出任何認股權。於二零零三年十二月三

十一日，新認股權計劃項下尚未行使之認股

權共20,065,000份。

新認股權計劃旨在吸引及挽留優秀人才，協

力發展本公司業務；向僱員、專家顧問、代

理、代表、專業顧問、貨品及服務供應商、

客戶、承辦商、業務夥伴及合營夥伴提供額

外獎勵，以及透過令認股權持有人之利益與

股東利益一致，促進本公司長遠達致財政上

之成功。
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Share Option Scheme (continued)
Eligible participants of the New Share Option Scheme include (i) any

employee or any proposed employee (including an officer or director

(whether executive or non-executive) or alternate director of the

Company or any affiliate) or any legal or financial consultant, agent,

representative or legal or financial adviser of the Company or any affiliate;

or (ii) any person who provides goods or services to the Company or

any affiliate; or (iii) any customer or contractor of the Company or any

affiliate; or (iv) any business ally or joint venture partner of the Company

or any affiliate.

The New Share Option Scheme became effective on 20 May 2003 and,

unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years

from that date onwards.

Pursuant to the New Share Option Scheme, the maximum number of

shares in respect of which options may be granted is such number of

shares, when aggregated with shares subject to any other share option

scheme(s) of the Company, must not exceed 10% of the issued share

capital of the Company as at the date of adoption of the New Share

Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise

of the options granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any

other share option scheme(s) of the Company (whether exercised or

outstanding options) to each eligible participant in any 12-month period

must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the

date of grant. Any further grant of share options to any eligible

participant who in aggregate has over 1% of the shares of the Company

in issue shall be subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and

the shareholders’ approval of the Company at a general meeting with

the relevant eligible participant and his/her associates abstaining from

voting.

認股權計劃（續）
新認股權計劃之合資格參與人包括 (i)本公司

或任何聯屬公司之任何僱員或任何準僱員（包

括本公司或任何聯屬公司之職員或董事（不

論執行董事或非執行董事）或替任董事）或本

公司或任何聯屬公司之任何法律或財務專家

顧問、代理、代表或法律或財務專業顧問；

或 (ii)向本公司或任何聯屬公司提供貨品或服

務之任何人士；或 (iii)本公司或任何聯屬公司

之任何客戶或承包商；或 (iv)本公司或任何聯

屬公司之任何業務夥伴或合營夥伴。

新認股權計劃於二零零三年五月二十日生效，

除非另行撤銷或修訂，否則將於該日起計十

年內一直生效。

根據新認股權計劃，可予授出認股權項下之

股份數目上限加上本公司任何其他認股權計

劃項下之股份數目總和，不得超過於採納新

認股權計劃當日本公司已發行股本之10%。

而向每名合資格參與者於任何12個月期間根

據新認股權計劃及本公司任何其他認股權計

劃授出可行使認股權（無論已行使或未行使

之認股權）而發行股份之最高數目，不得超

過本公司於授出日期已發行股份之1%。如欲

進一步授出認股權予任何合資格參與者而總

數超過本公司已發行股份1%限額，則須待本

公司刊發通函並尋求本公司股東在股東大會

上批准，而有關合資格參與者及其聯繫人須

放棄投票，方可作實。
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Share Option Scheme (continued)
Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial

shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective associates,

are subject to the approval in advance by the independent non-executive

directors of the Company, excluding the independent non-executive

director(s) of the Company who is/are the grantee(s) of the options. In

addition, any share option granted to a substantial shareholder or an

independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their

respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company

in issue as at the date of grant or with an aggregate value (based on the

closing price of the Company’s shares as at the date of grant) in excess

of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to the issue

of a circular by the Company and the approval of the shareholders of

the Company in advance at a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days

from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of

HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options

granted is determinable by the Board, and commences on a specified

date and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date

of grant of the share options.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the Board,

but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the

Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock

Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the

average closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately

preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Company’s

share.

認股權計劃（續）
向本公司董事、最高行政人員或主要股東或

彼等各自之任何聯繫人授出認股權，須獲本

公司獨立非執行董事（惟本身亦為認股權承

授人之本公司獨立非執行董事除外）事先批

准後方可作實。此外，向本公司主要股東或

獨立非執行董事或彼等各自之任何聯繫人所

授出之任何認股權如於任何十二個月期間內

超過本公司於授出日期已發行股份0.1%或總

值超過港幣5,000,000元（根據本公司股份於

授出日期之收市價計算），須待本公司刊發

通函並尋求本公司股東在股東大會上批准後，

方可作實。

授出認股權之建議可於建議日期起計28日內

由承授人支付象徵式總代價港幣1元後接納。

授出之認股權之行使期由董事局決定，由指

定之日期開始至終止該日不得超過授出認股

權日期起計十年。

認股權之行使價由董事局釐定，惟該價格不

得低於下列各項中之最高者： (i)本公司股份

於授出日期（必須為交易日）在聯交所發出之

日報表所列之收市價； (ii)本公司股份於緊接

授出日期前五個交易日於聯交所發出之日報

表所列之平均收市價；及 (iii)本公司股份之面

值。
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Share Option Scheme (continued)
Details of the movements of the share options under the New Share

Option Scheme during the year were as follows:

Number of share options
認股權數目

As at Lapsed/ Exercise
20/5/2003 Granted Exercised Cancelled Outstanding Date of Exercise period price

Name or category (Date of during during during as at grant of of share per share
of participant adoption) the period the period the period 31/12/2003 share options options (Note 1) option ##

HK$

於二零零三年
於二零零三年 十二月 每份
五月二十日 於期內 三十一日 認股權 認股權 認股權之

參與者之姓名或類別 （採納日期） 於期內授出 於期內行使 失效／註銷 尚未行使 授出日期 行使期（附註1） 行使價
港元

Directors
董事
Dr. Han Cheng Fong # – 1,500,000 – – 1,500,000 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706
韓禎豐博士 #

Ms. Chong Siak Ching # – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706
張雪倩女士 #

Mr. Lai Seck Khui # – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706
黎錫駒先生 #

Mr. Alan Howard Smith J.P. ** – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706
Alan Howard Smith先生，太平紳士**
Mr. Ang Ah Lay – 2,500,000 – – 2,500,000 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706
洪亞歷先生
Mr. Lew Syn Pau # – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706
劉信保先生 #

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon ** – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706
鄺志強先生**
Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela ** – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706
王培芬女士**

– 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000

Other employees

其他僱員

In aggregate – 10,065,000 – – 10,065,000 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706

合共

– 20,065,000 – – 20,065,000

認股權計劃（續）
新認股權計劃下之認股權於年內之變動詳情

如下：

# 非執行董事

** 獨立非執行董事
## 本公司緊隨授出認股權日期前當日（二零

零三年十二月三十日）之股份收市價為港

幣0.1720元（附註2）

# Non-executive Director

** Independent Non-executive Director
## The Company’s closing share price on the day (30/12/2003) immediately before

the grant date of share options was HK$0.1720 (Note 2)
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Share Option Scheme (continued)
Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is in the following manner:

Percentage of shares over

Vesting Schedule which an option is exercisable

(%)

Before the first anniversary of Nil

the date of grant

On or after the first but before the second 25

anniversary of the date of grant

On or after the second but before the third 25

anniversary of the date of grant

On or after the third but before the fourth 25

anniversary of the date of grant

On or after the fourth anniversary of 25

the date of grant

In relation to the share option, if the eligible participant, during any of the

periods specified above, exercises that share options for such number of shares

which, in aggregate, represents less than the number of shares for which the

eligible participant may exercise in respect of such period, the balance of the

shares comprised in that option for which the eligible participant could have

exercised (but did not exercise) in that period shall be carried forward and

added to the number of shares which the eligible participant may exercise in

the next succeeding period or periods.

2. The price of the Company’s shares as at the date of grant of the share options

is the closing price of the Company’s shares as listed on the Stock Exchange on

the trading day immediately prior to the date of grant of the share options.

The financial impact of the share options granted is not recorded in the

Company’s or the Group’s balance sheet until such time as the options

are exercised, and no charge is recorded in the profit and loss account

or balance sheet for their cost. Upon exercise of the share options, the

resulting shares issued are recorded by the Company as additional share

capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise

price per share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the

Company in the share premium account. Options which are lapsed or

cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the register of

outstanding options.

認股權計劃（續）
附註：

1. 認股權之歸屬期如下：

股份佔可行使

歸屬時間表 認股權之百分比

(%)

授出日期之 無

一周年前

授出日期之一周年或 25

之後但兩周年前

授出日期之兩周年或 25

之後但三周年前

授出日期之三周年或 25

之後但四周年前

授出日期之四周年或 25

之後

就認股權而言，倘合資格參與者於上述任

何指定期間行使該等股份數目之認股權合

共少於合資格參與者在該期間可行使之股

份數目，則合資格參與者於該期間可行使

（但未行使）之該認股權股份數目差額將結

轉及納入合資格參與者於下一個隨後期間

可行使之股份數目中。

2. 本公司股份於認股權授出日期之價格乃是

本公司股份於緊隨認股權授出日期前於交

易日在聯交所上市之收市價。

授出認股權之財務影響將不會於本公司或本

集團之資產負債表內列賬，直至認股權獲行

使為止，其費用亦不會於損益表或資產負債

表內列賬。因行使認股權而發行之股份，均

以股份面值列入本公司之額外股本，而每股

行使價高於股份面值之部分，將於本公司之

股份溢價賬內列賬。行使日期到期前失效或

被註銷之認股權將於尚未行使認股權登記名

冊上刪除。
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Share Option Scheme (continued)
The directors of the Company do not consider it appropriate to disclose

a theoretical value of the share options granted because a number of

factors crucial for the valuation cannot be determined. Accordingly,

any valuation of the options based on various speculative assumptions

would not be meaningful, but would be misleading to the shareholders

of the Company.

Directors’ Interests
As at 31 December 2003, the following directors and the chief executive

of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had the

following interests or deemed interests in the long and short positions

in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any

of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong

Kong) (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO

or the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Companies (the “Model Code”) under the Listing Rules:

(a) Long position in the shares of the Company:

Approximate Approximate

number of ordinary Nature of percentage of total

Name of director shares beneficially held interest shareholding

佔股權總額之

董事姓名 實益持有之普通股概約數目 權益類別 概約百分比

(%)

Ms. Chong Siak Ching# 1,157,897 Personal 0.04

張雪倩女士 # 個人

Mr. Lai Seck Khui# 1,157,897 Personal 0.04

黎錫駒先生 # 個人

# Non-executive Director

認股權計劃（續）
本公司董事認為並不適宜披露授出認股權之

理論價值，此乃由於多項對估值之關鍵性因

素未能確定。因此，任何根據各種猜測性假

設而作出對認股權之估值並無意義，並會對

本公司股東構成誤導。

董事之權益
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本公司董事

及最高行政人員及／或彼等各自之任何聯繫

人於或被視作於本公司或其相聯法團（定義

見香港法例第571章證券及期貨條例（「證券

及期貨條例」）第XV部）之本公司股份、相關

股份及債權證中持有根據證券及期貨條例第

352條記錄於本公司須存置之登記冊之好倉

及淡倉權益；或根據證券及期貨條例第XV部

或根據上市規則之上市公司董事進行證券交

易的標準守則（「標準守則」）須另行知會本公

司及聯交所之好倉及淡倉權益如下：

(a) 於本公司股份之好倉︰

# 非執行董事
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Directors’ Interests (continued)
(b) Long position in the underlying shares of equity derivatives

of the Company:

Share options in the Company
本公司之認股權

Exercise Number of Approximate
price Number of total percentage

Date of grant Exercise period per share share options underlying of total
Name of director of share options of share options option outstanding shares shareholding

HK$ (%)

每份認股權 尚未行使 佔股權總額之

董事姓名 認股權授出日期 認股權行使期 之行使價 認股權數目 相關股份總數 概約百分比

港元 (%)

Dr. Han Cheng Fong # 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.05

韓禎豐博士 #

Ms. Chong Siak Ching # 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.04

張雪倩女士 #

Mr. Lai Seck Khui # 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.04

黎錫駒先生 #

Mr. Alan Howard Smith J.P. ** 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.04

Alan Howard Smith先生，太平紳士**

Mr. Ang Ah Lay 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706 2,500,000 2,500,000 0.09

洪亞歷先生

Mr. Lew Syn Pau # 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.04

劉信保先生 #

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon ** 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.04

鄺志強先生**

Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela ** 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 – 30/12/2013 0.1706 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.04

王培芬女士**

董事之權益（續）
(b) 於本公司股本衍生工具中相關股

份之好倉：

# 非執行董事

** 獨立非執行董事

# Non-executive Director

** Independent Non-executive Director
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Directors’ Interests (continued)
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2003, none of the directors

and the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective

associates had any interest or deemed interest in the long and short

position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company

or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of

the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model

Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests
As at 31 December 2003, the following persons (other than the directors

or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest in the following

long position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under

section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in the shares of the Company:

Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of

Name of  shareholder Notes Nature shares held total shareholding
持有普通股 佔股權總額之

股東姓名／名稱 附註 性質 數目 概約百分比

(%)

Ascendas Pte Ltd. 1 Corporate 1,566,891,340 55.25
騰飛私人有限公司 公司
Ascendas Land International Pte Ltd. 2 Corporate 1,566,891,340 55.25

公司
Riverbook Group Limited 3 Corporate 1,566,891,340 55.25

公司
Fraser and Neave Limited 4 Corporate 1,566,891,340 55.25
花莎尼有限公司 公司
Fraser and Neave Investments 5 Corporate 1,566,891,340 55.25

(Hong Kong) Limited 公司
Vision Century Limited Corporate 1,566,891,340 55.25

公司
Mr. Ng Poh Meng (“Mr. Ng”) 6 Personal, Family 177,890,551 6.27
黃寶明先生（「黃先生」） and Corporate

個人、家族及公司
Ms. Ng Lee Ngo (“Mrs. Ng”) 6 Personal, Family 177,890,551 6.27
吳麗娥女士（「黃太太」） and Corporate

個人、家族及公司
Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon Personal 158,884,553 5.60
蔣小明博士 個人

董事之權益（續）
除上文所披露外，於二零零三年十二月三十

一日，本公司董事及最高行政人員及／或彼

等各自之任何聯繫人概無於或被視作於本公

司或其任何相聯法團（證券及期貨條例第XV

部）之本公司股份、相關股份及債權證中持

有根據證券及期貨條例第352條記錄於本公

司須存置之登記冊之任何好倉及淡倉權益；

或根據證券及期貨條例第XV部或標準守則須

另行知會本公司及聯交所之好倉及淡倉權益。

主要股東之權益
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，以下人士（本

公司董事或最高行政人員除外）於本公司股

份或相關股份中擁有根據證券及期貨條例第

336條記錄於本公司須存置之登記冊之好倉

權益如下：

於本公司股份之好倉：
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests (continued)
Notes:

1. The interest disclosed comprised 1,566,891,340 shares beneficially owned by

Ascendas Land International Pte Ltd. through the subsidiaries as disclosed in

notes 2 and 3 below. Ascendas Land International Pte Ltd. is a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Ascendas Pte Ltd.

2. The interest disclosed comprised 1,566,891,340 shares beneficially owned by

Riverbook Group Limited through Vision Century Limited. Riverbook Group

Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ascendas Land International Pte Ltd.

3. The interest disclosed comprised 1,566,891,340 shares held by Vision Century

Limited, which is 50% owned by Riverbook Group Limited.

4. The interest disclosed comprised 1,566,891,340 shares beneficially owned by

Fraser and Neave Investments (Hong Kong) Limited through Vision Century

Limited. Fraser and Neave Investments (Hong Kong) Limited is a wholly-owned

subsidiary of Fraser and Neave Limited.

5. The interest disclosed comprised 1,566,891,340 shares held by Vision Century

Limited, which is 50% owned by Fraser and Neave Investments (Hong Kong)

Limited.

6. The interest disclosed comprised 34,764,697 shares held by Mr. Ng, 11,578,969

shares held by Mrs. Ng, 125,757,400 shares held by Newmark Capital Holdings

Limited (“Newmark”) and 5,789,485 shares held by Global Capital Ventures

Limited (“Global”). Under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Ng was

deemed to control or have an interest in Newmark and Global. Mr. Ng was also

deemed to have an interest in the shares owned by his wife, Mrs. Ng, and vice

versa. Mrs. Ng held 50% of the entire issued share capital of Newmark in trust

for Mr. Ng and Mrs. Ng was otherwise not deemed to have an interest in

Newmark.

主要股東之權益（續）
附註：

1. 所披露之權益包括由 A s c e n d a s  L a n d

International Pte Ltd.透過下文附註2及3所披

露之附屬公司實益擁有之1,566,891,340股

股份。Ascendas Land International Pte Ltd.乃

騰飛私人有限公司之全資附屬公司。

2. 所披露之權益包括由Riverbook Group Limited

透過 Vis ion  Century  L imi ted實益擁有

之1,566,891,340股股份。Riverbook Group

Limited乃Ascendas Land International Pte Ltd..

之全資附屬公司。

3. 所披露之權益包括由Vision Century Limited

持有之1,566,891,340股股份。Vision Century

Limited由Riverbook Group Limited擁有50%權

益。

4. 所披露之權益包括由 Fraser and Neave

Investments (Hong Kong) Limited透過Vision

Century Limited實益擁有之1,566,891,340股

股份。 Fraser and Neave Investments (Hong

Kong) Limited乃花莎尼有限公司之全資附屬

公司。

5. 所披露之權益包括由Vision Century Limited

持有之1,566,891,340股股份。Vision Century

Limited由 Fraser and Neave Investments (Hong

Kong) Limited擁有50%權益。

6. 所披露之權益包括分別由黃先生、黃太太、

Newmark  Cap i t a l  Ho ld i ng s  L im i t ed

（「Newmark」）及Global Capital Ventures Limited

（「Global」）持有之34,764,697股、11,578,969

股、125,757,400股及5,789,485股股份。根

據證券及期貨條例第XV部條文規定，黃先

生被視作控制或擁有Newmark及Global之權

益。黃先生亦被視為擁有其妻子黃太太所

持股份之權益，反之亦然。黃太太持有

Newmark全部已發行股本之50%，該等股

份乃代黃先生託管，故黃太太並無擁有

Newmark之股份權益。
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests (continued)
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2003, no other person

(other than the directors or the chief executive of the Company) had an

interest in the long and short position in the shares or underlying shares

of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts and Connected
Transactions
Save as disclosed hereunder, there was no connected transaction or

contract of significance to which the Company, its subsidiaries or its

holding company was a party and in which a director of the Company

had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisting at 31

December 2003 or at any time during the year ended 31 December

2003.

1. On 8 October 2001, Vision Century Real Estate Development

(Dalian) Co. Ltd. (formerly known as Dalian Wanguo Amenity Centre

Company Limited) (“VC Dalian”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of

the Company, entered into a project supervision agreement (the

“PS Agreement”) with JTC International Consultants (Suzhou) Co.

Ltd. (“JTCI (Suzhou)”) whereby JTCI (Suzhou) agreed to provide

certain project supervision and consultancy services relating to a

development project of a property located at Xinglin Street,

ZhongShan District, Dalian, Liaoning Province, China (the “Dalian

Project”) during a 36-month period, for a consultancy fee of

RMB1,900,000 (approximately HK$1,792,000). The consultancy

fee was determined after an arm’s length negotiation between

the parties. If the actual supervision period is longer than 36 months,

JTCI (Suzhou) will receive an additional consultancy fee for any

additional services which will be calculated on the basis of time

spent or may be mutually agreed between the parties as stipulated

under the PS Agreement subject to a maximum cap of RMB500,000

(approximately HK$472,000).

主要股東之權益（續）
除上文所披露外，於二零零三年十二月三十

一日，概無其他人士（本公司董事或最高行

政人員除外）於本公司股份或相關股份中擁

有根據證券及期貨條例第336條記錄於本公

司須存置之登記冊之好倉及淡倉權益。

董事之合約權益及關連交易

除下文所披露外，於二零零三年十二月三十

一日或於截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止

年度內之任何時間，本公司概無任何關連交

易。此外，本公司、其附屬公司或其控股公

司亦無參與訂立任何與本公司之董事直接或

間接擁有重大權益之重大合同。

1. 於二零零一年十月八日，本公司全資擁

有之附屬公司威新房地產開發（大連）有

限公司（前稱大連萬國娛樂中心有限公

司）（「威新大連」）與裕廊國際顧問（蘇

州）有限公司（「裕廊國際（蘇州）」）訂立

一項項目監管協議（「項目監管協議」），

據此，裕廊國際（蘇州）同意於36個月期

間就一項位於中國遼寧省大連中山區杏

林街之物業發展項目（「大連項目」）提供

若干項目監管及顧問服務，顧問費用為

人民幣1,900,000元（約港幣1,792,000元）。

顧問費乃經各訂約方按公平磋商釐定。

倘實際監管期超過36個月，裕廊國際（蘇

州）將可就任何額外服務收取額外顧問

費，額外顧問費根據項目監管協議規定

按所用時間或各訂約方均同意之基準計

算，最高上限為人民幣500,000元（約港

幣472,000元）。
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts and Connected
Transactions (continued)

Besides, VC Dalian and JTCI (Suzhou) also entered into a M&E

Agreement (the “M&E Agreement”) whereby JTCI (Suzhou) agreed

to provide certain mechanical and electrical consultancy service

relating to the Dalian Project for a consultancy fee of RMB1,100,000

(approximately HK$1,038,000). JTCI (Suzhou) is indirectly wholly-

owned by JTC Corporation, a statutory board incorporated in

Republic of Singapore and wholly-owned by the government of

Singapore. JTC Consultancy Services Holding Pte Ltd., a wholly-

owned subsidiary of JTC Corporation, is running the operation of

JTCI (Suzhou). JTC Corporation, through its wholly-owned

subsidiary Ascendas Land International Pte Ltd., indirectly owns

100% of Riverbook Group Limited, which in turn holds 50% of

Vision Century Limited (“VCL”), the controlling shareholder of the

Company.

2. On 28 May 2002, the Group had completed the acquisition of the

entire issued share capital of CyberCity Investments Limited (“CCI”)

from CyberCity Holdings Limited (“CCH”). The Group has entered

into various connected transactions involving CCI and its subsidiaries

as follows:–

(a) Connected Transactions with Shenzhen Cursor

Software Technology Co. Ltd. (“SCST”)

(i) the technical support agreement dated 13 October 2001

made between CyberCity Cursor Media Co. Ltd.

(“CCCM”) and SCST, whereby CCCM agreed to provide

technical support service to SCST for a period of 10 years.

During the year, a total fee of approximately

HK$73,000 was charged to SCST;

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

此外，威新大連與裕廊國際（蘇州）亦訂

立一項機電協議（「機電協議」），據此，

裕廊國際（蘇州）同意就大連項目提供若

干機電顧問服務，顧問費用為人民幣

1,100,000元（約港幣1,038,000元）。裕廊

國際（蘇州）由裕廊集團間接全資擁有。

裕廊集團乃於新加坡共和國註冊成立之

法定委員會，並由新加坡政府全資擁有。

裕廊集團之全資附屬公司JTC Consultancy

Services Holding Pte Ltd.負責裕廊國際（蘇

州）之業務。裕廊集團透過其全資附屬

公司Ascendas Land International Pte Ltd.間

接擁有Riverbook Group Limited全部權益，

Riverbook Group Limited則持有本公司控

股股東Vision Century Limited（「VCL」）50%

權益。

2. 於二零零二年五月二十八日，本集團完

成向賽博控股有限公司（「賽博控股」）購

入CyberCity Investments Limited （「CCI」）

全部已發行股本。本集團曾訂立涉及CCI

及其附屬公司之多項關連交易如下：

(a) 與深圳市智慧源軟件技術有限

公司（「深圳市智慧源」）進行

之關連交易

(i) 賽博智慧源信息技術（深圳）有

限公司（「賽博智慧源」）與深圳

市智慧源於二零零一年十月十

三日訂立之技術支援協議書，

據此，賽博智慧源同意在10年

期內，向深圳市智慧源提供技

術支援服務。於年內，向深圳

市智慧源收取一項總額為港幣

73,000元之費用；
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts and Connected
Transactions (continued)

(a) Connected Transactions with Shenzhen Cursor

Software Technology Co. Ltd. (“SCST”) (continued)

(ii) the co-operative agreement dated 13 October 2001

made between CCCM and SCST, whereby CCCM  agreed

to provide training funds and training related software

and  education services to SCST for a period of 10 years.

During the year, a total fee of approximately HK$87,000

was charged to SCST; and

(iii) the agency agreement and supplemental agreement

dated 7 December 2001 and 25 September 2002

respectively made between CCCM and SCST, whereby

CCCM agreed to provide exclusive agency services to

SCST for a period of 20 years. During the year, no fee

has been charged to SCST.

(Item 2(a)(i), (ii) and (iii) above together called “Ongoing

Connected Transactions”).

The Company had been granted a conditional waiver by the

Stock Exchange from strict compliance with the requirement

of the Listing Rules in respect of the Ongoing Connected

Transactions. The independent non-executive directors of the

Company had reviewed the Ongoing Connected Transactions

made during the year ended 31 December 2003 and

confirmed that:

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been entered

into in the ordinary and usual course of the Company’s

business;

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

(a) 與深圳市智慧源軟件技術有限

公司（「深圳市智慧源」）進行

之關連交易（續）

(ii) 賽博智慧源與深圳市智慧源於

二零零一年十月十三日訂立之

合作協議書，據此，賽博智慧

源同意在10年期內，向深圳市

智慧源提供培訓費用及與培訓

相關的軟件及教育服務。於年

內，向深圳市智慧源收取一項

總額約為港幣 87,000元之費

用；及

(iii) 賽博智慧源與深圳市智慧源分

別於二零零一年十二月七日及

二零零二年九月二十五日訂立

代理協議書及補充協議，據此，

賽博智慧源同意在20年期內，

向深圳市智慧源提供獨家的代

理服務。於年內，並無向深圳

市智慧源收取費用；

（以上2(a)(i)、(ii)及(iii)項統稱「持續關

連交易」）。

本公司已獲聯交所有條件豁免嚴格

遵守上市規則有關持續關連交易之

要求。本公司獨立非執行董事已審

閱於截至二零零三年十二月三十一

日止年度進行之持續關連交易，並

確定：

－ 持續關連交易乃按本公司一般

及正常業務程序進行；
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Transactions (continued)

(a) Connected Transactions with Shenzhen Cursor

Software Technology Co. Ltd. (“SCST”) (continued)

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been

conducted on normal commercial terms;

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been carried

out in accordance with the terms of respective

agreements; and

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been entered

into such that the aggregate amount for the year ended

31 December 2003 did not exceed the higher of HK$10

million and 3% of the Group’s net tangible assets

respectively (“Cap Amount”).

The auditors of the Company had also confirmed to the

directors of the Company that:

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had received the

approval of the Company’s board of directors;

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been entered

into in accordance with the terms of the respective

agreements; and

– the Ongoing Connected transactions had been entered

into such that the Cap Amount had not been exceeded.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

(a) 與深圳市智慧源軟件技術有限

公司（「深圳市智慧源」）進行

之關連交易（續）

－ 持續關連交易乃按正常商業條

款進行；

－ 持續關連交易乃根據各自之協

議條款進行；及

－ 截至二零零三年十二月三十一

日止年度之持續關連交易總額

分別不超過港幣10,000,000元

及本集團有形淨資產3%之較

高者（「上限金額」）。

本公司核數師亦經已向本公司董事

確認：

－ 持續關連交易已取得本公司董

事局批准；

－ 持續關連交易已根據各自之協

議條款進行；及

－ 持續關連交易以不超過上限金

額進行。
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts and Connected
Transactions (continued)

(b) Connected Transaction with Shareholders of Xiao

Dong Global Technology Co. Ltd. (“XDT”)

XDT, a company incorporated in China and is beneficially

owned as to 33% by Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon, a then

director of the Company, and 34% by Mr. Zhai Pu, a then

director of various subsidiaries of the Company, and 33% by

Mr. Yang Zhaohui, a director of CyberCity Investments (SZ)

Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company. Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon,

Mr. Zhai Pu and Mr. Yang Zhaohui (together called

“Shareholders of XDT”) are connected persons to the Group.

On 6 December 2001, a loan agreement was made amongst

Campusall Company Limited (“Campusall”), and the

Shareholders of XDT, in which, Campusall agreed to provide

a loan in the amount of US$822,751 (equivalent to

approximately HK$6,417,000) to the Shareholders of XDT,

who pledged all the shares of XDT to the Group as security

for the loan.

By a supplemental agreement dated 5 August 2002, an interest

rate of 7% per annum was charged on the loan. During the

year, an interest income of HK$447,000 was charged to the

Shareholders of XDT.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

(b) 與北京曉東環宇科技有限公司

（「曉東科技」）股東進行之關

連交易

曉東科技是一間於中國註冊成立之

公司，由蔣小明博士（本公司當時

之董事）實益擁有33%權益、翟普

先生（本公司多間附屬公司當時之

董事）實益擁有34%權益及楊朝暉

先生（本公司一間附屬公司賽合投

資咨詢（深圳）有限公司之董事）實

益擁有33%權益。蔣小明博士、翟

普先生及楊朝暉先生（統稱「曉東科

技股東」）均為本集團之關連人士。

曉東科技股東與Campusall Company

Limited（「Campusall」）於二零零一年

十二月六日訂立一項貸款協議，

Campusall同意向曉東科技股東（已

將所有曉東科技股份作為貸款扺押

品抵押予本集團）提供一項822,751

美元（約相等於港幣6,417,000元）之

貸款。

根據二零零二年八月五日之補充協

議，所提供貸款之年利率為7%。

於年內，向曉東科技股東收取一項

港幣447,000元之利息收益。
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Transactions (continued)

(c) Connected Transaction with Shareholders of SZ Nova

Science Technology Development Co. Ltd.  (“SZ Nova”)

SZ Nova is owned as to 90% by Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon, a

then director of the Company, and 10% by Mr. Chen Shulin,

a director and shareholder of Nova Network Holdings Ltd.

(“Nova”). Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon, Mr. Chen Shulin

(together called “Shareholders of SZ Nova”) and SZ Nova are

connected persons to the Group. On 11 December 2001, a

loan agreement was made amongst Jubilee Success Limited

(“Jubilee”), a subsidiary of the Company, and the Shareholders

of SZ Nova, in which, Jubilee agreed to provide a loan in the

amount of US$563,591 (equivalent to approximately

HK$4,396,000) to the Shareholders of SZ Nova, who  pledged

all the shares of SZ Nova to the Group as security for the loan.

By a supplemental agreement dated 5 August 2002, an interest

of 7% per annum was charged on the loan provided. During

the year, an interest income of HK$306,000 was charged to

the Shareholders of SZ Nova.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

(c) 與深圳市南凌科技發展有限公

司（「深圳市南凌」）股東進行

之關連交易

深圳市南凌由蔣小明博士（本公司

當時之董事）擁有90%權益及陳樹

林先生（Nova Network Holdings Ltd.

（「南凌」）之董事兼股東）擁有10%

權益。蔣小明博士、陳樹林先生（統

稱「深圳市南凌股東」）及深圳市南

凌均為本集團之關連人士。深圳市

南凌股東與 Jubilee Success Limited

（「Jubilee」）（本公司之附屬公司）於

二零零一年十二月十一日訂立一項

貸款協議， Jubilee 同意向深圳市南

凌股東（已將所有深圳市南凌股份

作為貸款抵押品抵押予本集團）提

供一項563,591美元（約相等於港幣

4,396,000元）之貸款。

根據二零零二年八月五日之補充協

議，所提供貸款之年利率為7%。

於年內，向深圳市南凌股東收取一

項港幣306,000元之利息收益。
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts and Connected
Transactions (continued)

(d) Connected Transactions with Nova and its subsidiaries

(“Nova Group”)

Nova is 90% beneficially owned by CCI and 8.1% by Mr.

Chen Shulin, a director of Nova and 1.9% by independent

parties not connected with any directors, chief executive or

substantial shareholders of the Company or its subsidiaries or

any of their respective associates. Nova Network Limited

(“Nova HK”) and Century Nova Cyber Technology (Shenzhen)

Co., Ltd. (“Nova Cyber”) are wholly-owned subsidiaries of

Nova. The connected transactions with Nova Group were

conducted on normal commercial terms and details of which

are set out as follows:–

(i) on 16 July 2002, the Company and Nova Cyber entered

into an agreement, under which, the Company agreed

to provide fixed deposit charge and a corporate guarantee

to a bank in favour of Nova Cyber to secure a loan facility

from the bank. Nova Cyber agreed to pay a total

guarantee fee of 5% of the secured loan amount to the

Company during the continuance of the securities. During

the year, Nova Cyber has utilised a loan facility of up to

RMB8,000,000 (equiva lent  to approx imate ly

HK$7,492,000) and a guarantee fee of HK$375,000 was

charged to Nova Cyber;

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

(d) 與南凌及其附屬公司（「南凌集

團」）進行之關連交易

南凌由CCI實益擁有90%權益及陳樹

林先生（南凌董事）實益擁有8.1%

權益及獨立人士（與本公司或其附

屬公司之董事、最高行政人員或主

要股東或彼等各自之聯繫人概無關

連）實益擁有 1 . 9 %權益。 N o v a

Network Limited（「南凌香港」）與世

紀南凌數碼科技（深圳）有限公司（「世

紀南凌」）均為南凌之全資附屬公司。

本集團與南凌集團之關連交易乃按

一般商業條款進行，有關詳情如下：

(i) 於二零零二年七月十六日，本

公司與世紀南凌訂立一項協議，

據此，本公司同意為世紀南凌

向一間銀行提供定期存款扺押

及公司擔保，以從一間銀行取

得扺押借貸備用額。世紀南凌

同意於已抵押品仍然有效之時，

向本公司支付一筆以所抵押貸

款之5%計算之擔保費。於年

內，世紀南凌已動用最高額為

人民幣8,000,000元（約相等於

港幣7,492,000元）之借貸備用

額，而向世紀南凌收取港

幣375,000元之擔保費；
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(d) Connected Transactions with Nova and its subsidiaries

(“Nova Group”) (continued)

(ii) On 23 September 2002, Nova and the Company entered

into an agreement, pursuant to which the Company

should advance a shareholder loan to Nova up to an

amount of HK$6,500,000 with interest at the rate of

7% per annum (“Shareholder Loan”). The Shareholder

Loan was for Nova’s general working capital. During the

year, the amount of Shareholder Loan utilised was

HK$6,445,000 and an interest income of HK$415,000

was charged to Nova; and

(iii) on 7 October 2002, the Company and Nova HK entered

into an agreement, in which, the Company agreed to

replace CCH to provide a corporate guarantee in favour

of Trilease International Limited relating to Nova HK’s

liabilities under a lease of equipment taken by Nova HK

of total lease amount of approximately HK$1,700,000

(the “Guarantee”) of which HK$711,000 has been

utilised. Nova HK agreed to pay a guarantee fee of 2.5%

per annum of the guaranteed principal of the leased

equipment to the Company during the continuance of

the Guarantee. During the year, a guarantee fee of

HK$27,000 was charged to Nova HK.

3. On 28 May 2002, Campusall and the Company (the holding

company of Campusall) entered into an agreement, pursuant to

which the Company should advance a shareholder loan to

Campusall up to an amount of US$120,000 (equivalent to

approximately HK$936,000) with interest at the rate of 7% per

annum (“Shareholder Loan”). The Shareholder Loan should be

applied to the Campusall or its wholly-owned subsidiary, 8th

Network China Co Ltd. (“8th Network”), for general working capital

purpose. During the year, an interest income of approximately

US$8,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$65,000) was charged

to Campusall.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

(d) 與南凌及其附屬公司（「南凌集

團」）進行之關連交易（續）

(ii) 於二零零二年九月二十三日，

南凌與本公司訂立一項協議，

據此，本公司須向南凌墊付一

筆最高額為港幣6,500,000元之

股東貸款（「股東貸款」），年利

率為7%。該筆股東貸款用作

南凌之一般營運資金。於年內，

已動用股東貸款數額為港幣

6,445,000元，而向南凌收取港

幣415,000元之利息收益；及

(iii) 於二零零二年十月七日，本公

司與南凌香港訂立一項協議，

本公司同意代替賽博控股就南

凌香港之設備租約負債（租金

總額約為港幣1,700,000元）向

Trilease International Limited提供

一項公司擔保（「擔保」），其中

經已動用港幣711,000元。南凌

香港同意於擔保仍然有效之時，

每年向本公司支付一筆以所擔

保之租賃設備之2.5%計算之擔

保費。於年內，向南凌香港收

取一項港幣27,000元之擔保費。

3. 於二零零二年五月二十八日，Campusall

與本公司（ Campusall之控股公司）訂立一

項協議，本公司須向Campusall墊付一筆

最高額為 120,000美元（約相等於港幣

936,000元）之股東貸款（「股東貸款」），

年利率為 7%。該筆股東貸款須作為

Campusall或其全資附屬公司慧科管理咨

詢有限公司（「慧科管理」）之一般營運資

金用途。於年內，已向Campusall收取一

項約8,000美元（約相等於港幣65,000元）

之利息收益。
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4. On 29 May 2002, Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Co., Ltd.

(“VSBP”), a 95% owned subsidiary of the Company, and the

Company entered into an agreement, under which, the Company

agreed to provide fixed deposit charge and a corporate guarantee

to a bank in favour of VSBP to secure loan facilities from the bank

for VSBP. VSBP agreed to pay a total guarantee fee of 5% of the

secured loan amount to the Company during the continuance of

the securities. During the year, the loan facilities of up to

RMB19,500,000 were utilised by VSBP. A total fee of approximately

RMB1,238,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,160,000) was

charged to VSBP during the year.

5. On 26 July 2002, 8th Network and the Company entered into an

agreement, under which, the Company agreed to provide fixed

deposit charge and a corporate guarantee in favour of 8th Network

to secure a facility from a bank for 8th Network. 8th Network

agreed to pay a total guarantee fee of 5% of the secured loan

amount to the Company during the continuance of the securities.

During the year, 8th Network has utilised a total loan facility of

RMB4,000,000. A total fee of approximately RMB178,000

(equivalent to approximately HK$167,000) was charged to 8th

Network.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

4. 於二零零二年五月二十九日，本公司之

95%附屬公司深圳威新軟件科技園有限

公司（「深圳威新」）與本公司訂立一項協

議，據此，本公司同意為深圳威新向一

間銀行提供定期存款抵押及公司擔保，

以從一間銀行取得抵押貸款備用額。深

圳威新同意於抵押品仍然有效期間，向

本公司支付一筆以所抵押貸款之5%計算

之總擔保費。於年內，深圳威新已動用

貸款備用額為人民幣19,500,000元。本公

司已於年內向深圳威新收取一項總額約

人 民 幣 1 , 2 3 8 , 0 0 0元（約 相 等 於 港

幣1,160,000元）之費用。

5. 於二零零二年七月二十六日，慧科管理

與本公司訂立一項協議，據此，本公司

同意為慧科管理提供定期存款抵押及公

司擔保，以作為慧科管理獲授予一筆銀

行信貸之抵押品。慧科管理同意於抵押

品仍然有效期間，向本公司支付一筆以

所抵押貸款之5%計算之總擔保費。於年

內，慧科管理已動用總貸款備用額為人

民幣4,000,000元。本公司已向慧科管理

收取一項總額約人民幣178,000元（約相

等於港幣167,000元）之費用。
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6. As at 31 December 2003, the Company, through its wholly-owned

subsidiar ies,  advanced a total  sum of approximately

HK$138,000,000 as shareholder’s loans to VSBP. VSBP is beneficially

owned as to 95% by the Company and 5% by 3-9 Project

Development Co., Ltd., which is an independent third party not

connected with the substantial shareholders, directors and chief

executives of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or their

respective associates. Such shareholder’s loans are for VSBP’s

working capital requirement. With an interest rate of 5% per

annum, the shareholder’s loans are repayable on demand on or

before 15 July 2006. During the year, an interest income of

approximately HK$6,915,000 was charged to VSBP.

7. During the year, the Company, through its wholly-owned

subsidiaries, advanced a total sum of approximately HK$43,447,000

as shareholders’ loan (“Shareholder Loan”) to Great Project Property

Limited (“Great Project”), a company then beneficially owned as

to 65% by the Company and 35% by China Travel Services

(Holdings) Hong Kong Limited (“China Travel”). China Travel has

defaulted in its obligation under the shareholders agreement to

provide financial support to Great Project in accordance with its

shareholding in Great Project and the Shareholder Loan advanced

by the Group were in excess of the Group’s proportional equity

interest of 65% in Great Project. The Group has charged interest

rate of approximately 5% per annum over Hong Kong prime rate.

The Shareholder Loan are unsecured and are repayable on demand.

During the year, an interest income of approximately HK$293,000

was charged to Great Project.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

6. 於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本公司

透過其全資附屬公司向深圳威新墊付合

共約港幣138,000,000元之股東貸款。深

圳威新由本公司及三九工程開發總公司

各實益擁有95%及5％權益。三九工程開

發總公司為獨立第三方，與本公司或其

任何附屬公司之主要股東、董事及最高

行政人員或彼等各自之聯繫人概無關連。

該股東貸款用作深圳威新之營運資金。

股東貸款之年息率為5%，須於二零零六

年七月十五日或之前按要求償還。於年

內，已向深圳威新收取約港幣6,915,000

元之貸款利息收益。

7. 於年內，本公司透過其全資附屬公司向

大捷物業有限公司（「大捷物業」）墊付總

計約港幣43,447,000元作為股東貸款（「股

東貸款」），大捷物業當時由本公司及中

旅（集團）有限公司（「中旅集團」）分別

持有65%及35%權益。  中旅集團未能履

行股東協議內之義務，即根據其於大捷

物業所持股權比例向大捷物業提供財務

支持。而本集團墊付之股東貸款已超過

本集團於大捷物業之65%比例股本權益。

本集團已收取高於香港最優惠利率約5%

利率。股東貸款屬非抵押貸款，並需按

要求償還。於年內，本集團向大捷物業

收取約港幣293,000元利息收益。
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8. On 13 January 2003, the Company entered into an agreement

with China Travel by which the Company had agreed to

conditionally acquire from China Travel its 35% interests in Great

Project for a total cash consideration of HK$63.9 million payable

in three installments. The consideration was determined at arm’s

length negotiations between the parties, with reference to the face

value of the aggregate amount of shareholder’s loan advanced by

China Travel to Great Project, which loans are interest -free and

has no fixed term of repayment and as at 31 October 2002

amounted to HK$77.2 million (“Shareholder Loan”) and China

Travel’s attributable interests in the unaudited consolidated net

deficit of Great Project as at the same date. The consideration

represented approximately 6% discount to HK$68 million, which

represented the aggregate amount of Shareholder Loan of HK$77.2

million after adjusting China Travel’s 35% share of loss on the

unaudited consolidated net deficit of Great Project of HK$9.2 million

as at 31 October 2002.

China Travel is a connected person of the Company by virtue of it

being a substantial shareholder of Great Project.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

8. 於二零零三年一月十三日，本公司與香

港中旅訂立協議，據此本公司同意有條

件收購中旅集團於大捷物業之35%權益，

總現金代價為港幣63,900,000元，分三期

支付。代價乃經各訂約方按公平磋商釐

定，並已參考於二零零二年十月三十一

日中旅集團墊付予大捷物業之免息、無

固定還款期之股東貸款總額港幣77,200,000

元（「股東貸款」），以及中旅集團於同日

應佔大捷物業未經審核綜合虧拙淨額之

權益。代價為港幣63,900,000元，較股東

貸款總額港幣77,200,000元減去中旅集團

於二零零二年十月三十一日應佔大捷物

業35%之未經審核綜合虧損之淨額（即

港幣9,200,000元）後所得的港幣68,000,000

元有大約6%的折讓。

中旅集團因其乃大捷物業之主要股東而

成為本公司之關連人士。
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9. On 7 May 2003, the Company entered into various connected

transactions pursuant to a Marketing Agency Agreement with

Ascendas Services Pte Ltd. (“Ascendas Services”) dated 7 May 2003,

a Co-operative Agreement with SZ Nova dated 7 May 2003 and a

Marketing Arrangement Agreement with SZ Nova dated 7 May

2003.

(a) Under the Marketing Agency Agreement, Ascendas Services

will provide non-exclusive marketing agency services to Vision

Business Park Marketing Services Ltd. in respect of marketing

and solicitation of customers both inside and outside the PRC

for the units in the ready built facilities and built-to-suit facilities

to the business parks (the “Units”) for a term of 36 months

from the date of the Marketing Agency Agreement. Ascendas

Services is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Ascendas.

As such, Ascendas Services is a connected person of the

Company under the Listing Rules.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

9. 於二零零三年五月七日，本公司根據與

Ascendas Services Pte Ltd. （「Ascendas

Services」）於二零零三年五月七日訂立之

市場推廣代理協議以及與深圳市南凌於

二零零三年五月七日分別訂立之合作協

議及市場推廣安排協議而進行多項關連

交易。

(a) 根據市場推廣代理協議，Ascendas

Services將向威新市場推廣服務有限

公司提供有關在商業園內之現成標

準廠房及定制廠房及有關設施之單

位（「單位」）於中國境內外客戶之市

場推廣及推銷之非獨家市場推廣代

理服務，自市場推廣代理協議日期

起計為期36個月。Ascendas Services

乃騰飛之間接全資附屬公司，因此，

根據上市規則，Ascendas Services乃

屬本公司之關連人士。
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(b) Under the Co-operative Agreement, both Nova Cyber and SZ

Nova will co-operate to provide integrated enterprise

networking services to customers in the cities and provinces

of, including but not limited to, Beijing, Shanghai, Zhejiang

and Jiangsu for an initial term of 3 years from the date of the

Co-operative Agreement. Under the Marketing Arrangement

Agreement, Nova Cyber will provide exclusive business

development support and sales marketing services of system

integration solutions to SZ Nova for an initial term of 3 years

from the date of the Marketing Arrangement Agreement.

The transactions set out in 9(a) and (b) above were defined as

“Ongoing Connected Transactions”.

The Company had been granted a conditional waiver by the

Stock Exchange from strict compliance with the requirement

of the Listing Rules in respect of the Ongoing Connected

Transactions. The independent non-executive directors of the

Company had reviewed the Ongoing Connected Transactions

and confirmed that:

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been entered

into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the

Group;

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

(b) 根據合作協議，世紀南凌及深圳市

南凌將合作向多個省市如（包括但

不限於）北京、上海、浙江及江蘇

等客戶提供綜合企業網絡服務，自

合作協議日期起計初步為期三年。

根據市場推廣安排協議，世紀南凌

將向深圳市南凌提供系統集成解決

方案之獨家業務發展支援及銷售市

場推廣服務，自市場推廣安排協議

日期起計初步為期三年。

上文9(a)及 (b)所載之交易已界定為

「持續關連交易」。

本公司已獲聯交所授予有條件豁免，

免除嚴格遵守上市規則有關持續關

連交易之規定。本公司之獨立非執

行董事已審閱持續關連交易，並確

認：

－ 持續關連交易乃於本集團之日

常及一般業務過程中訂立；
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– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been

conducted on normal commercial terms;

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been carried

out in accordance with the terms of respective

agreements; and

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been entered

into such that the aggregate amount of each of the

Ongoing Connected Transactions for the year ended 31

December 2003 did not exceed the higher of HK$10

million or 3% of the net tangible assets value of the Group

respectively (“Cap Amount”).

The auditors of the Company had also confirmed to the

directors of the Company that:

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had received the

approval of the board of directors of the Company;

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been entered

into in accordance with the terms of the respective

agreements; and

– the Ongoing Connected Transactions had been entered

into such that the Cap Amount had not been exceeded.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

－ 持續關連交易乃按一般商業條

款進行；

－ 持續關連交易乃根據各自之協

議條款進行；及

－ 本集團截至二零零三年十二月

三十一日止年度之各項持續關

連交易之總額分別不超過港幣

10,000,000元或本集團有形資

產淨值之3%之較高者（「上限

金額」）。

本公司之核數師亦經已向本公司董

事確認：

－ 持續關連交易已獲得本公司董

事會之批准；

－ 持續關連交易乃根據各自之協

議條款進行；及

－ 持續關連交易以不超過上限金

額進行。
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10. On 19 April 2002, Vision Business Park (TH) Limited (“Vision

Business”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Beijing

Tsinghua Science Park Construction Co. Ltd. (“Tsinghua”), entered

into a conditional joint venture agreement (“JV Agreement”) for

establishment of Vision Huaqing (Beijing) Development Co. Ltd.

(“Vision Huaqing”) as a sino-foreign joint venture company.

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, Vision Business and Tsinghua agreed

to establish Vision Huaqing in China for a term of 50 years from

the date of the business licence of Vision Huaqing to engage in

developing, managing and operating a business park and other

related business park services mainly for companies engaged in

technology related businesses. The first development project of

Vision Huaqing will be Plot B14 located within Phase 2 of Tsinghua

Science Park. Vision Huaqing is 60% and 40% owned by Vision

Business and Tsinghua respectively. The total investment of Vision

Huaqing under the JV Agreement was up to RMB390 million

(equivalent to approximately HK$367 million), including the

registered capital of RMB130 million (equivalent to approximately

HK$122 million).

Vision Business and Tsinghua also entered into a land development

agreement for Plot B14 (“Land Development Agreement”)

simultaneously with the JV Agreement. Tsinghua was responsible

for the resettlement and site clearance of Plot B14 by 30 June

2002 or such other dates mutually agreed by both parties. Vision

Business should procure Vision Huaqing to pay to Tsinghua the

land development fee (including the costs for resettlement, site

clearance and levelling and infrastructure such as connection of

basic utilities), incurred by Tsinghua (the “Land Development Fee”)

which was approximately RMB134 million (equivalent to

approximately HK$126 million).

On 14 July 2003, the Company through its subsidiaries, Vision

Business and Vision Huaqing, respectively entered into a

Supplemental JV Agreement and a Supplemental Land

Development Agreement with Tsinghua, pursuant to which certain

terms in the JV Agreement and the Land Development Agreement

entered into on 19 April 2002 have been amended accordingly.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

10. 於二零零二年四月十九日，本公司之全

資附屬公司Vision Business Park (TH) Limited

（「Vision Business」）與北京清華科技園建

設股份有限公司（「清華」）訂立一項有條

件合營合同（「合營合同」），藉以成立一

家名為威新華清（北京）置業發展有限公

司（「威新華清」）之中外合營企業，根據

合營合同，Vision Business 及清華同意在

中國成立威新華清，為期自威新華清獲

發營業執照之日起計50年，以從事開發、

管理及經營商業園及提供其他有關商業

園的服務，主要對象為從事科技相關業

務之公司。威新華清之首個發展項目將

會是位於清華科技園二期之B14地塊。

威新華清將分別由Vision Business及清華

各持有60%及40%權益。威新華清在合

營合同下之總投資最高金額將為人民幣

390,000,000元（相等於約港幣367,000,000

元），包括註冊資本人民幣130,000,000

元（相等於約港幣122,000,000元）。

除合營合同外，Vision Business亦同時與

清華訂立一項有關B14地塊之地塊開發

合同（「地塊開發合同」）。清華負責在二

零零二年六月三十日或經訂約方互相協

定之其他日期前完成B14地塊之拆遷及

安置。Vision Business應促使威新華清向

清 華 支 付 土 地 開 發 費 約 為 人 民 幣

134,000,000元（相等於約港幣126,000,000

元），以支付清華進行拆遷、安置、地

盤平整及基建（如接駁基本公用設施）之

用（「土地開發費」）。

於二零零三年七月十四日，本公司已透

過其附屬公司Vision Business及威新華清

分別與清華訂立合營補充合同及地塊開

發補充合同，據此，於二零零二年四月

十九日訂立之合營合同及地塊開發合同

內之若干條款已作出相應修訂。
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Pursuant to the Supplemental JV Agreement, the financing

commitments of both Vision Business and Tsinghua by way of

shareholders’ loan will be reduced to RMB30 million (equivalent to

approximately HK$28 million) and RMB20 million (equivalent to

approximately HK$19 million) respectively. The remaining amount

of RMB210 million (equivalent to approximately HK$198 million)

is intended to be financed by way of external financings to be

obtained by Vision Huaqing.

Vision Huaqing will replace Vision Business as the party to sign the

Supplemental Land Development Agreement with Tsinghua.

Pursuant to the Supplemental Land Development Agreement, (a)

both parties mutually agreed to postpone the resettlement and

site clearance of Plot B14 to 30 January 2003 and the deadline for

completion of the project development would be postponed to a

later date mutually agreed by both parties; and (b) the payment

schedule of the outstanding amount of RMB82 million (equivalent

to approximately HK$77 million) would be changed, whereby the

payments of the 1st and 2nd installments were deferred to 1

February 2003 and as for the 3rd installment, RMB20 million would

be used to offset against the shareholder’s loan of RMB20 million

to be provided by Tsinghua under the Supplemental JV Agreement

and the remaining amount would be payable 5 days before the

execution of any bank financing agreements by Vision Huaqing

should Vision Huaqing successfully arrange external financings.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

根據合營補充合同，Vision Business 及清

華以股東貸款方式之融資承擔將分別減

至人民幣 30,000,000元（相等於約港幣

28,000,000元）及人民幣20,000,000元（相

等於約港幣19,000,000元）。餘款人民幣

210,000,000元（相等於約港幣198,000,000

元）擬以威新華清將取得之對外融資撥

付。

威新華清將取代Vision Business作為與清

華訂立地塊開發補充合同之簽署方。根

據地塊開發補充合同， (a)經訂約雙方同

意延遲拆遷及安置B14地塊至二零零三

年一月三十日，而項目開發之完工期限

亦將押後至經訂約雙方互相協定之較後

日期；及 (b)尚未支付之人民幣82,000,000

元（相等於約港幣77,000,000元）之付款

時間表將更改，第一及第二期之付款已

遞延至二零零三年二月一日，而第三期

付款人民幣20,000,000元將根據合營補充

合同用於抵銷清華提供之股東貸款人民

幣20,000,000元。倘威新華清成功安排對

外融資，則餘款須於威新華清簽訂任何

銀行融資合同前5日支付。
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As a result of the reduction in the shareholders’ loan commitment

to be provided by Vision Business from approximately RMB123

million to RMB30 million under the Supplemental JV Agreement,

the Company would free up approximately RMB93 million

(equivalent to approximately HK$88 million) of the net proceeds

raised in the Rights Issue to be used as general working capital of

the Group. Pursuant to the Supplemental Land Development

Agreement, Vision Huaqing would be granted additional time for

project master planning and design work and the payment of the

Land Development Fee to Tsinghua would be postponed to be in

line with the delay in resettlement and site clearance. Accordingly,

the Company will be benefited from improved financial

performance of Vision Huaqing in operating a better designed

business park.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
The following directors of the Company are considered to have interests

in business which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or

indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules:

Dr. Han Cheng Fong is a Director and Deputy Chairman of Centrepoint

Properties Limited (“Centrepoint Group”) which is a property investment

and development company in Singapore. The Centrepoint Group is

engaged in the development and marketing of housing units,

management of offices, shopping malls and serviced apartments both

locally and abroad. He is also a Director and Managing Director of Fraser

and Neave Limited.

董事之合約權益及關連交易
（續）

鑑於Vision Business根據合營補充合同將

會提供之股東貸款承擔由約人民幣

123,000,000元減至人民幣30,000,000元，

本公司供股所得款項淨額將多出約人民

幣93,000,000元（相等於約港幣88,000,000

元）以用作本集團一般營運資金。根據

地塊開發補充合同，威新華清將可獲得

額外時間進行項目大綱規劃及設計工程，

而向清華支付之地塊開發費用將按拆遷

及安置押後而延遲。故此，本公司將受

益於威新華清因商業園之經營規劃更完

善而改善之財務表現。

董事於競爭業務之權益
本公司下列董事根據上市規則被視為與本集

團業務存有或可能存有直接或間接競爭之業

務中擁有權益：

韓禎豐博士為先得坊產業有限公司（「先得坊

集團」）之董事兼副主席，該公司為於新加坡

之物業投資及發展公司。先得坊集團從事房

屋單位發展及市場推廣、本地及外地辦公室、

購物商場及旅館式公寓之管理。彼亦為花莎

尼有限公司之董事兼董事總經理。
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Ms. Chong Siak Ching is President/Chief Executive Officer and Director

of Ascendas. She is also a Director of various subsidiaries including

Ascendas-MGM Funds Management Limited (a fund management

company involving properties principally in Singapore). Ascendas Group

is a developer, manager and marketer of science, business and industrial

parks in Singapore, China, India and the Philippines.

Mr. Lai Seck Khui is a Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of

Times Publishing Limited (“TPL”). TPL is in the information business

involved in print and electronic publishing, commercial printing,

distribution, direct sales and retailing of books, partworks, directories

and magazines, the distribution of recorded music, audio and video

tapes and hi-fi accessories, the provision of educational programmes

and the organisation of conferences and exhibitions. Headquartered in

Singapore, TPL has its global network of subsidiaries and associated

companies located in key centres in Southeast Asia, Hong Kong, China,

Japan, Australia, Europe and the United States of America. TPL is also

involved in the development and sale of educational software such as

CD ROMs, as well as online educational services.

Mr. Lew Syn Pau is the Chairman and a Director of Ascendas. Ascendas.

is a developer, manager and marketer of science, business and industrial

parks in Singapore, China, India and the Philippines. He is also the

Chairman and a Director of Ascendas-MGM Funds Management Limited

(a fund management company involving properties principally in

Singapore). His directorships in both companies are non-executive.

董事於競爭業務之權益（續）

張雪倩女士為騰飛之總裁／行政總裁兼董事。

彼亦為騰飛屬下多家附屬公司包括Ascendas-

MGM Funds Management Limited（一間以新加

坡物業為主之基金管理公司）之董事。騰飛

集團是新加坡、中國、印度及菲律賓科學園、

商業園及工業園的開發、管理和營銷商。

黎錫駒先生為時信出版有限公司（「時信」）之

董事、總裁兼行政總裁。時信從事資訊業務，

包括印刷及電子出版、商業印刷；書本、分

輯出版書刊、指南及雜誌之分銷、直銷及零

售；音樂、錄音及錄影帶及音響設備配件之

分銷；提供教育課程及籌辦會議及展覽。時

信總部設於新加坡，其擁有全球附屬公司及

聯營公司網絡，分別位於東南亞、香港、中

國、日本、澳洲、歐洲及美國之主要地點。

時信亦有從事開發及銷售電腦唯讀光碟等教

育軟件及網上教育服務。

劉信保先生為騰飛之主席兼董事。騰飛為新

加坡、中國、印度及菲律賓之科學園、商業

園及工業園的開發、管理及營銷商。此外，

彼亦為Ascendas-MGM Funds Management Limited

（一間以新加坡物業為主之基金管理公司）之

主席兼董事。彼於該兩公司所擔任之董事職

務為非執行董事。
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
(continued)
Mr. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick is a Director of Centrepoint Group which

is a property investment and development company in Singapore. He is

also an Alternate Director to Dr. Han Cheng Fong of Fraser and Neave

Limited.

Mr. Tan Ser Ping is a Director of Ascendas (India) Private Limited, Ascendas

Funds Management (Australia) Pty Limited, Ascendas Investment Pte

Ltd., Ascendas, Ascendas Land (Singapore) Pte Ltd., Ascendas Land

International Pte Ltd., Information Technology Park Investment Pte Ltd.,

Ascendas (China) Pte Ltd., Singapore-Cikarang Investment Pte Ltd.,

Karimun Investment Holdings Pte Ltd., JTCI Industrial Holdings (Bangkok)

Pte Ltd., KK-JTCI (Thailand) Co., Ltd., Vietnam-Singapore Industrial Park

Pte Ltd., Vietnam-Singapore Industrial Park JV Co., Ltd., Singapore

Suzhou Industrial Holdings Pte Ltd., Ascendas Holdings (Manila) Pte Ltd.,

Sembcorp Parks Management Pte Ltd., Ascendas (Korea) Pte Ltd.,

Springboard ABS Specialty Company L.L.C., Ascendas (Australia) Pte

Ltd., Ascendas (Philippines) Corporation, Century Development

Corporation, a member of Board of Commissioner of PT Batamindo

Investment Cakrawala, PT Bintan Inti Industrial Estate Corporation, PT

Batamindo Executive Village and is an Alternate Director to Ms. Chong

Siak Ching and Mr. Lew Syn Pau in Vision Century Limited, an Alternate

Director to Ms. Chong Siak Ching in Information Technology Park Limited,

which are engaged in investment holding, real estate development and

provision of consultancy services.

董事於競爭業務之權益（續）

吳榮鈿先生為先得坊集團之董事，該公司乃

一間在新加坡從事物業投資及發展之公司。

此外，彼於花莎尼有限公司亦為韓禎豐博士

之替任董事。

陳思伻先生為Ascendas (India) Private Limited、

Ascendas Funds Management (Australia) Pty

Limited、Ascendas Investment Pte Ltd.、騰飛、

騰飛置地（新加坡）私人有限公司、Ascendas

Land International Pte Ltd.、 Information

Technology Park Investment Pte Ltd.、騰飛（中

國）私人有限公司、 S ingapore-C ikarang

Investment Pte Ltd.、Karimun Investment Holdings

Pte Ltd.、 JTCI Industrial Holdings (Bangkok) Pte

Ltd.、KK-JTCI (Thailand) Co., Ltd.、Vietnam-

Singapore Industrial Park Pte Ltd.、Vietnam-

Singapore Industrial Park JV Co., Ltd.、新加坡蘇

州工業集團私人有限公司、Ascendas Holdings

(Manila) Pte Ltd.、 Sembcorp Parks Management

Pte Ltd.、Ascendas (Korea) Pte Ltd.、Springboard

ABS Specialty Company L.L.C.、 Ascendas

(Australia) Pte Ltd.、Ascendas (Philippines)

Corporation及世正開發股份有限公司之董事，

PT Batamindo Investment Cakrawala、 PT Bintan

Inti Industrial Estate Corporation及 PT Batamindo

Executive Village之監理委員會會員，以及於Vision

Century Limited 擔任張雪倩女士及劉信保先生

之替任董事，及於 Information Technology Park

Limited擔任張雪倩女士之替任董事，該公司

乃從事投資控股、房地產開發及提供顧問服

務。
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
(continued)
The board of the Company is an independent entity and is independent

of the abovementioned companies in which the directors cited have

representations. The Group carries on its business independently and

its businesses neither compete nor are likely to compete with the

businesses of the abovementioned companies.

Directors’ Service Contracts
Mr. Ang Ah Lay had entered into service contract with the Company

with no specific term and the service contract will continue until

determined by either party giving not less than six months’ notice in

writing to other party at any time (including during any such initial term).

As at 31 December 2003, no contract had been terminated by either

party.

During the year, no director had a service contract with any member of

the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one

year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

Major Customers and Suppliers
For the year ended 31 December 2003, the five largest suppliers and

the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 70%

and 35% of the total value of the Group’s purchases respectively.

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers

was less than 30% of the Group’s turnover.

At no time during the year did the directors, their associates or any

shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors

own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have any

beneficial interests in these suppliers or customers referred to above.

Retirement Benefits Scheme
Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 10

to the financial statements.

董事於競爭業務之權益（續）

本公司董事局乃一獨立體，與上述董事任職

之公司概無關連。本集團獨立自主運作其業

務及其業務不會亦不可能會與上述公司之業

務產生競爭。

董事之服務合約
洪亞歷先生與本公司訂立無固定任期之服務

合約，並將持續生效，直至任何一方於任何

時間（包括任何該等初期任期）向對方發出不

少於六個月之書面通知而予以終止為止。於

二零零三年十二月三十一日，概無任何一方

終止服務合約。

於年內，概無董事與本公司之任何成員公司

訂立不可於一年內由本公司決定無償（法定

賠償除外）終止之服務合約。

主要客戶及供應商
截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度，本

集團之五大供應商及最大供應商分別佔本集

團約70%及35%。

本集團五大客戶所佔總營業額少於本集團營

業額的30%。

概無本公司董事、彼等之聯繫人或任何股東

（指據董事所知擁有本公司5%以上已發行股

本之股東）於上述之供應商或客戶中擁有任

何實益權益。

退休福利計劃
本集團退休福利計劃之詳情載於財務報告附

註10。
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Pre-Emptive Rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-

laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under the

laws in Bermuda.

Employee Information
As at 31 December 2003, the Company and its subsidiaries had 404

employees. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive levels

while bonuses may be granted on a discretionary basis. Other employee

benefits include provident fund, insurance and medical cover, subsidised

educational and training programmes as well as a share option scheme.

Compliance with the Code of Best Practice of the
Listing Rules
In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the Code

of Best Practice (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing

Rules throughout the accounting period covered by the annual report

of the Company, except that the independent non-executive directors

of the Company are not appointed for specific term as required by

paragraph 7 of the Code, but are subject to retirement by rotation and

re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance

with the bye-laws of the Company.

Audit Committee
Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company has

established an Audit Committee comprising a non-executive director

and three independent non-executive directors of the Company. A set

of written terms of reference, which described the authority and duties

of the Audit Committee, was adopted by the Board.

The Audit Committee is answerable to the Board and the principal duties

of the Audit Committee include the review and supervision of the Group’s

financial reporting process and internal controls. The Audit Committee

had reviewed, together with the management of the Company, the

accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and had

discussed auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters,

including the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2003.

優先認股權
本公司之細則中並無優先認股權之條文，而

百慕達之法例亦無對此等權利之限制。

僱員資料
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本公司及其

附屬公司共僱用404名員工。僱員之薪酬維

持於具競爭力之水平，而花紅則可按酌情基

準授出。其他僱員福利包括強積金、保險及

醫療保險、教育及培訓津貼計劃，以及認購

權計劃。

遵守上市規則最佳應用守則

董事局認為，本公司於本公司年報之會計期

間內一直遵守上市規則附錄14所載之最佳應

用守則（「守則」），惟根據守則第7段規定，

本公司之獨立非執行董事並無固定任期，惟

須按照本公司細則於股東週年大會上輪值告

退及膺選連任。

審核委員會
根據上市規則規定，本公司已成立審核委員

會，由本公司一位非執行董事及三位獨立非

執行董事組成。董事局已採納詳述審核委員

會之權力及職責之職權範圍書。

審核委員會乃向董事會負責，其主要職責包

括審閱及監督本集團之財務報告程序及內部

監控。審核委員會已聯同本公司管理層已審

閱本集團所採納之會計政策及慣例，並就審

核、內部監控及財務報表等事宜（包括本集

團截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度之

經審核綜合財務報告）進行磋商。
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Remuneration Committee
The Company has established a Remuneration Committee comprising

one independent non-executive director and two non-executive directors.

A set of written terms of reference, which described the authority and

duties of the Remuneration Committee, was adopted by the Board on

11 October 2002.

The Remuneration Committee’s objectives are to establish and maintain

an appropriate and competitive level of remuneration to attract, retain

and motivate directors and key executives to run the Company

successfully. The Remuneration Committee will ensure that the

remuneration policies and systems of the Group support the Group’s

objectives and strategies.

The remuneration details of directors during the year are set out on

page 99 of this report.

Auditors
A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as

auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General

Meeting is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Han Cheng Fong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 March 2004

酬金委員會
本公司已成立由一名獨立非執行董事及兩名

非執行董事組成之酬金委員會。董事局已於

二零零二年十月十一日採納詳述酬金委員會

權力及職責之職權範圍書。

酬金委員會之宗旨為建立及維持適當及具競

爭力之薪酬水平，以吸引、挽留及鼓勵董事

及行政要員，藉此帶領本公司邁向成功。酬

金委員會將確保本集團的酬金政策及制度均

支持本集團之目標及策略。

年內董事之酬金詳情載於年報第99頁。

核數師
本公司將於應屆股東週年大會提呈決議案，

續聘羅兵咸永道會計師事務所為本公司核數

師，直至舉行下屆股東週年大會結束為止。

代表董事局

韓禎豐博士

主席

香港，二零零四年三月十六日



69

VISION CENTURY CORPORATION LIMITED    威新集團有限公司  |  Annual Report 2003 二零零三年年報

Auditors’ Report 核數師報告書

致 威新集團有限公司

（於百慕達註冊成立之有限公司）

全體股東

本核數師已完成審核第71頁至第137頁之財

務報告，該等財務報告乃按照香港普遍採納

之會計原則編製。

董事及核數師各自之責任

編製真實兼公平之財務報告乃 貴公司董事

之責任。在編製該等真實兼公平之財務報告

時，董事必須採用適當之會計政策，並且貫

徹應用該等會計政策。

本核數師之責任是根據審核之結果，對該等

財務報告出具獨立意見，並按照百慕達1981

年公司法第90條僅向整體股東報告，除此之

外本報告別無其他目的。本核數師不會就本

報告的內容向任何其他人負上或承擔任何責

任。

意見之基礎

本核數師已按照香港會計師公會所頒佈之核

數準則進行審核工作。審核範圍包括以抽查

方式查核與財務報告所載數額及披露事項有

關之憑證，亦包括評審董事於編製財務報告

時所作出之重大估計和判斷，所採用之會計

政策是否適合 貴公司與 貴集團之具體情

況，及有否貫徹應用並足夠披露該等會計政

策。

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

VISION CENTURY CORPORATION LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 71 to 137 which

have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in Hong Kong.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial

statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing financial

statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that

appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our

audit, on those financial statements and to report our opinion solely to

you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act

1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume

responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing

Standards issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. An audit

includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment

of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in

the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the

accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company

and the Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
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本核數師在策劃和進行審核工作時，均以取

得所有本核數師認為必需之資料及解釋為目

標，以便獲得充分憑證，就該等財務報告是

否存有重大錯誤陳述，作出合理之確定。在

作出意見時，本核數師亦已評估該等財務報

告所載之資料在整體上是否足夠。本核數師

相信我們之審核工作已為下列意見提供合理

之基礎。

意見

本核數師認為，上述之財務報告足以真實兼

公平地顯示 貴公司與 貴集團於二零零三

年十二月三十一日結算時之財務狀況，及貴

集團截至該日止年度之虧損及現金流量，並

按照香港公司條例之披露規定妥為編製。

羅兵咸永道會計師事務所

香港執業會計師

香港，二零零四年三月十六日

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information

and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us

with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the

financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming

our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation

of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the

state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December

2003 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended

and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 16 March 2004
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For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

(In HK$’000) Note 附註 2003 2002

Turnover 2 184,989 443,431

Cost of sales (143,218) (338,696)

Direct operating expenses (85,026) (87,313)

Gross (loss)/profit (43,255) 17,422

Other revenues 2 3,447 7,142

Provisions made for

operations 3 (36,919) (58,785)

Administrative expenses (46,529) (47,514)

Other expenses, net (3,212) (730)

Operating loss 4 (126,468) (82,465)

Finance costs 5 (10,221) (21,991)

Non-operating provisions

made 6 (739,082) (142,301)

Share of results of

associated companies 4,340 (26,355)

Share of results of

a jointly controlled entity 2,299 (3,909)

Loss before taxation (869,132) (277,021)

Taxation 7 2,793 (780)

Loss after taxation (866,339) (277,801)

Minority interests 20,236 10,782

Loss attributable to

shareholders 8 (846,103) (267,019)

Loss per share - basic 9 (29.8) cents (11.3) cents

（以港幣千元為單位）

營業額

銷售成本

直接經營開支

（虧損）／毛利

其他收益

就經營業務

作出撥備

行政開支

其他開支淨額

經營虧損

財務費用

就非經營業務

作出撥備

應佔聯營公司

業績

應佔共同控制企業

業績

除稅前虧損

稅項

除稅後虧損

少數股東權益

股東應佔

虧損

每股虧損－基本



綜合資產負債表Consolidated Balance Sheet

72

VISION CENTURY CORPORATION LIMITED    威新集團有限公司  |  Annual Report 2003 二零零三年年報

As at 31 December 2003 於二零零三年十二月三十一日

(In HK$’000) Note 附註 2003 2002

Non-current assets
Fixed assets 12 338,328 781,587
Intangible assets 13 (1,550) 112,241
Interests in associated companies 15 1,152 56,814
Interest in a jointly controlled

entity 16 105,089 145,286
Investments in equity securities 17 16,387 16,847
Deferred tax assets 26 2,793 –

462,199 1,112,775
--------------- ---------------

Current assets
Amount due from a

related company – 7,241
Properties held for sale 18 119,316 122,647
Properties under development 19 513,223 515,148
Inventories – 184
Debtors, deposits and

prepayments 20 306,905 368,819
Bank balances and cash 271,178 327,482

1,210,622 1,341,521
--------------- ---------------

Current liabilities
Creditors and accruals 21 324,350 309,081
Bank and other borrowings 22 474,164 223,014

798,514 532,095
--------------- ---------------

Net current assets 412,108 809,426
--------------- ---------------

Total assets less current liabilities 874,307 1,922,201

Financed by:
Share capital 23 283,619 283,619
Reserves 25 417,424 1,265,782

Shareholders’ funds 701,043 1,549,401

Minority interests 94,926 208,691

Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings 22 78,338 164,109

874,307 1,922,201

（以港幣千元為單位）

非流動資產

固定資產

無形資產

聯營公司權益

共同控股企業

權益

股本證券投資

遞延稅項資產

流動資產

有關連公司欠款

待出售物業

發展中物業

存貨

應收賬款、按金及

預付款項

銀行結餘及現金

流動負債

應付賬款及應計賬項

銀行及其他貸款

流動淨資產

總資產減流動負債

資金來源：

股本

儲備

股東基金

少數股東權益

非流動負債

銀行及其他貸款

Dr. Han Cheng Fong Mr. Ang Ah Lay
Chairman Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

韓禎豐博士 洪亞歷先生

主席 執行董事兼行政總裁
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As at 31 December 2003 於二零零三年十二月三十一日

(In HK$’000) Note 附註 2003 2002

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries 14 708,111 1,466,710

Investments in equity

securities 17 6,465 6,465

714,576 1,473,175
--------------- ---------------

Current assets

Debtors, deposits and

prepayments 20 465 799

Bank balances and cash 146,054 164,244

146,519 165,043
--------------- ---------------

Current liabilities

Creditors and accruals 21 5,560 3,895

Bank and other borrowings 22 79,794 10,000

85,354 13,895
--------------- ---------------

Net current assets 61,165 151,148
--------------- ---------------

Total assets less current

liabilities 775,741 1,624,323

Financed by:

Share capital 23 283,619 283,619

Reserves 25 492,122 1,340,704

Shareholders’ funds 775,741 1,624,323

Dr. Han Cheng Fong Mr. Ang Ah Lay

Chairman Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

韓禎豐博士 洪亞歷先生

主席 執行董事兼行政總裁

（以港幣千元為單位）

非流動資產

附屬公司權益

股本證券

投資

流動資產

應收賬款、按金及

預付款項

銀行結餘及現金

流動負債

應付賬款及應計賬項

銀行及其他貸款

流動淨資產

總資產減流動

負債

資金來源：

股本

儲備

股東基金
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For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

(In HK$’000) Note 附註 2003 2002

Total equity as at 1 January 1,549,401 1,220,762
--------------- ---------------

Revaluation deficit on

investment properties – (19,575)

Exchange differences arising

on translation of overseas

operations 25 (2,255) (67)

Net loss not recognised

in the income statement (2,255) (19,642)

Loss for the year 25 (846,103) (267,019)

Goodwill reserve charged to

the income statement – 106,694

Adjustment to goodwill – 20,000

Issue of shares – 490,666

Share issue expenses – (2,060)

Total equity as at 31 December 701,043 1,549,401

（以港幣千元為單位）

於一月一日之總權益

投資物業重估

虧絀

換算海外業務

所產生之

匯兌差額

未於收益表中確認之虧損

淨額

年度虧損

收益表中扣除之商譽

儲備

商譽調整

發行股份

股份發行費用

於十二月三十一日之總權益
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For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

(In HK$’000) Note 附註 2003 2002

Net cash (outflow)/inflow
generated from operations 27(a) (9,293) 135,299

--------------- ---------------
Investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets (174,960) (10,763)
Purchase of intangible assets – (165)
Acquisition of subsidiaries – (10,074)
Additional investment in

subsidiaries (63,900) –
Sale of fixed assets 807 2,194
Sale of non-trading securities – 5,035
Sale of subsidiaries 27(b) (380) –
Interest received 1,499 2,717
Dividend received – 1,963
Decrease in amount due from

a jointly controlled entity 2,495 –
Decrease in amounts due from

associated companies 60,003 4,315

Net cash outflow from
investing activities (174,436) (4,778)

--------------- ---------------
Net cash (outflow)/inflow

before financing (183,729) 130,521
--------------- ---------------

Financing 27(c)
Issue of ordinary shares – 350,266
Share issue expenses – (2,060)
Interest paid (22,116) (32,135)
Net (repayment to)/advance

from minority shareholders (14,224) 103,707
New bank and other borrowings 529,219 540,262
Repayment of bank and

other borrowings (382,372) (821,041)
Repayment of convertible bonds – (66,000)

Net cash inflow from financing 110,507 72,999
--------------- ---------------

(Decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents (73,222) 203,520

Cash and cash equivalents
at 1 January 327,482 124,025

Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes (2,876) (63)

Cash and cash equivalents
at 31 December 251,384 327,482

Analysis of balances of cash
and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash 271,178 327,482
Bank overdrafts (19,794) –

251,384 327,482

（以港幣千元為單位）

經營產生之現金（流出）／流入

淨額

投資業務

購入固定資產

購入無形資產

收購附屬公司

增購附屬公司

權益

出售固定資產

出售非買賣證券

出售附屬公司

已收利息

已收股息

共同控制企業

欠款減少

聯營公司

欠款減少

投資業務之現金流出

淨額

融資前之現金（流出）／流入

淨額

融資

發行普通股

股份發行費用

支付利息

少數股東（還款）／墊款

淨額

新增之銀行及其他貸款

償還銀行及其他

貸款

償還可換股債券

融資之現金流入淨額

現金及現金等值項目之

（減少）／增加

於一月一日之現金及

現金等值項目

外幣匯率變動之

影響

於十二月三十一日之現金及

現金等值項目

現金及現金等值項目

結餘分析：

銀行結餘及現金

銀行透支
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For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

1 Principal accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of

these financial statements are set out below:

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong

and comply with accounting standards issued by the Hong

Kong Society of Accountants (“HKSA”). They have been

prepared under the historical cost convention except that, as

disclosed in the accounting policies below, certain investment

properties and investments in securities are stated at fair value.

In the current year, the Group adopted the Statement of

Standard Accounting Practice (“SSAP”) 12 (Revised) “Income

Taxes” issued by the HKSA which is effective for accounting

periods commencing on or after 1 January 2003.

The changes to the Group’s accounting policies and the effect

of adopting this revised policy are set out below.

(b) Group accounting

(i) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the

financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are those entities

in which the Group controls the composition of the board

of directors, controls more than one half of the voting

power or holds more than half of the issued share capital.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during

the year are included in the consolidated income

statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to

the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

1 主要會計政策
編製此等財務報告所採用之主要會計政

策如下：

(a) 編製基準

本財務報告乃按照香港普遍採納之

會計原則及香港會計師公會頒佈之

會計準則編製。財務報告並依據歷

史成本常規法編製，惟若干投資物

業及證券投資乃按公平值列賬（載

於以下之會計政策）。

於本年度，本集團採納由香港會計

師公會頒佈之會計實務準則（「會計

實務準則」）第12號（經修訂）「所得

稅」，該項會計實務準則於二零零

三年一月一日或以後開始之會計期

間生效。

本集團會計政策之變動及採納此經

修訂政策之影響如下。

(b) 集團會計

(i) 綜合財務報告

綜合財務報告包括本公司及其

附屬公司截至十二月三十一日

止之財務報告。附屬公司指本

集團控制董事局之組成超過半

數投票權或持有過半數已發行

股本之公司。

在年內購入或售出之附屬公司，

其業績由收購生效日起計或計

至出售生效日止（取其適用者）

列入綜合收益表內。



Notes to the Financial Statements 財務報告附註

77

VISION CENTURY CORPORATION LIMITED    威新集團有限公司  |  Annual Report 2003 二零零三年年報

For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(b) Group accounting (continued)

(i) Consolidation (continued)

All significant intercompany transactions and balances

within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

The gain or loss on disposal of a subsidiary represents

the difference between the proceeds of the sale and the

Group’s share of its net assets together with any

unamortised goodwill or goodwill taken to reserves and

which was not previously charged or recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside

shareholders in the operating results and net assets of

subsidiaries.

In the Company’s balance sheet the interests in

subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for impairment

losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by

the Company on the basis of dividends received and

receivable.

(ii) Joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby

the Group and other parties undertake an economic

activity which is subject to joint control and none of the

participating parties has unilateral control over the

economic activity. A joint venture which involves the

establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer

has an interest is referred to as a jointly controlled entity.

The consolidated income statement includes the Group’s

share of the results of the jointly controlled entity for the

year, and the consolidated balance sheet includes the

Group’s share of the net assets of the jointly controlled

entity and goodwill (net of accumulated amortisation)

on acquisition.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(b) 集團會計（續）

(i) 綜合財務報告（續）

所有集團內公司間之重大交易

及結餘已於綜合財務報告時對

銷。

出售附屬公司之收益或虧損指

出售所得之收入與本集團應佔

該公司淨資產之差額，連同之

前並未在綜合收益表內支銷或

入賬之任何未攤銷商譽，或已

在儲備記賬之商譽。

少數股東權益指外界股東在附

屬公司之經營業績及資產淨值

中擁有之權益。

在本公司之資產負債表，附屬

公司權益以成本值扣除減值虧

損準備入賬。本公司將附屬公

司之業績按已收及應收股息入

賬。

(ii) 合營企業

合營企業指本集團與其他人士

以合約協議方式共同進行經濟

活動，該活動受雙方共同控制，

任何一方均沒有單方面之控制

權。任何合營企業倘涉及成立

一間獨立企業（於當中各企業

經營者均擁有權益），皆被視

為共同控制企業。

綜合收益表包括本集團應佔共

同控制企業本年度業績，而綜

合資產負債表則包括本集團應

佔共同控制企業之資產淨值及

收購產生之商譽（扣除累計攤

銷）。
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For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(b) Group accounting (continued)

(iii) Associated companies

An associated company is a company, not being a

subsidiary, in which an equity interest is held for the long-

term and significant influence is exercised in its

management.

The consolidated income statement includes the Group’s

share of the results of associated companies for the year,

and the consolidated balance sheet includes the Group’s

share of the net assets of the associated companies and

goodwill (net of accumulated amortisation) on

acquisition.

(iv) Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary

assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies at

the balance sheet date are translated at rates of exchange

ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences

arising in these cases are dealt with in the income

statement.

The balance sheet of subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity

and associated companies expressed in foreign currencies

is translated at rates of exchange ruling at the balance

sheet date whilst the income statement is translated at

an average rate. Exchange differences are dealt with as

a movement in reserves.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(b) 集團會計（續）

(iii) 聯營公司

聯營公司為附屬公司以外，本

集團持有其股權作長期投資，

並對其管理具有重大影響力之

公司。

綜合收益表包括本集團應佔聯

營公司之本年度業績，而綜合

資產負債表則包括本集團應佔

聯營公司之資產淨值及收購產

生之商譽（扣除累計攤銷）。

(iv) 外幣換算

以外幣為本位之交易，均按交

易當日之匯率折算。於結算日

以外幣顯示之貨幣資產與負債

則按結算日之匯率折算。由此

產生之匯兌盈虧均計入收益表。

附屬公司、共同控制企業及聯

營公司以外幣顯示之資產負債

表均按結算日之匯率折算，而

收益表則按平均匯率折算。由

此產生之匯兌盈虧作為儲備變

動入賬。
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For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(c) Fixed assets

(i) Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings

in respect of which construction work and development

have been completed and which are held for their

investment potential, any rental income being negotiated

at arm’s length.

Investment properties held on leases with unexpired

periods of greater than 20 years are valued at intervals

of not more than three years by independent valuers; in

each of the intervening years valuations are undertaken

by professionally qualified executives of the Group. The

valuations are on an open market value basis related to

individual properties and separate values are not

attributed to land and buildings. The valuations are

incorporated in the annual financial statements. Increases

in valuation are credited to the investment properties

revaluation reserve. Decreases in valuation are first set

off against increases on earlier valuations on a portfolio

basis and thereafter are debited to operating profit. Any

subsequent increases are credited to operating profit up

to the amount previously debited.

Investment properties held on leases with unexpired

periods of 20 years or less are depreciated over the

remaining portion of the leases.

Upon the disposal of an investment property, the relevant

portion of the revaluation reserve realised in respect of

previous valuations is released from the investment

properties revaluation reserve to the income statement.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(c) 固定資產

(i) 投資物業

投資物業乃在土地及樓宇中所

佔之權益，而該等土地及樓宇

之建築工程及發展經已完成，

因其具有投資價值而持有，任

何租金收入按公平原則磋商。

持有之投資物業，若其租約尚

餘年期超過20年，皆由獨立估

值師最少每隔三年估值一次；

相隔期間每年由本集團內具專

業資格之高級職員負責估值。

估值是以個別物業之公開市值

為計算基準，而土地及樓宇並

不分開估值。估值會用於年度

財務報告內。重估之增值撥入

投資物業重估儲備，減值則首

先以整個組合為基礎與先前之

增值對銷，然後從經營溢利中

扣除。其後任何增值將撥入經

營溢利，惟最高以先前扣減之

金額為限。

租約尚餘20年或以下年期之投

資物業均按租約尚餘年期折舊。

在出售投資物業時，重估儲備

中與先前估值有關之已變現部

分，將從投資物業重估儲備轉

撥至收益表。
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For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(c) Fixed assets (continued)

(ii) Properties held for development

Properties held for development are investments in land

and buildings on which construction work has not been

completed and which, upon completion, management

intend to hold for investment purposes. These properties

are carried at cost which includes development and

construction expenditure incurred and interest and other

direct costs attributable to the development less any

accumulated impairment losses. On completion, the

properties are transferred to investment properties at cost

less accumulated impairment losses.

(iii) Other fixed assets

Other fixed assets are stated at costs less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided at rates sufficient to write off

the costs of fixed assets less accumulated impairment

losses over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line

basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Buildings in China Over the remaining term of

the lease or 5% whichever is

higher

Motor vehicles 12% to 20%

Office equipment, 19.2% to 33.33%

furniture and fixtures

Leasehold improvements 20%

Improvements are capitalised and depreciated over their

expected useful lives to the Group.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(c) 固定資產（續）

(ii) 持有作發展用途之物業

持有作發展用途之物業指建築

工程仍未完成之土地及樓宇之

投資，而管理層有意在工程完

成後持有作投資用途。此等物

業以成本值列賬，包括發展及

建築及屬於發展項目之費用、

利息及其他直接成本，扣除任

何累積減值虧損。物業於落成

後將轉撥為投資物業，按成本

扣除任何累積減值虧損列賬。

(iii) 其他固定資產

其他固定資產以成本值減累積

折舊及累積減值虧損列賬。折

舊乃以直線法於固定資產之估

計可用年限內將其成本值減累

積減值虧損撇銷。主要之折舊

年率如下：

位於中國 按租約剩餘使用

之樓宇 年限或5%，

以較高者為準

汽車 12%至20%

辦公室設備、 19.2%至33.33%

傢俬及裝置

租約物業裝修 20%

裝修改良支出均資本化，並按

其對本集團之預計可用年期折

舊。
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For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(c) Fixed assets (continued)

(iv) Impairment and gain or loss on sale

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external

sources of information are considered to assess whether

there is any indication that assets included in properties

held for development and other fixed assets are impaired.

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of

the asset is estimated and where relevant, an impairment

loss is recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable

amount. Such impairment losses are recognised in the

income statement except where the asset is carried at

valuation and the impairment loss does not exceed the

revaluation surplus for that same asset, in which case it

is treated as a revaluation decrease.

The gain or loss on disposal of a fixed asset other than

investment properties is the difference between the net

sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant

asset, and is recognised in the income statement.

(d) Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of assets remain with the leasing company are

accounted for as operating leases. Payments made under

operating leases net of any incentives received from the leasing

company are charged to the income statement on a straight-

line basis over the lease periods.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(c) 固定資產（續）

(iv) 減值與出售盈虧

在每年結算日，均須研究內外

資訊以評估持有作發展用途之

物業及其他固定資產項內之資

產是否出現減值。如有跡象顯

示資產出現減值，則估計資產

之可收回價值，及（如適用）將

減值虧損入賬以將資產減至其

可收回價值。此等減值虧損在

收益表內入賬，但假若某資產

乃按估值列賬，而減值虧損不

超過該資產之重估盈餘，此等

虧損則當作重估減值。

出售固定資產（投資物業除外）

之收益或虧損指出售所得收入

淨額與有關資產賬面值之差額，

並於收益表內入賬。

(d) 經營租賃

經營租賃是指擁有資產之風險及回

報基本上全部由出租公司保留之租

賃。根據經營租賃作出之付款在扣

除自出租公司收取之任何獎勵金後，

於租賃期內以直線法在收益表中支

銷。
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(e) Intangibles assets

(i) Goodwill/negative goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an

acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the

net assets of the acquired subsidiary, jointly controlled

entity or associated company at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions occurring on or after 1 January

2001 is included in intangible assets and is amortised

using the straight-line method over its estimated useful

life not exceeding 20 years.

Goodwill on acquisitions that occurred prior to 1 January

2001 was eliminated against reserves. Any impairment

arising on such goodwill is accounted for in the income

statement.

Negative goodwill represents the excess of the fair value

of the Group’s share of the net assets acquired over the

cost of acquisition.

For acquisitions after 1 January 2001, negative goodwill

is presented in the same balance sheet classification as

goodwill. To the extent that negative goodwill relates to

expectations of future losses and expenses that are

identified in the Group’s plan for the acquisition and can

be measured reliably, but which do not represent

identifiable liabilities at the date of acquisition, that

portion of negative goodwill is recognised in the income

statement when the future losses and expenses are

recognised. Any remaining negative goodwill, not

exceeding the fair values of the non-monetary assets

acquired, is recognised in the income statement over the

remaining weighted average useful life of those assets;

negative goodwill in excess of the fair values of those

non-monetary assets is recognised in the income

statement immediately.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(e) 無形資產

(i) 商譽／負商譽

商譽指收購成本超出於收購日

本集團應佔所收購附屬公司、

共同控制企業或聯營公司之淨

資產之數額。

於二零零一年一月一日或以後

產生之收購商譽計入無形資產，

並於其不超逾20年之估計可用

年期以直線法攤銷。

於二零零一年一月一日前產生

之收購商譽於儲備中撇銷。若

該商譽有耗蝕，所產生之任何

減值均記入收益表。

負商譽指本集團應佔所購淨資

產公平值超出收購成本之數額。

於二零零一年一月一日後進行

之收購，負商譽於資產負債表

內之分類方式與商譽一樣。涉

及本集團收購計劃內已識別之

預期未來虧損及開支並能可靠

地量度之負商譽，於未來虧損

及開支可予確認時在收益表確

認，惟此等負商譽不代表收購

日之可予識別負債。任何剩餘

負商譽，以不超過購入非貨幣

性資產之公平值為限，按該等

資產餘下之加權平均可用年期

在收益表內確認；而超出該等

非貨幣性資產公平值之負商譽

乃即時於收益表內確認。
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(e) Intangibles assets (continued)

(i) Goodwill/negative goodwill (continued)

The gain or loss on disposal of an entity includes the

unamortised balance of goodwill relating to the entity

disposed of or, for pre 1 January 2001 acquisitions, the

related goodwill written off against reserves to the extent

it has not previously been realised in the income

statement.

(ii) Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred

on development projects relating to the design and

testing of new or improved products are recognised as

an intangible asset where the technical feasibility and

intention of completing the product under development

has been demonstrated and the resources are available

to do so, costs are identifiable and there is an ability to

sell or use the asset that will generate probable future

economic benefits. Such development costs are

recognised as an asset and amortised on a straight-line

basis over the expected useful life to the Group.

Development costs that do not meet the above criteria

are expensed as incurred.

(iii) Impairment of intangible assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying

amount of any intangible asset, including goodwill

previously written off against reserves, is assessed and

written down immediately to its recoverable amount.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(e) 無形資產（續）

(i) 商譽／負商譽（續）

出售某實體之損益包括與所出

售實體有關商譽之未攤銷結餘，

或倘若於二零零一年一月一日

前進行有關收購，則包括已於

儲備中撇銷但之前並未於收益

表變現之有關商譽。

(ii) 研究及開發成本

研究成本作為費用支銷。假若

能夠證明開發中產品技術上可

行及有意完成產品，而亦有資

源協助、成本可予識別，及有

能力出售或使用該資產而能賺

取盈利，則將新產品或改良產

品之設計及測試之開發成本確

認為無形資產。此等開發成本

確認為資產，並於其估計可用

年限內按直線法將其攤銷。不

符合上述條件之開發成本作費

用支銷。

(iii) 無形資產之減值

如有跡象顯示出現減值，則無

形資產之賬面值，包括之前已

在儲備記賬之商譽，均需評估

及即時撇減至可收回價值。
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(f) Investments in equity securities

Investments which are held for non-trading purpose are stated

at fair value at the balance sheet date. Changes in the fair

value of individual securities are credited or debited to the

investment revaluation reserve until the security is sold, or is

determined to be impaired. Upon disposal, the cumulative

gain or loss representing the difference between the net sales

proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant security,

together with any surplus/deficit transferred from the

investment revaluation reserve, is dealt with in the income

statement.

Where there is objective evidence that individual investments

are impaired, the cumulative losses recorded in the revaluation

reserve are taken to the income statement.

(g) Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is determined by apportionment of the total development

costs, including capitalised borrowing costs, attributable to

the unsold units. Net realisable value is determined on the

basis of anticipated sales proceeds, or management estimates

based on the prevailing market conditions, less all estimated

costs to completion and selling expenses.

(h) Properties under development

Properties under development for sale are classified under

current assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

Cost of properties under development comprises costs of

acquisition to the Group, development costs, capitalised

borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to the

development. Net realisable value is determined by reference

to anticipated sales proceeds, or management estimates based

on prevailing market conditions, less all estimated costs to

completion and selling expenses.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(f) 股本證券投資

持作非買賣用途之投資按結算日之

公平值入賬。個別證券公平值之變

動在投資重估儲備中貸記或支銷，

直至有關證券售出或釐定為價值耗

蝕為止。出售證券之累計收益或虧

損指出售所得款項淨額與有關證券

賬面值之差額，連同轉撥自投資重

估儲備之任何盈餘／虧絀，並在收

益表處理。

假若有客觀證據顯示個別投資之價

值已下降，則在重估儲備中記錄之

累積虧損須撥往收益表。

(g) 待出售物業

待出售物業乃按成本值與可變現淨

值兩者中之較低者列賬。

成本乃按未出售單位之應佔總發展

成本（包括已撥充資本之借貸成本）

而釐定。可變現淨值乃按預計銷售

所得款項或按管理層就當時市況而

作出之估計減除直至完成時之所有

估計成本及營銷費用計算。

(h) 發展中物業

待出售之發展中物業乃按成本值與

可變現淨值兩者中之較低者列作流

動資產。

發展中物業之成本包括本集團動用

之收購成本、發展成本、資本化借

貸成本及該等發展之其他應佔直接

成本。可變現淨值乃按預計銷售所

得款項或按管理層就當時市況而作

出之估計減除直至完成時之所有估

計成本及營銷費用計算。
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(i) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost is calculated on the weighted average cost method.

Net realisable value is determined on the basis of anticipated

sales proceeds less estimated selling expenses.

(j) Trade debtors

Provision is made against trade debtors to the extent they are

considered to be doubtful. Trade debtors in the balance sheet

are stated net of such provision.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at

cost. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and

cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call

with banks and bank overdrafts.

(l) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal

or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle

the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be

made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed,

the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only

when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

(m) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service

leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A

provision is made for the estimated liability for annual

leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered

by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave

are not recognised until the time of leave.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(i) 存貨

存貨按成本值與可變現淨值兩者之

較低者入賬。成本值以加權平均成

本法計算。可變現淨值乃按預計銷

售所得款項扣除估計營銷費用計算。

(j) 應收貿易賬款

凡被視為屬呆賬之應收貿易賬款，

均提撥準備。在資產負債表內列賬

之應收貿易賬款已扣除有關之準備。

(k) 現金及現金等值項目

現金及現金等值項目按成本在資產

負債表內列賬。在現金流量表中，

現金及現金等值項目包括庫存現金、

銀行通知存款及銀行透支。

(l) 撥備

當本集團因過往事件須承擔現有之

法律或推定責任，而在解除責任時

有可能令到資源流出，同時責任金

額能夠可靠地作出估計時，則會確

認撥備。當本集團預計撥備可獲償

付，則將償付金確認為一項獨立資

產，惟只能在償付金可實質確定時

確認。

(m) 僱員福利

(i) 僱員休假權益

僱員在年假及長期服務休假之

權利在僱員應享有時確認。本

集團為截至結算日止僱員已提

供之服務而產生之年假及長期

服務休假之估計負債作出撥備。

僱員之病假及產假不作確認，

直至僱員正式休假為止。
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(m) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to a defined contribution

retirement scheme which is available to all relevant

employees in Hong Kong. Contributions to the scheme

by the Group and employees are calculated as a

percentage of employees’ basic salaries.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution

retirement scheme are expensed as incurred and are

reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees

who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the

contributions.

The assets of the scheme are held separately from those

of the Group in an independently administered fund.

In additions, the Group’s contributions to local municipal

government retirement schemes in China are expensed

as incurred while the local municipal government

undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations

of all qualified employees in China.

(iii) Equity compensation benefits

Share options are granted to certain directors and to

eligible persons. No compensation cost is recognised.

When the options are exercised, the proceeds received

net of any transaction costs are credited to share capital

and share premium.

(n) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from

past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain

future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It

can also be a present obligation arising from past events that

is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of

economic resources will be required or the amount of

obligation cannot be measured reliably.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(m) 僱員福利（續）

(ii) 退休福利成本

本集團向一項界定供款退休計

劃供款，所有有關香港僱員均

可參與。集團與僱員之供款按

僱員基本薪金之百分比計算。

本集團向該項界定供款退休計

劃作出之供款作為費用支銷，

並會以僱員全數取得供款利益

前退出計劃而被沒收之供款扣

減。

退休計劃之資產與集團之資產

分開持有，由獨立管理基金保

管。

此外，本集團亦參加中國各地

方政府設立的退休計劃，供款

乃於產生時列作支出。地方政

府承諾負擔所有國內合資格僱

員的退休福利責任。

(iii) 權益補償福利

若干董事及合資格人士可獲授

認股權。並無確認任何補償成

本。當行使認股權時，所得款

項在扣除任何交易成本後計入

股本及股份溢價。

(n) 或然負債

或然負債指因已發生的事件而可能

引起之責任，此等責任需就某一宗

或多宗事件會否發生才能確認，而

集團並不能完全控制這些未來事件

會否實現。或然負債亦可能是因為

發生事件引致之現有責任，但由於

可能不需要消耗經濟資源，或責任

金額未能可靠地衡量而未有入賬。
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(n) Contingent liabilities (continued)

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the

notes to the financial statements. When a change in the

probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable,

they will then be recognised as a provision.

(o) Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method,

on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial

statements. Taxation rates enacted or substantively enacted

by the balance sheet date are used to determine deferred

taxation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is

probable that future taxable profit will be available against

which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences arising

on interests in subsidiaries, associated companies and jointly

controlled entity, except where the timing of the reversal of

the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable

that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

In prior years, deferred taxation was accounted for at the

current taxation rate in respect of timing differences between

profit as computed for taxation purposes and profit as stated

in the financial statements to the extent that a liability or an

asset was expected to be payable or recoverable in the

foreseeable future. The adoption of the revised SSAP 12

represents a change in accounting policy, which has been

applied retrospectively. Nevertheless, the adoption of the

revised SSAP12 has not resulted in any changes to the prior

years’ net assets and results.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(n) 或然負債（續）

或然負債不會被確認，但會在財務

報告附註中披露。假若消耗資源之

可能性改變導致可能出現資源消耗，

此等負債將被確立為撥備。

(o) 遞延稅項

遞延稅項採用負債法就資產負債之

稅基與它們在財務報告之賬面值兩

者之暫時差異作全數撥備。遞延稅

項採用在結算日前已頒佈或實質頒

佈之稅率釐定。

遞延稅項資產乃就有可能將未來應

課稅溢利與可動用之暫時差異抵銷

而確認。

遞延稅項乃就附屬公司、聯營公司

及共同控制企業投資產生之暫時差

異而撥備，但假若可以控制暫時差

異之撥回，並有可能在可預見未來

不會撥回則除外。

往年度，遞延稅項乃因應就課稅而

計算之盈利與財務報告所示之盈利

兩者間之時間差，根據預期於可預

見將來支付或可收回之負債及資產

而按現行稅率計算。採納修訂之會

計實務準則第12號構成會計政策之

變動並已追溯應用，惟採納修訂之

會計實務準則第12號並無對以往期

間之淨資產及業績造成任何變動。
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(p) Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised on the

completion of transactions. When properties under

development for sale are pre-sold prior to completion, income

is recognised on the execution of a binding sales agreement

or when the relevant building occupation permit is issued by

the relevant authority, whichever is the later. Payments received

prior to this stage are recorded as deposits received and

included in current liabilities.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised on the transfer

of risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides

with the time when the goods are delivered to customers and

title has passed.

Operating lease rental income and license income is recognised

on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from the provision of services comprises course fee

income and systems integration service income. Course fee

income is recognised on an accrual basis. Unearned course

fee income is treated as revenue received in advance. Systems

integration service income is recognised when the services

are rendered.

Property management fee income is recognised when the

services are rendered.

Sale of trading securities is recognised on trade day or contract

date basis, where appropriate.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking

into account the principal amounts outstanding and the

interest rates applicable.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive

payment is established.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(p) 收益確認

出售物業之收益在交易完成時確認。

倘待出售之發展中物業於竣工前預

售，收益則在有約束力銷售協議履

行時或有關部門發出有關之樓宇入

伙紙時兩者中之較後者確認。在此

階段前收取之款項記賬為已收取按

金並列於流動負債。

銷貨收益在擁有權之風險及回報轉

移時確認，通常亦即為貨品付運予

客戶及所有權轉讓時。

經營租賃之租金收入及牌照收入按

直線法確認。

提供服務之收益包括課程費收入及

系統集成服務收入。課程費收入以

應計法確認。未賺取之課程費收入

作為預收收益處理。系統集成服務

收入於提供服務時確認。

物業管理費收入於提供服務時確認。

出售買賣證券按交易日或訂約日期

基準（倘適用）確認。

利息收入依據未償還本金額及適用

利率按時間比例確認。

股息收入在收取股息之權利確定時

確認。
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(q) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,

construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes

a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use

or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the income statement

in the year in which they are incurred.

(r) Segment reporting

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting,

the Group has determined that business segments be

presented as the primary reporting format and geographical

as the secondary reporting format.

Segment assets consist primarily of fixed assets, investment

properties, intangible assets, properties held for sale and under

development, receivables and operating cash. Segment

liabilities comprise operating liabilities and exclude corporate

borrowings. Capital expenditure comprises additions to fixed

assets (note 12) and intangible assets (note 13), including

additions resulting from acquisitions through purchases of

subsidiaries.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are based

on the country in which the customer is located. Total assets

and capital expenditure are where the assets are located.

1 主要會計政策（續）
(q) 借貸成本

凡直接與購置、興建或生產某項資

產（該資產必須經過頗長時間籌備

以作預定用途或出售）有關之借貸

成本，均資本化為資產之部分成本。

所有其他借貸成本均於發生年度內

在收益表支銷。

(r) 分部報告

按照本集團之內部財務報告，本集

團已決定將業務分部資料作為主要

報告形式，而地區分部資料則以次

要報告形式呈列。

分部資產主要包括固定資產、投資

物業、無形資產、待出售物業、發

展中物業、應收賬款及經營現金。

分部負債指經營負債，而不包括企

業貸款。資本開支包括購入固定資

產（附註12）及無形資產（附註13）的

費用，當中包括因收購附屬公司而

添置之資產。

至於地區分部報告，銷售額乃按照

客戶所在國家計算。總資產及資本

開支按資產所在地計算。
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2 Turnover, revenues and segment information
The Group is principally engaged in property development,

investment and management, business parks development and

management, infocomm technology investment. Revenues

recognised during the year are as follows:

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Turnover

Sales of properties 160,800 413,013

Sales of goods 4,620 8,526

Gross rental income 12,358 14,488

Rendering of services 6,344 6,235

Property management fee 867 1,036

Sales of trading securities – 133

184,989 443,431
--------------- ---------------

Other revenues

Interest income 1,730 3,261

Realised gain on sales of

non-trading securities – 422

Dividend income from listed

securities – 385

Others 1,717 3,074

3,447 7,142
--------------- ---------------

Total revenues 188,436 450,573

Primary reporting format – business segments

The Group is organised into four main business segments:

Property – development, investment and

management of properties

Business park – development and management of

business parks

Infocomm technology – investment in info-communication

and education projects, as well as

provision of technology services

2 營業額、收益及分部資料
本集團主要從事物業發展、投資及管理、

商業園之開發及管理、資訊科技投資。

年內經確認之收益如下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

營業額

出售物業

出售貨品

租金收入總額

提供服務

物業管理費

出售買賣證券

其他收益

利息收入

出售非買賣證券之

已變現收益

上巿證券之

股息收入

其他

總收益

主要報告形式 － 業務分部

本集團主要從事四類業務：

物業 － 物業發展、投資及管

理

商業園 － 商業園之發展及

管理

資訊科技 － 資訊及教育項目投

資，以及提供科技服

務
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2 Turnover, revenues and segment information
(continued)
Primary reporting format – business segments (continued)

Other operations – infrastructure investment and

securities investment

Secondary reporting format – geographical segments

The Group’s four business segments operate in two main

geographical areas:

Hong Kong – property investment, development

and management, investment in

info–communication and education

projects, provision of technology

services, as well as securities

investment

China – property investment, development

and management, development and

management of business parks,

investment in info-communication

and education projects, provision of

technology services, as well as

infrastructure investment

2 營業額、收益及分部資料
（續）
主要報告形式 － 業務分部（續）

其他業務 － 基建投資及證券投資

次要報告形式 － 地區分部

本集團四類業務主要在兩個地區經營：

香港 － 物業投資、發展及管

理、資訊及教育項目

投資、提供科技服

務，以及證券投資

中國 － 物業投資、發展及管

理、商業園之發展及

管理、資訊及教育項

目投資、提供科技服

務，以及基建投資
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2 Turnover, revenues and segment information
(continued)
Primary reporting format – business segments

2003
Business Infocomm Other

Property park technology operations Corporate Eliminations Group

資訊 其他 企業

(In HK$’000) 物業 商業園 科技 業務 服務 對銷 本集團

Turnover

External 162,392 11,621 10,976 – – – 184,989

Inter-segment – 151 – – – (151) –

162,392 11,772 10,976 – – (151) 184,989

Segment results

(before revaluation

deficit) (38,653) 5,255 (26,417) (369) (46,761) – (106,945)

Revaluation deficit – (19,523) – – – – (19,523)

Segment results (38,653) (14,268) (26,417) (369) (46,761) – (126,468)

Finance costs (10,221)

Non-operating

provisions made (739,082)

Share of results of

associated companies 4,340 – – – – – 4,340

Share of results of a jointly

controlled entity – – – 2,299 – – 2,299

Loss before taxation (869,132)

Taxation 2,793

Loss after taxation (866,339)

Minority interests 20,236

Loss attributable to

shareholders (846,103)

Segment assets 1,018,359 363,554 19,801 58 – – 1,401,772

Interests in associated

companies 1,152 – – – – – 1,152

Interest in a jointly

controlled entity – – – 105,089 – – 105,089

Corporate assets 164,808

Total assets 1,672,821

Segment liabilities 565,321 101,382 29,262 9,610 – – 705,575

Corporate liabilities 266,203

Total liabilities 971,778

Capital expenditure 127 175,450 23 – 1,551 – 177,151

Depreciation 1,136 812 4,247 – 1,081 – 7,276

Other non-cash

expenses 13,238 602,254 146,132 40,000 523 – 802,147

2 營業額、收益及分部資料
（續）
主要報告形式 － 業務分部

二零零三年

（以港幣千元為單位）

營業額

外部

跨部

分部業績

（未計重估

虧絀前）

重估虧絀

分部業績

財務費用

就非經營業務

作出撥備

應佔聯營

公司業績

應佔共同

控制企業業績

除稅前虧損

稅項

除稅後虧損

少數股東權益

股東應佔

虧損

分部資產

聯營公司

權益

共同控制企業

權益

企業資產

總資產

分部負債

企業負債

總負債

資本開支

折舊

其他非現金

開支
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2 Turnover, revenues and segment information
(continued)
Primary reporting format – business segments

2002
Business Infocomm Other

Property park technology operations Corporate Eliminations Group

資訊 其他 企業

(In HK$’000) 物業 商業園 科技 業務 服務 對銷 本集團

Turnover

External 416,199 12,338 14,761 133 – – 443,431

Inter-segment – 270 9 – – (279) –

416,199 12,608 14,770 133 – (279) 443,431

Segment results

(before revaluation

deficit) (4,055) 6,283 (40,157) (166) (44,370) – (82,465)

Revaluation deficit – – – – – – –

Segment results (4,055) 6,283 (40,157) (166) (44,370) – (82,465)

Finance costs (21,991)

Non-operating

provisions made (142,301)

Share of results of

associated

companies (26,065) – (290) – – – (26,355)

Share of results of a jointly

controlled entity – – – (3,909) – – (3,909)

Loss before taxation (277,021)

Taxation (780)

Loss after taxation (277,801)

Minority interests 10,782

Loss attributable to

shareholders (267,019)

Segment assets 935,821 966,348 160,864 3,085 – – 2,066,118

Interests in associated

companies 56,814 – – – – – 56,814

Interest in a

jointly controlled

entity – – – 145,286 – – 145,286

Corporate assets 186,078

Total assets 2,454,296

Segment liabilities 359,267 120,974 23,452 9,678 – – 513,371

Corporate liabilities 391,524

Total liabilities 904,895

Capital expenditure 1,357 7,968 45,494 – 427 – 55,246

Depreciation 379 750 4,686 – 2,102 – 7,917

Other non-cash

expenses 67,366 107,492 36,829 – 800 – 212,487

2 營業額、收益及分部資料
（續）
主要報告形式 － 業務分部

二零零二年

（以港幣千元為單位）

營業額

外部

跨部

分部業績

（未計重估虧

絀前）

重估虧絀

分部業績

財務費用

就非經營業務

作出撥備

應佔聯營

公司

業績

應佔共同

控制企業業績

除稅前虧損

稅項

除稅後虧損

少數股東權益

股東應佔

虧損

分部資產

聯營公司

權益

共同控制

企業

權益

企業資產

總資產

分部負債

企業負債

總負債

資本開支

折舊

其他非現金

開支
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2 Turnover, revenues and segment information
(continued)
Secondary reporting format – geographical segments

2003

Operating Total Capital

Turnover loss assets expenditure

(In HK$’000) 營業額 經營虧損 總資產 資本開支

Hong Kong 83,262 (44,111) 240,811 1,551

China 101,727 (82,357) 1,432,010 175,600

184,989 (126,468) 1,672,821 177,151

2002

Operating Total Capital

Turnover loss assets expenditure

(In HK$’000) 營業額 經營虧損 總資產 資本開支

Hong Kong 417,032 (44,473) 474,285 3,446

China 26,399 (37,992) 1,980,011 51,800

443,431 (82,465) 2,454,296 55,246

3 Provisions made for operations

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Provisions made in relation to:

Property projects 10,571 29,390

Fixed assets 7,230 22,337

Inventories 185 3,731

Doubtful debts (Note) 18,933 3,327

36,919 58,785

Note:

The provision for doubtful debts was mainly made for the operating losses

incurred by the China operation of Infocomm Technology Group.

2 營業額、收益及分部資料
（續）
次要報告形式 － 地區分部

二零零三年

（以港幣千元為單位）

香港

中國

二零零二年

（以港幣千元為單位）

香港

中國

3 就經營業務作出撥備

（以港幣千元為單位）

就以下項目作出撥備：

物業項目

固定資產

存貨

呆賬（附註）

附註：

呆賬撥備主要就資訊科技部之中國業務產

生之經營虧損而作出。
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4 Operating loss
Operating loss is stated after crediting and charging the following:

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Crediting

Rental income from

– investment properties

Gross income 11,621 12,338

Less: direct outgoings (1,036) (1,378)

10,585 10,960

– properties held for sale and

under development 737 2,150

Realisation of negative goodwill 431 6,378

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 94 1,136

Waiver of loan from a minority shareholder 15,600 –

Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 3,711 –

Charging

Depreciation of fixed assets 9,381 9,810

Less: amounts capitalised to

properties held for development (203) (51)

amounts capitalised to properties

under development (1,902) (1,842)

7,276 7,917

Unrealised holding loss on

non-trading securities – 705

Amortisation of goodwill 3,135 5,390

Amortisation of development costs – 4,576

Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries – 730

Operating lease rentals in respect of

land and buildings 4,271 4,359

Auditors’ remuneration

– current year 1,266 1,367

– overprovision for previous years (81) (146)

Staff costs (including directors’

remuneration) 49,964 50,735

Retirement benefit costs 857 903

Deficit on revaluation of

investment properties 19,523 –

4 經營虧損
經營虧損已計入及扣除下列項目：

（以港幣千元為單位）

計入

租金收入

－投資物業

收入總額

減：直接費用

－待出售及發展中

物業

負商譽變現

出售固定資產之收益

應付一個少數股東貸款豁免

出售附屬公司之收益淨額

扣除

固定資產之折舊

減： 撥作持有作發展用途之物業

資本之數額

撥作發展中物業資本

之數額

持有非買賣證券之

未變現虧損

商譽攤銷

開發成本攤銷

出售附屬公司之虧損淨額

土地及樓宇之經營租賃

支出

核數師酬金

－本年度

－以往年度超額撥備

員工成本

（包括董事酬金）

退休福利成本

投資物業

重估虧絀
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5 Finance costs
(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Interest on bank and other borrowings

wholly repayable within five years 18,905 26,077

Other borrowing costs 3,507 5,017

Total borrowing costs incurred 22,412 31,094
--------------- ---------------

Less: amounts capitalised to

properties held for development (2,191) (2,317)

amounts capitalised to

properties under development (10,000) (6,786)

Total borrowing costs capitalised (12,191) (9,103)
--------------- ---------------

10,221 21,991

6 Non-operating provisions made
(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Provisions made for impairment in

values of:

Property held for development

 (Note) 583,166 –

Goodwill arising on acquisition of

a subsidiary 109,378 106,694

Interest in a jointly controlled entity 40,000 –

Provision for property project due to

contract frustration – 24,700

Provision for a contractual claim – 10,907

Provision for consideration receivable 6,538 –

739,082 142,301

Note:

This represented the provision made for the remaining undeveloped site of

Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park to reflect the uncertainty of its future investment

potential as the project is required to be completed by 31 December 2005.

5 財務費用
（以港幣千元為單位）

須於五年內全部償還之銀行及其他

貸款利息

其他借貸費用

產生之借貸成本總額

減： 撥作持有作發展用途之物業資本之

數額

撥作發展中物業資本之

數額

撥作資本之借貸成本總額

6 就非經營業務作出撥備
（以港幣千元為單位）

就下列項目之減值

作出撥備：

持有作發展用途之物業

（附註）

收購一間附屬公司產生

之商譽

共同控制企業權益

物業項目因合約受挫失效

而產生之撥備

合約索償之撥備

應收代價之撥備

附註：

有關撥備指由於深圳威新軟件科技園之餘

下未發展地盤須於二零零五年十二月三十

一日前完成，故就該項目而作出之撥備，

以反映其未來投資潛力之不確定因素。
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7 Taxation
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the

financial statements as the Group has no assessable profit for the

year (2002: provided at 16% on the estimated assessable profit

for the year). Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on

the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

The amount of taxation credited/(charged) to the consolidated

income statement represents:

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Current taxation – Hong Kong profits tax – (780)

Deferred taxation (Note 26) 2,793 –

2,793 (780)

The taxation on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong taxation

rates as follows:

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Loss before taxation 869,132 277,021

Calculated at a taxation

rate of 17.5% (2002: 16%) 152,098 44,323

Effect of different taxation rates

in other countries 1,312 –

Income not subject to taxation 7,378 2,602

Expenses not deductible for

taxation purposes (141,038) (39,993)

Utilisation of previously

unrecognised tax losses 683 2,619

Unrecognised tax losses (17,640) (10,331)

Taxation 2,793 (780)

In 2003, the government enacted a change in the profits tax rate

from 16% to 17.5% for the fiscal year 2003/2004.

7 稅項
由於本集團於年內並無應課稅溢利，故

並無就香港利得稅於財務報告作出撥備

（二零零二年：以年內估計應課稅溢利

按稅率16%作出撥備）。海外溢利之稅

款，則按照本年度估計應課稅溢利依本

集團經營業務地區之現行稅率計算。

在綜合收益表中抵免／（支銷）之稅項如

下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

本期稅項—香港利得稅

遞延稅項（附註26）

本集團有關除稅前虧損之稅項與假若採

用香港之稅率而計算之理論稅額之差額

如下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

除稅前虧損

按稅率17.5%

（二零零二年：16%）計算之稅項

其他國家不同稅率之

影響

毋須課稅之收入

不可扣稅之

支出

動用過往未確認稅項

虧損

未確認稅項虧損

稅項

二零零三年，政府將二零零三／二零零

四年財政年度的利得稅稅率由16%提高

至17.5%。
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8 Loss attributable to shareholders
The loss attributable to shareholders is dealt with in the financial

statements of the Company to the extent of HK$848,582,000

(2002: HK$155,802,000).

9 Loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share was based on the Group’s

loss attributable to shareholders of HK$846,103,000 (2002:

HK$267,019,000).

The basic loss per share was based on the weighted average of

2,836,188,944 (2002: 2,365,686,867) ordinary shares in issue

during the year.

Diluted loss per share has not been shown as there was no dilutive

potential ordinary shares.

10 Retirement benefit costs
Forfeited contributions totalling HK$941,000 (2002: HK$672,000)

were utilised during the year to reduce contributions.

Contributions totalling HK$189,000 (2002: HK$252,000) were

payable to the fund at the year end and are included in creditors

and accruals.

8 股東應佔虧損
計入本公司財務報告處理之股東應佔虧

損為港幣848,582,000元（二零零二年：

港幣155,802,000元）。

9 每股虧損
每股基本虧損是根據本集團之股東應佔

虧損港幣846,103,000元（二零零二年：

港幣267,019,000元）計算。

每股基本虧損是按年內已發行普通股之

加權平均股數2,836,188,944股（二零零二

年：2,365,686,867股）計算。

由於並無潛在攤薄普通股，故無呈列每

股攤薄虧損。

10 退休福利成本
沒收之供款合共港幣941,000元（二零零

二年：港幣672,000元）已於年內應用，

以減低日後之供款。

須於年結日支付予基金之供款總額為港

幣189,000元（二零零二年：港幣252,000

元），並列於應付賬款及應計賬項內。
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11 Directors’ and senior management’s
emoluments
(a) Directors’ emoluments

The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable to directors

of the Company during the year are as follows:

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Fees 420 510

Salaries, allowances and

other benefits 8,999 9,487

Contributions to retirement

benefit schemes 258 330

9,677 10,327

Directors’ fees disclosed above included HK$420,000 (2002:

HK$390,000) paid to independent non-executive directors.

11 董事及高級管理人員酬金

(a) 董事酬金

年內本公司向董事支付之酬金總額

如下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

袍金

薪金、津貼及

其他福利

退休福利計劃

之供款

上述披露之董事袍金包括向獨立非執行

董事支付港幣420,000元（二零零二年：

港幣390,000元）。
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11 Directors’ and senior management’s
emoluments (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The emoluments of the directors fell within the following
bands:

Number of
directors
董事人數

2003
Nil – HK$1,000,000 9

Dr. Han Cheng Fong *
Ms. Chong Siak Ching *
Mr. Lai Seck Khui *
Mr. Lew Syn Pau *
Mr. Zheng Hongqing *
Mr. Kuan Michael Chao (note 1)
Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P.
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon
Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela

HK$2,500,001 – HK$3,000,000 2
Mr. Ang Ah Lay
Mr. Chan Wing Ming, Charles (note 2)

HK$4,500,001 – HK$5,000,000 1
Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon

2002
Nil – HK$1,000,000 10

Dr. Han Cheng Fong *
Ms. Chong Siak Ching *
Mr. Lai Seck Khui *
Mr. Lew Syn Pau *
Mr. Goh Tien Jin *
Mr. Ang Ah Lay
Mr. Zheng Hongqing
Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P.
Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon
Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1
Mr. Kuan Michael Chao

HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 1
Mr. Chua Tiow Chye

HK$2,500,001 – HK$3,000,000 1
Mr. Chan Wing Ming, Charles

HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000
Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon 1

* These directors did not receive any emoluments during the year.

11 董事及高級管理人員酬金
（續）
(a) 董事酬金（續）

支付予董事之酬金組別如下：

二零零三年
零至港幣1,000,000元
韓禎豐博士*
張雪倩女士*
黎錫駒先生*
劉信保先生*
鄭洪慶先生*
關新先生（附註1）
Alan Howard Smith先生，太平紳士
鄺志強先生
王培芬女士

港幣2,500,001元至港幣3,000,000元
洪亞歷先生
陳永明先生（附註2）

港幣4,500,001元至港幣5,000,000元
蔣小明博士

二零零二年
零至港幣1,000,000元
韓禎豐博士*
張雪倩女士*
黎錫駒先生*
劉信保先生*
吳天仁先生*
洪亞歷先生
鄭洪慶先生
Alan Howard Smith先生，太平紳士
鄺志強先生
王培芬女士

港幣1,000,001元至港幣1,500,000元
關新先生

港幣2,000,001元至港幣2,500,000元
蔡兆才先生

港幣2,500,001元至港幣3,000,000元
陳永明先生

港幣3,000,001元至港幣3,500,000元
蔣小明博士

* 此等董事於年內並無收取任何酬金。
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11 Directors’ and senior management’s
emoluments (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(1) Mr. Kuan Michael Chao received consultancy fees for the year ended

31 December 2003.

(2) During the year, Mr. Chan Wing Ming, Charles resigned from the

board and became a senior manager of the Company. For

presentation purpose, his emoluments in the capacities of director

and senior manager of the Company were aggregated in the above

calculation.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in

the Group for the year include three (2002: three) directors

whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented

above. The emoluments payable to the remaining two (2002:

two) highest paid individuals during the year are as follows:

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Salaries, allowances and

other benefits 3,775 3,261

Contributions to retirement

benefit schemes 139 76

3,914 3,337

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

人數

Emolument bands 2003 2002

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1 2

HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 1 –

11 董事及高級管理人員酬金
（續）
(a) 董事酬金（續）

附註：

(1) 關新先生於截至二零零三年十二

月三十一日止年度收取顧問費用。

(2) 於年內，陳永明先生辭任董事局

職位而成為本公司高級經理。就

呈報而言，其作為本公司董事及

高級經理之酬金已合共於上文計

算。

(b) 五名最高薪酬人士

本年度本集團內五名最高薪酬人士

包括三名（二零零二年：三名）董事，

其酬金已載於上文分析。其餘兩名

（二零零二年：兩名）最高薪酬人士

之酬金分析如下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

薪金、津貼及

其他福利

退休福利計劃

供款

酬金之組別如下：

酬金組別

港幣1,500,001元至港幣2,000,000元

港幣2,000,001元至港幣2,500,000元
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12 Fixed assets
Group

Buildings in

China under Properties

Investment medium term Motor Office Furniture Leasehold held for

properties lease vehicles equipment and fixtures improvements development Total

投資 中國之中期 辦公室 傢俬及 租約 持有作發展

(In HK$’000) 物業 契約樓宇 汽車 設備 裝置 物業裝修 用途之物業 總值

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2003 139,523 17,534 5,483 34,469 3,354 9,232 608,267 817,862

Exchange difference – (45 ) (27 ) (46 ) (7 ) (14 ) (234 ) (373 )

Additions – – – 151 235 1,646 175,119 177,151

Revaluation deficit (19,523 ) – – – – – – (19,523 )

Disposals – – (2,390 ) (1,158 ) (250 ) (2,072 ) – (5,870 )

Impairment loss – – – (26,589 ) (1,743 ) (2,739 ) (583,166 ) (614,237 )

At 31 December 2003 120,000 17,489 3,066 6,827 1,589 6,053 199,986 355,010

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 2003 – 4,022 2,627 20,706 2,329 6,591 – 36,275

Exchange difference – (9 ) (13 ) (12 ) (3 ) (7 ) – (44 )

Charge for the year – 1,778 938 5,419 332 914 – 9,381

Disposals – – (1,875 ) (1,144 ) (164 ) (1,906 ) – (5,089 )

Impairment loss – – – (20,003 ) (1,645 ) (2,193 ) – (23,841 )

At 31 December 2003 – 5,791 1,677 4,966 849 3,399 – 16,682

Net book value

At 31 December 2003 120,000 11,698 1,389 1,861 740 2,654 199,986 338,328

At 31 December 2002 139,523 13,512 2,856 13,763 1,025 2,641 608,267 781,587

The analysis of cost or valuation of the above assets is as follows:

At cost – 17,489 3,066 6,827 1,589 6,053 199,986 235,010

At professional valuation – 2003 120,000 – – – – – – 120,000

120,000 17,489 3,066 6,827 1,589 6,053 199,986 355,010

The Group’s investment properties are situated in China under

medium term lease.

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2003 on the

basis of their open market value by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung

Limited, an independent qualified valuer.

At 31 December 2003, investment properties of HK$120,000,000

(2002: nil) were pledged to secure bank loan granted to the Group.

At 31 December 2003, total borrowing costs of HK$2,191,000

(2002: HK$2,317,000) was capitalised to properties held for

development.

12 固定資產
本集團

（以港幣千元為單位）

成本值或估值

於二零零三年一月一日

匯兌差額

增添

重估虧絀

出售

減值虧損

於二零零三年十二月三十一日

累積折舊及減值

於二零零三年一月一日

匯兌差額

本年度折舊

出售

減值虧損

於二零零三年十二月三十一日

賬面淨值

於二零零三年十二月三十一日

於二零零二年十二月三十一日

上述資產之成本值或估值分析如下：

按成本

按專業估值－二零零三年

本集團於中國之投資物業乃以中期租約

持有。

投資物業於二零零三年十二月三十一日

按公開市值基準由獨立合資格估值師戴

德梁行有限公司進行重估。

於二零零三年十二月三十一日，用作本

集團獲授之銀行貸款抵押品之投資物業

為港幣120,000,000元（二零零二年：港

幣零元）。

於二零零三年十二月三十一日，總額達

港幣 2,191,000 元（二零零二年：港

幣2,317,000元）之借貸成本已撥作持有

作發展用途之物業成本。
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13 Intangible assets
Group

本集團

Negative Development

Goodwill goodwill costs Total

(In HK$’000) 商譽 負商譽 開發成本 總額

Net book value at 1 January 2003 112,241 – – 112,241

Additional investment in subsidiaries 272 (1,981 ) – (1,709 )

Impairment loss (109,378 ) – – (109,378 )

Amortisation (3,135 ) – – (3,135 )

Realisation – 431 – 431

Net book value

at 31 December 2003 – (1,550 ) – (1,550 )

At 31 December 2003

Cost 117,903 (1,981 ) – 115,922

Accumulated amortisation and

impairment loss (117,903 ) – – (117,903 )

Realisation – 431 – 431

– (1,550 ) – (1,550 )

At 31 December 2002

Cost 117,631 (6,378 ) 68,555 179,808

Accumulated amortisation and

impairment loss (5,390 ) – (68,555 ) (73,945 )

Realisation – 6,378 – 6,378

112,241 – – 112,241

13 無形資產

（以港幣千元為單位）

於二零零三年一月一日賬面淨值

增購附屬公司權益

減值虧損

攤銷

變現

於二零零三年十二月三十一日

賬面淨值

於二零零三年十二月三十一日

成本

累計攤銷及

減值虧損

變現

於二零零二年十二月三十一日

成本

累計攤銷及

減值虧損

變現
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14 Interests in subsidiaries
Company

本公司

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,956,447 2,930,335

Less: provision (2,180,655) (1,334,552)

775,792 1,595,783

Amounts due to subsidiaries (67,681) (129,073)

708,111 1,466,710

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2003

which were incorporated and are operating in Hong Kong except

otherwise stated are as follows:

Proportion of

nominal value

Particulars of issued share capital of issued ordinary

Number of Par value share capital/registered

Name of subsidiaries ordinary shares per share capital held by the Group Principal activities

本集團所持有

已發行股本資料 已發行普通股／

附屬公司名稱 普通股股數 每股面值 註冊資本面值比例 主要業務

Directly held by the Company:

直接由本公司持有：

Vision Century Secretaries Limited 2 HK$1 100% Secretarial and nominee services

威新秘書有限公司 港幣1元 秘書及代名人服務

Indirectly held by the Company:

間接由本公司持有：

Beijing Gang Lu Real Estate Development – US$11,200,000 100% Property development in China

Co., Ltd. (i) (iv) (vii) (registered capital)

北京港旅房地產開發 11,200,000美元 中國物業發展

有限公司 (i)(iv)(vii) （註冊資本）

Beijing Vision Century Property – US$150,000 100% Property management in China

Management Co., Ltd. (i) (iv) (v) (registered capital)

北京威新世紀物業管理有限公司  (i) (iv) (v) 150,000美元 中國物業管理

（註冊資本）

14 附屬公司權益

（以港幣千元為單位）

應收附屬公司款項

減：撥備

應付附屬公司款項

除特別註明外，所有於二零零三年十二

月三十一日之主要附屬公司皆在香港註

冊成立及經營業務，其有關資料如下：
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Notes to the Financial Statements

14 Interests in subsidiaries (continued)
Proportion of

nominal value

Particulars of issued share capital of issued ordinary

Number of Par value share capital/registered

Name of subsidiaries ordinary shares per share capital held by the Group Principal activities

本集團所持有

已發行股本資料 已發行普通股／

附屬公司名稱 普通股股數 每股面值 註冊資本面值比例 主要業務

Best Keeping Resources Limited 2 HK$1 100% Property and golf club membership

holding

恊福資源有限公司 港幣1元 持有物業及高爾夫球會會籍

Bestday Assets Limited (ii) 1 US$1 100% Investment holding

1美元 投資控股

Billion Property Limited (ii) 1 US$1 100% Investment holding

1美元 投資控股

Campusall Company Limited (iv) 10,000 HK$1 97.77% Investment holding

港幣1元 投資控股

CC-Edu Holdings Limited (ii) 112,504 US$0.1 60.37% Investment holding

0.1美元 投資控股

Century Nova Cyber Technology (Shenzhen) – RMB10,000,000 90% Computer networking services

Co., Ltd. (i) (iv) (v)  (registered capital)

世紀南凌數碼科技有限公司 (i)(iv)(v) 人民幣10,000,000元 電腦網絡服務

（註冊資本）

Com.Com Learning Technology (Shenzhen) – US$300,000 60.37% English training services

Co., Ltd. (i) (iv) (v) (registered capital)

康達康信息技術（深圳） 300,000美元 英語培訓服務

有限公司 (i) (iv)(v) （註冊資本）

14 附屬公司權益（續）
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14 Interests in subsidiaries (continued) 14 附屬公司權益（續）
Proportion of

nominal value

Particulars of issued share capital of issued ordinary

Number of Par value share capital/registered

Name of subsidiaries ordinary shares per share capital held by the Group Principal activities

本集團所持有

已發行股本資料 已發行普通股／

附屬公司名稱 普通股股數 每股面值 註冊資本面值比例 主要業務

Cursor Media IT (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (i) (iv) (v) – US$1,500,000 60.37% Sales of educational software and

(registered capital) web-based education services

智慧之泉信息技術（深圳）有限公司 (i) (iv)(v) 1,500,000美元 銷售教育軟件及依托網路提供

（註冊資本） 之教育服務

CyberCity Cursor Media Co. Ltd. (i) (iv) (v) – RMB5,000,000 60.37% Development of education hardware

(registered capital) and software/ provision of

consultancy services

賽博智慧源信息技術（深圳）有限公司 (i)(iv)(v) 人民幣5,000,000元 教育硬件及軟件開發／

（註冊資本） 提供顧問服務

CyberCity Investments (SZ) Limited (i) (iv) (v) – US$250,000 100% Business consulting services

(registered capital)

賽合投資咨詢（深圳）有限公司 (i) (iv)(v) 250,000美元 商業顧問服務

（註冊資本）

E-Commerce Technology Limited (ii) 1 US$1 100% Investment holding

1美元 投資控股

Glory Honour Development Limited 10,000 HK$1 100% Property development

港忠發展有限公司 港幣1元 物業發展

Great Project Property Limited 100 HK$1 100% Investment holding

大捷物業有限公司 港幣1元 投資控股

Ideal Investment Holdings Limited (ii) 50,000 US$1 100% Investment holding

1美元 投資控股
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Notes to the Financial Statements

14 Interests in subsidiaries (continued)
Proportion of

nominal value

Particulars of issued share capital of issued ordinary

Number of Par value share capital/registered

Name of subsidiaries ordinary shares per share capital held by the Group Principal activities

本集團所持有

已發行股本資料 已發行普通股／

附屬公司名稱 普通股股數 每股面值 註冊資本面值比例 主要業務

Jubilee Success Limited (ii) 1 US$1 90% Investment holding

1美元 投資控股

Limbo Enterprises Limited (ii) 1 US$1 100% Property development

1美元 物業發展

Million Wealth Development Limited 2 HK$1 100% Property development

百財發展有限公司 港幣1元 物業發展

Nova Network Holdings Limited (iii) 25,000,000 US$0.25 90% Computer networking services

0.25美元 電腦網絡服務

Nova Network Limited 2 HK$1 90% Computer networking services

港幣1元 電腦網絡服務

Prosper Advance Investments Limited 2 HK$1 100% Property development

昌毅投資有限公司 港幣1元 物業發展

Readworld.com Corporation (iii) 1,000,000 US$0.1 97.77% Investment holding

0.1美元 投資控股

Rich Ocean Development Limited 10,000 HK$1 100% Property development

裕海發展有限公司 港幣1元 物業開發

Tenways Investments Limited (ii) 1 US$1 100% Investment holding

1美元 投資控股

The 8th Network Corporation (iii) 2 US$1 100% Investment holding

1美元 投資控股

14 附屬公司權益（續）
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14 Interests in subsidiaries (continued)
Proportion of

nominal value

Particulars of issued share capital of issued ordinary

Number of Par value share capital/registered

Name of subsidiaries ordinary shares per share capital held by the Group Principal activities

本集團所持有

已發行股本資料 已發行普通股／

附屬公司名稱 普通股股數 每股面值 註冊資本面值比例 主要業務

The 8th Network Corp. (HK) Limited 2 HK$1 100% Business consulting services

港幣1元 商業顧問服務

8th Network China Co Ltd. (i) (iv) (v) – US$6,500,000 97.77% Consultancy and translation service

(registered capital)

慧科管理咨詢有限公司 (i) (iv)(v) 6,500,000美元 顧問及翻譯服務

（註冊資本）

VCC iCapital Limited (ii) 2 US$1 100% Investment holding

1美元 投資控股

Victory Great Investment Limited 2 HK$1 100% Property development

好本利投資有限公司 港幣1元 物業發展

Vision Business Park (TH) Limited (ii) 1 US$1 100% Investment holding

1美元 投資控股

Vision Business Park Marketing Services Ltd. (ii) 1 US$1 100% Marketing services

威新市場推廣服務有限公司 (ii) 1美元 市場推廣服務

Vision Century Administration Limited 500,000  HK$1 100% Management consultancy services

港幣1元 管理顧問服務

Vision Century Capital Limited 2 HK$1 100% Group financing

威新融資有限公司 港幣1元 集團融資

Vision Century Estate Agents Limited 2 HK$1 100% Real estate agency

威新物業代理有限公司 港幣1元 房地產經紀

Vision Century Infocomm Investments Ltd. 40,000,000 US$0.01 100% Investment holding

(formerly known as CyberCity Investments 0.01美元 投資控股

Limited) (ii)

14 附屬公司權益（續）
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14 Interests in subsidiaries (continued)
Proportion of

nominal value

Particulars of issued share capital of issued ordinary

Number of Par value share capital/registered

Name of subsidiaries ordinary shares per share capital held by the Group Principal activities

本集團所持有

已發行股本資料 已發行普通股／

附屬公司名稱 普通股股數 每股面值 註冊資本面值比例 主要業務

Vision Century Investments (Dalian) Limited 2 HK$1 100% Investment holding

威新投資（大連）有限公司 港幣1元 投資控股

Vision Century Property Consultancy 1 US$1 100% Property consultancy services

Services Ltd. (ii) 1美元 物業顧問服務

Vision Century Property Management Limited 2 HK$1 100% Property management

威新物業管理有限公司 港幣1元 物業管理

Vision Century Real Estate Development – US$10,000,000 100% Property development in China

(Dalian) Co. Ltd. (i) (iv) (v) (registered capital)

威新房地產開發（大連）有限公司 10,000,000美元 中國物業發展

(i) (iv)(v) （註冊資本）

Vision Huaqing (Beijing) Development – RMB130,000,000 60% Business park development in China

Co. Ltd. (i) (iv) (registered capital)

威新華清（北京）置業發展 人民幣130,000,000元 中國商業園發展

有限公司  (i)(iv) （註冊資本）

Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Co., Ltd. – RMB100,000,000 95% Business park development in China

(i) (iv) (vi) (registered capital)

深圳威新軟件科技園有限公司 (i) (iv)(vi) 人民幣100,000,000元 中國商業園發展

（註冊資本）

Wide Best Development Limited 2 HK$1 100% Property development

偉宏發展有限公司 港幣1元 物業發展

14 附屬公司權益（續）
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14 Interests in subsidiaries (continued)
Notes:

(i) Registered and with place of business in China

(ii) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

(iii) Incorporated in the Cayman Islands

(iv) Not audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers

(v) Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

(vi) Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise

(vii) Sino-foreign cooperative joint venture enterprise

15 Interests in associated companies
Group

本集團

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Share of net liabilities (196,042) (200,382)

Amounts due from associated

companies 197,194 257,196

1,152 56,814

Investment at cost

Unlisted shares 156 156

14 附屬公司權益（續）
附註：

(i) 於中國註冊及經營

(ii) 於英屬處女群島註冊成立

(iii) 於開曼群島註冊成立

(iv) 非由羅兵咸永道會計師事務所審核

(v) 外商獨資企業

(vi) 中外合資合營企業

(vii) 中外合作合營企業

15 聯營公司權益

（以港幣千元為單位）

應佔負債淨額

應收聯營公司

款項

投資，按成本值

非上巿股份
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15 聯營公司權益（續）
(a) 除特別註明外，於二零零三年十二

月三十一日之主要聯營公司皆在香

港註冊成立及經營業務，其有關資

料如下：

Proportion of nominal value of

Name of associated companies issued ordinary share capital

indirectly held by the Company held by the Group Principal activities

間接由本公司持有之 本集團所佔已發行

聯營公司名稱 普通股面值之比例 主要業務

Fortune Top Properties Limited 40.002% Property investment

福高置業有限公司 物業投資

Longshine Assets Limited (i) (ii) 40.002% Investment holding

投資控股

Poly-Strong Development Limited 50% Property trading

澎健發展有限公司 物業買賣

15 Interests in associated companies (continued)
(a) Particulars of the principal associated companies as at 31

December 2003 which were incorporated and are operating

in Hong Kong except otherwise stated are as follows:

Notes:

(i) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

(ii) Not audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers

附註：

(i)於英屬處女群島註冊成立

(ii)非由羅兵咸永道會計師事務所審核
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15 聯營公司權益（續）
(b) 一間主要聯營公司之財務資料摘錄

如下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

經營業績

營業額

股東應佔溢利／

(虧損 )

財務狀況

投資物業

流動資產

流動負債

股東貸款

其他非流動負債

股東虧絀

15 Interests in associated companies (continued)
(b) Extracts of financial information of a significant associated

company are set out as follows:

Unaudited Unaudited

未經審核 未經審核

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Operating results

Turnover 12,394 25,394

Profit/(loss) attributable to

shareholders 14,058 (85,259)

Financial position

Investment property – 193,000

Current assets 3,845 6,286

Current liabilities (1,414) (10,910)

Shareholders’ loans (493,298) (642,958)

Other non-current liabilities – (47,500)

Shareholders’ deficit (490,867) (502,082)
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16 Interest in a jointly controlled entity
Group

本集團

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Share of net assets 23,694 21,395

Amount due from a

jointly controlled entity 138,640 141,136

162,334 162,531

Less: provision (57,245) (17,245)

105,089 145,286

Investment at cost

Unlisted shares 23,827 23,827

(a) Interest in a jointly controlled entity represents the Group’s

50% interest in Wuhu Baoda Electric-Power Development

Company Limited, a corporation which is registered and

operating in Wuhu, China, which in turn has a 50% interest

in a power plant in Wuhu, China.

(b) Extracts of financial information of the jointly controlled entity

are set out as follows:

Unaudited Unaudited

未經審核 未經審核

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Operating results

Turnover 140,920 97,672

Profit/(loss) attributable to

shareholders 4,598 (7,819)

Financial position

Fixed assets 233,089 256,879

Current assets 93,501 68,796

Current liabilities (1,916) (607)

Shareholders’ loans (277,286) (282,278)

Shareholders’ funds 47,388 42,790

16 共同控制企業權益

（以港幣千元為單位）

應佔資產淨值

共同控制企業

欠款

減：撥備

投資，按成本值

非上巿股份

(a) 共同控制企業權益乃指本集團於蕪

湖保達電力開發有限公司之50%權

益，該公司為一間於中國蕪湖註冊

及經營之企業，並擁有一間位於中

國蕪湖之發電廠之50%權益。

(b) 該共同控制企業之財務資料摘錄如

下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

經營業績

營業額

股東應佔溢利／（虧損）

財務狀況

固定資產

流動資產

流動負債

股東貸款

股東基金
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17 Investments in equity securities
Group Company

本集團 本公司

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002 2003 2002

Non-trading securities,

at fair value

Unlisted 16,387 16,847 6,465 6,465

18 Properties held for sale
At 31 December 2003, the carrying amount of properties held for

sale of the Group that are carried at net realisable value amounted

to HK$119,316,000 (2002: HK$122,647,000).

19 Properties under development
At 31 December 2003, the carrying amount of properties under

development of the Group that are carried at cost and net realisable

value amounted to HK$507,804,000 (2002: HK$457,833,000) and

HK$5,419,000 (2002: HK$57,315,000) respectively.

20 Debtors, deposits and prepayments
Included in debtors, deposits and prepayments are trade debtors

and its ageing analysis is as follows:

Group Company

本集團 本公司

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002 2003 2002

Within 3 months 3,237 690 – –

3 months to 6 months – 485 – –

Over 6 months 60 17 – –

3,297 1,192 – –

Trade debtors represent considerations in respect of sold properties,

rental receivables and receivables from sales of goods.

17 股本證券投資

（以港幣千元為單位）

非買賣證券，

按公平值

非上市

18 待出售物業
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本集團

以可變現淨值列賬之待出售物業之賬面

值為港幣119,316,000元（二零零二年：

港幣122,647,000元）。

19 發展中物業
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本集團

以成本及可變現淨值列賬之發展中物業

之賬面值分別為港幣507,804,000元（二

零零二年：港幣 457 ,833 ,000元）及

港幣 5 ,419 ,000元（二零零二年：港

幣57,315,000元）。

20 應收賬款、按金及預付款項
應收賬款、按金及預付款項中包括應收

貿易賬款，其賬齡分析如下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

三個月以內

三至六個月

六個月以上

應收貿易賬款指已出售物業之代價、應

收租金及銷售貨品之應收款項。
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20 Debtors, deposits and prepayments
(continued)
Considerations in respect of sold properties are payable by the

purchasers pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase

agreements. Rental receivables are billed in advance and are payable

by tenants upon receipts of billings. For sales of goods, the Group

granted credit terms to each customer ranging from 60 days to

120 days.

21 Creditors and accruals
Included in creditors and accruals are trade creditors and its ageing

analysis is as follows:

Group Company

本集團 本公司

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002 2003 2002

Within 3 months 41,242 62,046 – –

3 months to 12 months 11,660 88,944 – –

52,902 150,990 – –

20 應收賬款、按金及預付
款項（續）
已出售物業之代價均按買賣協議之條款

由買方支付。應收租金乃預先記賬，租

客於收到賬單時支付。對於銷售貨品，

本集團給予每位客戶由60日至120日不

等的賒賬期。

21 應付賬款及應計賬項
應付賬款及應計賬項中包括應付貿易賬

款，其賬齡分析如下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

三個月以內

三至十二個月
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22 Bank and other borrowings
Group

Bank loans and

overdrafts Other loans Total

銀行貸款及透支 其他貸款 總額

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Secured 523,708 368,123 9,000 9,000 532,708 377,123

Unsecured 19,794 10,000 – – 19,794 10,000

543,502 378,123 9,000 9,000 552,502 387,123

Current portion of

bank and other

borrowings (465,164) (214,014) (9,000) (9,000) (474,164) (223,014)

78,338 164,109 – – 78,338 164,109

Company

Bank loans and

overdrafts Other loans Total

銀行貸款及透支 其他貸款 總額

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Secured 60,000 – – – 60,000 –

Unsecured 19,794 10,000 – – 19,794 10,000

79,794 10,000 – – 79,794 10,000

Current portion of

bank and other

borrowings (79,794) (10,000) – – (79,794) (10,000)

– – – – – –

22 銀行及其他貸款
本集團

（以港幣千元為單位）

有抵押

無抵押

銀行及其他

貸款之一年內

應償還額

本公司

（以港幣千元為單位）

有抵押

無抵押

銀行及其他

貸款之一年內

應償還額
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22 Bank and other borrowings (continued)
At 31 December 2003, the bank loans, overdrafts and other loans

were repayable as follows:

Group

Bank loans and

overdrafts Other loans Total

銀行貸款及透支 其他貸款 總額

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Within one year 465,164 214,014 9,000 9,000 474,164 223,014

In the second year 78,338 42,009 – – 78,338 42,009

In the third to

fifth year – 122,100 – – – 122,100

543,502 378,123 9,000 9,000 552,502 387,123

Company

Bank loans and

overdrafts Other loans Total

銀行貸款及透支 其他貸款 總額

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Within one year 79,794 10,000 – – 79,794 10,000

In the second year – – – – – –

In the third to

fifth year – – – – – –

79,794 10,000 – – 79,794 10,000

22 銀行及其他貸款（續）
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，銀行貸

款、透支及其他貸款之還款期如下：

本集團

（以港幣千元為單位）

一年以內

第二年

第三至

第五年

本公司

（以港幣千元為單位）

一年以內

第二年

第三至

第五年
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23 Share capital
Authorised
法定股本

2003 2002
No. of shares HK$’000 No. of shares HK$’000
股份數目 港幣千元 股份數目 港幣千元

Ordinary shares of HK10 cents each

At 1 January 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 2,200,000,000 220,000

Increased in authorised share capital – – 7,800,000,000 780,000

At 31 December 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000

Issued and full paid
已發行及繳足

2003 2002
No. of shares HK$’000 No. of shares HK$’000
股份數目 港幣千元 股份數目 港幣千元

At 1 January 2,836,188,944 283,619 1,667,935,487 166,794

Issue of shares – – 1,168,253,457 116,825

At 31 December 2,836,188,944 283,619 2,836,188,944 283,619

24 Share option scheme
On 20 May 2003, the share option scheme adopted by the

Company on 10 January 2000 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”)

was terminated and a new share option scheme (the “New Share

Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company to comply with

the new amendments to the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Listing Rules”) in respect of share option schemes of a listed

company. No share option was granted under the Old Share Option

Scheme since the date of its adoption.

23 股本

每股面值港幣10仙之普通股

於一月一日

法定股本之增加

於十二月三十一日

於一月一日

發行股份

於十二月三十一日

24 認股權計劃
於二零零三年五月二十日，本公司於二

零零零年一月十日採納之認股權計劃（「舊

認股權計劃」）已被終止，而本公司採納

新認股權計劃（「新認股權計劃」）以符合

香港聯合交易所有限公司證券上市規則

（「上市規則」）有關上市公司認股權計劃

之新修訂。自舊認股權計劃採納日期以

來，概無根據舊認股權計劃而授出任何

認股權。
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24 Share option scheme (continued)
The New Share Option Scheme became effective on 20 May 2003

and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force

for 10 years from that date. The maximum number of shares in

respect of which options may be granted must not exceed 10% of

the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of adoption

of the New Share Option Scheme. The offer of a grant may be

accepted upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 per

acceptance. The exercise period of the share options granted is

determinable by the Board, and commences on a specified date

and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date

of grant of the share options. The exercise price will be determined

by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing

prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation

sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”) on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii)

the average closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the

Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days

immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value

of the Company’s share.

20,065,000 share options were granted under the New Share

Option Scheme on 31 December 2003 at the exercise price of

HK$0.1706 per share. The share options granted will expire on 30

December 2013.

At 31 December 2003, share options outstanding have the

following terms:

Exercise price Number of options Vested percentage

行使價 認股權數目 已歸屬百分比

2003 2002 2003 2002

Directors HK$0.1706 10,000,000 – – –

Other employees HK$0.1706 10,065,000 – – –

20,065,000 – – –

No share options were cancelled or lapsed during the year (2002:

nil).

24 認股權計劃（續）
新認股權計劃於二零零三年五月二十日

起生效，除非另行註銷或修訂，新認股

權計劃將自該日起十年有效。可能授出

之認股權之相關股份數目上限不得超過

本公司於採納新認股權計劃當日已發行

股本之10%。每位承授人在接納邀請時

須支付象徵式總代價港幣1元。授出之

認股權之行使期由董事局釐定，由指定

日期開始至授出認股權當日起計不超過

十年。行使價由董事局釐定，惟不低於

(i)於授出認股權當日（必須為交易日）本

公司股份於香港聯合交易所有限公司（「聯

交所」）發出之日報表所列之收市價； (ii)

緊接授予認股權之日期前五個交易日本

公司股份於聯交所發出之日報表所列之

平均收市價；或(iii)本公司股份之面值（以

較高者為準）。

20,065,000份認股權於二零零三年十二月

三十一日根據新認股權計劃以每股行使

價港幣0.1706元授出。授出之認股權將

於二零一三年十二月三十日到期。

於二零零三年十二月三十一日，尚未行

使之認股權之有關詳情如下：

董事

其他僱員

概無認股權於年內註銷或失效（二零零

二年：無）。
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25 Reserves
Group

Investment

properties Capital

Share revaluation Goodwill redemption Exchange Accumulated

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total

投資物業 資本贖回

(In HK$’000) 股份溢價 重估儲備 商譽儲備 儲備 匯兌儲備 累積虧損 總額

At 1 January 2003 2,270,561 – – 196 2,678 (1,007,653) 1,265,782

Exchange differences – – – – (2,255) – (2,255)

Loss for the year – – – – – (846,103) (846,103)

At 31 December 2003 2,270,561 – – 196 423 (1,853,756) 417,424

Representing:

Company and subsidiaries 2,270,561 – – 196 142 (1,658,722) 612,177

Associated companies – – – – – (196,198) (196,198)

Jointly controlled entity – – – – 281 1,164 1,445

2,270,561 – – 196 423 (1,853,756) 417,424

At 1 January 2002 1,898,780 19,575 (126,694) 196 2,745 (740,634) 1,053,968

Issue of shares 373,841 – – – – – 373,841

Share issue expenses (2,060) – – – – – (2,060)

Impairment of goodwill – – 106,694 – – – 106,694

Adjustment to goodwill – – 20,000 – – – 20,000

Deficit on revaluation of

investment properties – (19,575) – – – – (19,575)

Exchange differences – – – – (67) – (67)

Loss for the year – – – – – (267,019) (267,019)

At 31 December 2002 2,270,561 – – 196 2,678 (1,007,653) 1,265,782

Representing:

Company and subsidiaries 2,270,561 – – 196 2,397 (805,980) 1,467,174

Associated companies – – – – – (200,538) (200,538)

Jointly controlled entity – – – – 281 (1,135) (854)

2,270,561 – – 196 2,678 (1,007,653) 1,265,782

25 儲備
本集團

（以港幣千元為單位）

於二零零三年一月一日

匯兌差額

年度虧損

於二零零三年十二月三十一日

以下公司應佔：

本公司及其附屬公司

聯營公司

共同控制企業

於二零零二年一月一日

發行股份

股份發行費用

商譽減值

商譽調整

投資物業

重估虧絀

匯兌差額

年度虧損

於二零零二年十二月三十一日

以下公司應佔：

本公司及其附屬公司

聯營公司

共同控制企業
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25 Reserves (continued)
Company

Capital

Share redemption Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total

資本贖回

(In HK$’000) 股份溢價 儲備 累積虧損 總額

At 1 January 2003 2,270,561 196 (930,053 ) 1,340,704

Loss for the year – – (848,582 ) (848,582 )

At 31 December 2003 2,270,561 196 (1,778,635 ) 492,122

At 1 January 2002 1,898,780 196 (774,251 ) 1,124,725

Issue of shares 373,841 – – 373,841

Share issue expenses (2,060 ) – – (2,060 )

Loss for the year – – (155,802 ) (155,802 )

At 31 December 2002 2,270,561 196 (930,053 ) 1,340,704

At 31 December 2003 and 2002, the Company had no distributable

reserves.

25 儲備（續）
本公司

（以港幣千元為單位）

於二零零三年一月一日

年內虧損

於二零零三年十二月三十一日

於二零零二年一月一日

發行股份

股份發行費用

年度虧損

於二零零二年十二月三十一日

於二零零三年及二零零二年十二月三十

一日，本公司並無可分派儲備。
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26 Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences under

the liability method at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries

in which the Group operates.

The movement on the deferred tax assets is as follows:

Group
本集團

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

At 1 January – –

Deferred taxation credited to

income statement (Note 7) (2,793) –

At 31 December (2,793) –

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards

to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through the

future taxable profits is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax

losses of HK$1,377,714,000 (2002: HK$1,276,915,000) to carry

forward against future taxable income, of which HK$160,903,000

(2002: HK$109,195,000) will expire within five years.

No deferred tax liabilities were recognised during the year (2002:

nil). The deferred tax assets for the year originated from losses and

to be recoverable within the next twelve months.

26 遞延稅項
遞延稅項就暫時差異以負債法按本集團

業務所在國家之現行稅率全數計算。

遞延稅項資產之變動如下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

於一月一日

計入收益表

之遞延稅項（附註7）

於十二月三十一日

遞延所得稅資產乃因應相關稅務利益可

透過未來應課稅溢利變現而就所結轉之

稅項虧損作確認。本集團有未確認稅項

虧損港幣1,377,714,000元（二零零二年：

港幣1,276,915,000元）可結轉以抵銷未來

應課稅收入，其中港幣160,903,000元（二

零零二年：港幣109,195,000元）將於五

年內到期。

本年度並無確認遞延稅項負債（二零零

二年：無）。年內之遞延稅項資產乃來

自虧損，且可於未來十二個月內收回。
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27 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
(a) Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash (outflow)/

inflow generated from operations
(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Operating loss (126,468) (82,465)
Interest income (1,730) (3,261)
Dividend income – (385)
Depreciation 7,276 7,917
Realisation of negative goodwill (431) (6,378)
Amortisation of goodwill 3,135 5,390
Amortisation of development costs – 4,576
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of

subsidiaries (3,711) 730
Deficit on revaluation of

investment properties 19,523 –
Waiver of loan from minority

shareholder (15,600) –
Realised gain on sales of

non-trading securities – (422)
Net gain on disposal of fixed assets (94) (1,136)
Provision for properties held

for sale and properties
under development 10,571 29,390

Provision for fixed assets 7,230 22,337
Provision for inventories 185 3,731
Provision for doubtful debts 18,933 3,327

Operating loss before working
capital changes (81,181) (16,649)

Decrease in investments in
equity securities – 705

Decrease in amount due from
a related company – 82,381

Decrease in properties held for
sale and properties under
development 6,858 274,357

Increase in inventories – (760)
Decrease/(increase) in debtors,

deposits and prepayments 50,991 (215,880)
Decrease in amount due to

ultimate holding company – (50,000)
Increase in creditors and accruals 14,039 63,072
Decrease in retention money – (1,927)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow
generated from operations (9,293) 135,299

27 綜合現金流量表附註
(a) 經營虧損與經營產生之現金（流

出）／流入淨額對賬表

（以港幣千元為單位）

經營虧損

利息收入

股息收入

折舊

負商譽變現

商譽攤銷

開發成本攤銷

出售附屬公司之

（收益）／虧損淨額

投資物業重估

虧絀

應付少數股東貸款

豁免

出售非買賣證券

之已變現收益

出售固定資產之收益淨額

就待出售物業

及發展中物業

作出撥備

就固定資產作出撥備

就存貨作出撥備

就呆賬作出撥備

營運資金變動前

經營虧損

投資股本證券

之減少

應收關連公司款項

之減少

待出售物業及

發展中物業

之減少

存貨增加

應收賬款、按金及預付款項

之減少／（增加）

應付最終控股公司款項

之減少

應付賬款及應計賬項之增加

保留金之減少

經營產生之現金（流出）／流入

 淨額
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27 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
(continued)
(b) Sale of subsidiaries

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Net assets disposed of

Cash 1,083 –

Interests in equity securities 460 –

Property held for sale – 53,938

Debtors, deposits and prepayments 34 1,374

Creditors and accruals (79) (1,666)

Minority interests 2,490 (9,716)

3,988 43,930

Net gain/(loss) on disposal 3,711 (730)

7,699 43,200

Satisfied by

Cash 703 –

Others 6,996 43,200

7,699 43,200

The cash flows contributed and utilised by the subsidiaries

disposed of during the two years were not significant to the

Group.

Analysis of the net outflow in respect of the sale of

subsidiaries

Cash disposed of 1,083 –

Cash consideration (703) –

380 –

27 綜合現金流量表附註
（續）
(b) 出售附屬公司

（以港幣千元為單位）

出售之淨資產

現金

股本證券權益

待出售物業

應收賬款、按金及預付款項

應付賬款及應計賬項

少數股東權益

出售所得之收益／（虧損）淨額

支付方式

現金

其他

兩年內，出售之附屬公司並無對本

集團帶來重大之現金流量，亦並無

動用本集團大量現金流量。

出售附屬公司之流出淨額分析

已出售現金

現金代價
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27 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
(continued)
(c) Analysis of changes in financing during the year

Share Bank and

capital and other Convertible Minority

premium borrowings bonds interests Total

股本及 銀行及 可換 少數

(In HK$’000) 股份溢價 其他貸款 股債券 股東權益 總額

At 1 January 2002 2,065,574 665,075 66,000 170,764 2,967,413

Net cash inflows/(outflows)

from financing 348,206 (280,779 ) (66,000 ) 103,707 105,134

Acquisition of subsidiaries 140,400 2,827 – (43,679 ) 99,548

Sale of subsidiaries – – – (9,716 ) (9,716 )

Share of loss – – – (10,782 ) (10,782 )

Share of reserves – – – (1,603 ) (1,603 )

At 1 January 2003 2,554,180 387,123 – 208,691 3,149,994

Net cash inflows/(outflows)

from financing – 146,847 – (14,224 ) 132,623

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – (66,512 ) (66,512 )

Waiver of loan – – – (15,600 ) (15,600 )

Sale of subsidiaries – – – 2,490 2,490

Share of loss – – – (20,236 ) (20,236 )

Share of reserves – – – 317 317

Exchange differences – (1,262 ) – – (1,262 )

At 31 December 2003 2,554,180 532,708 – 94,926 3,181,814

28 Pledge of assets
At 31 December 2003, the Group pledged certain investment

properties, completed properties held for sale and under

development with carrying values of HK$752,539,000 (2002:

HK$604,743,000) and bank balances of HK$152,869,000 (2002:

HK$121,617,000) to secure bank loans, overdrafts and other loans

granted to the Group.

27 綜合現金流量表附註
（續）
(c) 年內融資變動分析

（以港幣千元為單位）

於二零零二年一月一日

融資之現金流入／（流出）

淨額

收購附屬公司

出售附屬公司

所佔虧損

所佔儲備

於二零零三年一月一日

融資之現金流入／（流出）

淨額

收購附屬公司

豁免之貸款

出售附屬公司

所佔虧損

所佔儲備

匯兌差額

於二零零三年十二月三十一日

28 資產抵押
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本集團

已抵押面值港幣752,539,000元（二零零

二年：港幣604,743,000元）之若干投資

物業、待出售已完成之物業及發展中物

業以及銀行結餘港幣152,869,000元（二

零零二年：港幣121,617,00元）作為銀行

貸款、透支及其他貸款之抵押。
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29 Contingent liabilities
At 31 December 2003, the Company issued guarantees to

the extent of HK$329,496,000 (2002: HK$271,378,000).

HK$320,392,000 (2002: HK$202,791,000) was utilised in respect

of bank and other borrowings granted to its subsidiaries and

HK$676,000 (2002: HK$1,470,000) was utilised in respect of the

lease of fixed assets taken up by a subsidiary.

Management anticipates that no material liabilities will arise from

the above bank and other guarantees which arose in the ordinary

course of business.

30 Commitments
(a) Capital commitments

Group

本集團

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Contracted but not provided for

– Investment in equity securities 9,365 9,423

– Purchase of property, plant and

equipment 100,138 9,203

– Purchase of land 262,165 263,417

Authorised but not contracted for

– Purchase of property, plant and

equipment 11,438 –

383,106 282,043

The Company did not have any capital commitments at 31

December 2003.

29 或然負債
於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本公司

所作出之擔保合共港幣329,496,000元（二

零零二年：港幣271,378,000元），其中

就授予附屬公司之銀行及其他貸款已動

用港幣320,392,000元（二零零二年：港

幣202,791,000元）及港幣676,000元（二零

零二年：港幣1,470,000元）用於一間附

屬公司之固定資產租賃。

管理層預期，上述於日常業務過程中產

生之銀行及其他擔保將不會帶來任何重

大負債。

30 承擔
(a) 資本承擔

（以港幣千元為單位）

已簽約但未撥備

－投資股本證券

－收購物業、廠房

 及設備

－購置土地

已授權但未簽約

－收購物業、廠房

及設備

於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本

公司並無任何資本承擔。
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30 Commitments (continued)
(b) Commitments under operating leases

At 31 December 2003, the Group had future aggregate

minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases as follows:

Group
Land and buildings Others Total
土地及樓宇 其他 總額

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Not later than
one year 3,000 6,204 88 192 3,088 6,396

Later than one year
and not later
than five years 4,330 1,013 – 106 4,330 1,119

7,330 7,217 88 298 7,418 7,515

The Company did not have any commitments under operating

leases at 31 December 2003.

(c) Future minimum rental payments receivable

At 31 December 2003, the Group and the Company had future

minimum rental payments receivable under non-cancellable

leases in respect of land and buildings as follows:

Group

本集團

(In HK$’000) 2003 2002

Not later than one year 11,743 12,085

Later than one year and

not later than five years 8,325 9,632

20,068 21,717

The Group’s operating leases are for terms ranging from one

to six years.

The Company did not have any future minimum rental

payments receivable commitments at 31 December 2003.

30 承擔（續）
(b) 經營租賃承擔

於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本

集團根據不可撤銷經營租賃而須於

未來支付之最低租賃付款總額如下：

本集團

（以港幣千元為單位）

第一年內

第二至第五年內

於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本

公司並無任何經營租賃承擔。

(c) 未來最低應收租金款項

於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本

集團及本公司根據有關土地及樓宇

之不可撤銷租賃之未來最低應收租

金款項如下：

（以港幣千元為單位）

第一年內

第二至第五年內

本集團之經營租賃期限由一年至六

年不等。

於二零零三年十二月三十一日，本

公司並無任何未來最低應收租金款

項。
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31 Related party transactions
During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions

with related parties:

(a) On 19 April 2002, Vision Business Park (TH) Limited (“Vision

Business”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and

Beijing Tsinghua Science Park Construction Co. Ltd.

(“Tsinghua”), entered into a conditional joint venture

agreement (“JV Agreement”) for establishment of Vision

Huaqing (Beijing) Development Co. Ltd. (“Vision Huaqing”)

as a sino-foreign joint venture company. Pursuant to the JV

Agreement, Vision Business and Tsinghua agreed to establish

Vision Huaqing in China for a term of 50 years from the date

of the business licence of Vision Huaqing to engage in

developing, managing and operating a business park and other

related business park services mainly for companies engaged

in technology related businesses. The first development project

of Vision Huaqing will be Plot B14 located within Phase 2 of

Tsinghua Science Park. Vision Huaqing is 60% and 40% owned

by Vision Business and Tsinghua respectively. The total

investment of Vision Huaqing under the JV Agreement was

up to RMB390 million (equivalent to approximately HK$367

million), including the registered capital of RMB130 million

(equivalent to approximately HK$122 million).

31 有關連人士交易
年內，本集團與有關連人士訂立之交易

如下：

(a) 於二零零二年四月十九日，本公司

之全資附屬公司Vision Business Park

(TH) Limited（「Vision Business」）與北

京清華科技園建設股份有限公司（「清

華」）訂立下列一項有條件合營合同

（「合營合同」），藉以成立一家名為

威新華清（北京）置業發展有限公司

（「威新華清」）之中外合營企業，根

據合營合同，Vision Bussiness 及清

華同意在中國成立威新華清，為期

自威新華清獲發營業執照之日起計

50年，以從事開發、管理及經營商

業園及提供其他有關商業園的服務，

主要對象為從事科技相關業務之公

司。威新華清之首個發展項目將會

是位於清華科技園二期之B14地塊。

威新華清分別由Vision Business及清

華各持有60%及40%權益。威新華

清在合營合同項下之總投資最高金

額將為人民幣390,000,000元（相等

於約港幣367,000,000元），包括註

冊資本人民幣130,000,000元（相等

於約港幣122,000,000元）。
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
Vision Business and Tsinghua also entered into a land

development agreement for Plot B14 simultaneously with the

JV Agreement. Tsinghua was responsible for the resettlement

and site clearance of Plot B14 by 30 June 2002 or such other

dates mutually agreed by both parties. Vision Business should

procure Vision Huaqing to pay to Tsinghua the land

development fee (including the costs for resettlement, site

clearance and levelling and infrastructure such as connection

of basic util ities), incurred by Tsinghua which was

approximately RMB134 million (equivalent to approximately

HK$126 million).

On 14 July 2003, Vision Business and Vision Huaqing entered

into a supplemental JV agreement (“Supplemental JV

Agreement”) and a supplemental land development

agreement (“Supplemental Land Development Agreement”),

respectively with Tsinghua. Pursuant to the Supplemental JV

Agreement, the shareholders’ loans to be provided by Vision

Business and Tsinghua were reduced to RMB30 million

(equivalent to approximately HK$28 million) and RMB20

million (equivalent to approximately HK$19 million)

respectively. Pursuant to the Supplemental Land Development

Agreement, the resettlement and site clearance of Plot B14

was postponed to 30 January 2003 and the land payment

installments to Tsinghua were deferred. The completion date

of the project was also postponed as mutually agreed by both

parties.

31 有關連人士交易（續）
除合營合同外，Vision Business亦同

時與清華訂立一項有關B14地塊之

地塊開發合同。清華負責在二零零

二年六月三十日或經訂約方互相協

定之其他日期前完成B14地塊之拆

遷及安置。Vision Business應促使威

新華清向清華支付土地開發費約為

人民幣134,000,000元（相等於約港

幣126,000,000元），以供清華進行

拆遷、安置、地盤平整及基建（如

接駁基本公用設施）之用。

於二零零三年七月十四日，Vision

Business及威新華清分別與清華訂立

合營補充合同（「合營補充合同」）及

地塊開發補充合同（「地塊開發補充

合同」）。根據合營補充合同Vision

Business及清華以股東貸款方式分別

減至人民幣30,000,000元（相等於約

港幣 2 8 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0元）及人民幣

2 0 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0元（相 等 於 約 港

幣19,000,000元）。根據地塊開發補

充合同，拆遷及安置B14地塊延遲

至二零零三年一月三十日，而支付

予清華之土地款項則予以遞延。有

關項目之完工日期亦至經訂約雙方

互相協定後予以押後。
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
(b) On 7 May 2003, Vision Business Park Marketing Services Ltd.

(“VBPMS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,

entered into a marketing agency agreement (the “Marketing

Agency Agreement”) with Ascendas Services Pte Ltd.

(“Ascendas Services”). Ascendas Services is an indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary of Ascendas Pte Limited which indirectly

holds approximately 50% of Vision Century Limited, the

controlling shareholder of the Company. Pursuant to the

Marketing Agency Agreement, Ascendas Services agreed to

provide non-exclusive marketing agency services to VBPMS in

respect of the marketing and solicitation for customers both

inside and outside China for the units in the business parks

built by the Company and its subsidiaries in China for a term

of 36 months from the date of the Marketing Agency

Agreement. During the period, no fee has been charged to

VBPMS.

(c) Following the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of

CyberCity Investments Limited (“CCI”), from CyberCity

Holdings Limited (“CCH”) on 28 May 2002, the Company

has entered into various connected transactions involving CCI

and its subsidiaries as follows:

(1) Transactions with Shenzhen Cursor

Software Technology Co. Ltd.

(“SCST”)

SCST, a company incorporated in China, is owned as to

85.75% by Mr. Larry Chen, a director of a subsidiary of

the Company called CC-Edu Holdings Limited.

31 有關連人士交易（續）
(b) 於二零零三年五月七日，本公司之

全資附屬公司威新市場推廣服務有

限公司（「威新市場推廣服務」）與

Ascendas Services Pte Ltd. (「Ascendas

Services」)訂立招商代理協議書。

Ascendas Services為騰飛私人有限公

司（間接持有Vision Century Limited約

50%權益之本公司控股股東）之間

接全資附屬公司。根據招商代理協

議書，Ascendas Services同意向威新

市場推廣服務提供非獨家市場推廣

代理服務，為本公司及其中國附屬

公司所建之商業園內之單位於國內

及國外進行市場推廣及客戶招商服

務，自招商代理協議書訂立日期起

計為期36個月。於期內，並無向威

新市場推廣服務收取費用。

(c) 本公司於二零零二年五月二十八日

向賽博控股有限公司（「賽博控股」）

購入CyberCity Investments Limited

（「CCI」）全部已發行股本後，本公

司曾訂立涉及CCI及其附屬公司之

多項關連交易如下 :

(1) 與深圳市智慧源軟件技術

有限公司（「深圳市智慧源」）

進行之交易

深圳市智慧源為一家於中國註

冊成立之公司，並由本公司之

附屬公司 CC-Edu Hold ings

Limited之董事Larry Chen先生擁

有85.75%權益。
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31 有關連人士交易（續）
(1) 與深圳市智慧源軟件技術

有限公司（「深圳市智慧源」）

進行之交易（續）

(i) 賽博智慧源信息技術（深

圳）有限公司（「賽博智慧

源」）與深圳市智慧源分別

於二零零一年十二月七日

及二零零二年九月二十五

日訂立之代理協議書及補

充協議，據此，於年內並

無向深圳市智慧源收取任

何款項（二零零二年：無）；

(ii) 賽博智慧源與深圳市智慧

源於二零零一年十月十三

日訂立之技術支援協議書，

據此，於年內向深圳市智

慧源收取港幣73,000元（二

零零二年：港幣 85,000

元）；及

(iii) 賽博智慧源與深圳市智慧

源於二零零一年十月十三

日訂立之合作協議書，據

此，於年內向深圳市智慧

源收取港幣87,000元（二零

零二年：港幣979,000元）。

31 Related party transactions (continued)
(1) Transactions with Shenzhen Cursor

Software Technology Co. Ltd.

(“SCST”) (continued)

(i) the agency agreement and supplemental agreement

dated 7 December 2001 and 25 September 2002

respectively between CyberCity Cursor Media Co.

Ltd. (“CCCM”) and SCST, of which no fee was

charged to SCST during the year (2002: nil);

(ii) the technical support agreement dated 13 October

2001 between CCCM and SCST, of which

HK$73,000 was charged to SCST during the year

(2002: HK$85,000); and

(iii) the co-operative agreement dated 13 October 2001

between CCCM and SCST, of which HK$87,000

was charged to SCST during the year (2002:

HK$979,000).
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
(2) Transaction with Shareholder of XiaoDong Global

Technology Co. Ltd. (“XDT”)

XDT, a company incorporated in China and is beneficially

owned as to 33% by Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon, a then

director of the Company, and 34% by Mr. Zhai Pu, a

then director of various subsidiaries of the Company, and

33% by Mr. Yang Zhaohui, a director of CyberCity

Investments (SZ) Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company.

Therefore, Dr. Jiang Xiaoming, Simon, Mr. Zhai Pu and

Mr. Yang Zhaohui (together called “Shareholders of

XDT”) are connected persons to the Group. The

transactions with the Shareholders of XDT were entered

into prior to the acquisition which was a loan agreement

of HK$6,417,000 dated 6 December 2001 made

amongst Campusall Company Limited and the

Shareholders of XDT.

Interest income of HK$447,000 in respect of the loan as

mentioned above was receivable from the Shareholders

of XDT during the year (2002: HK$267,000).

31 有關連人士交易（續）
(2) 與北京曉東環宇科技有限

公司（「曉東科技」）股東進

行之交易

曉東科技是一間於中國註冊成

立之公司，由蔣小明博士（本

公司當時董事）實益擁有33%

權益、翟普先生（本公司多間

附屬公司之當時董事）實益擁

有34%權益及楊朝暉先生（本

公司一間附屬公司賽合投資咨

詢（深圳）有限公司之董事）實

益擁有33%權益。因此，蔣小

明博士、翟普先生及楊朝暉先

生（統稱「曉東科技股東」）均為

本集團之關連人士。本集團與

曉東科技股東進行之交易乃於

收購事項進行前訂立，即

Campusall Company Limited與曉

東科技股東於二零零一年十二

月六日訂立港幣6,417,000元之

貸款協議。

於年內，可就上述貸款向曉東

科技股東收取港幣447,000元（二

零零二年：港幣267,000元）之

利息收益。
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
(3) Transaction with Shareholders of SZ Nova Science

Technology Development Co. Ltd.

(“SZ Nova”)

SZ Nova is owned as to 90% by Dr. Jiang Xiaoming,

Simon, a then director of the Company, and 10% by

Mr. Chen Shulin, a director and shareholder of Nova

Network Holdings Ltd. (“Nova”). Therefore, Dr. Jiang

Xiaoming, Simon, Mr. Chen Shulin (together called

“Shareholders of SZ Nova”) and SZ Nova are connected

persons to the Group. The transaction with the

Shareholders of SZ Nova which was a loan agreement of

HK$4,396,000 dated 11 December 2001 made amongst

Jubilee Success Limited and the Shareholders of SZ Nova.

Interest income of HK$306,000 (2002: HK$183,000) in

respect of the loan as mentioned above was receivable

from the Shareholders of SZ Nova during the year.

31 有關連人士交易（續）
(3) 與深圳市南凌科技發展有

限公司（「深圳市南凌」）股

東進行之交易

深圳市南凌由蔣小明博士（本

公司當時董事）擁有90%權益

及陳樹林先生（Nova Network

Holdings Ltd.（「南凌」）之董事兼

股東）擁有10%權益。因此，

蔣小明博士、陳樹林先生（統

稱「深圳市南凌股東」）及深圳

市南凌均為本集團之關連人士。

本集團與深圳市南凌股東進行

之交易，即深圳市南凌股東與

Jubilee Success Limited於二零零

一年十二月十一日訂立港

幣4,396,000元之貸款協議。

於年內，可就上述貸款向深圳

市南凌股東收取港幣306,000元

（二零零二年：港幣183,000元）

之利息收益。
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
(4) Transactions with Nova and its subsidiaries (“Nova

Group”)

Nova is beneficially owned as to 90% by CCI and 8.1%

by Mr. Chen Shulin, a director of Nova and 1.9% by

independent parties not connected with any director,

chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company

or its subsidiaries or any of their respective associates.

Nova Network Ltd. (“Nova HK”) and Century Nova Cyber

Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Nova Cyber”) are

wholly-owned subsidiaries of Nova. Details of transactions

with Nova Group are set out as follows:

(i) A  gua ran tee  o f  HK$7 ,492 ,000  ( 2002 :

HK$7,539,000) provided to Nova Cyber by the

Company as at 31 December 2003, of which a

guarantee fee of HK$375,000 (2002: HK$108,000)

was charged to Nova Cyber during the year.

(ii) A loan of HK$6,445,000 (2002: HK$4,569,000)

provided to Nova by the Company as at 31

December 2003, of which interest income of

HK$415,000 (2002: HK$110,000) was charged to

Nova during the year.

31 有關連人士交易（續）
(4) 與南凌及其附屬公司（「南

凌集團」）進行之交易

南凌由CCI實益擁有90%權益及

陳樹林先生（南凌董事）實益擁

有8.1%權益及獨立人士（與本

公司或其附屬公司之董事、主

要管理人員或主要股東或彼等

各自之聯繫人概無關連）實益

擁有1.9%權益。Nova Network

Ltd.（「南凌香港」）與世紀南凌

數碼科技（深圳）有限公司（「世

紀南凌」）均為南凌之全資附屬

公司。本集團與南凌集團之交

易詳情如下：

(i) 本公司於二零零三年十二

月三十一日向世紀南凌提

供港幣7,492,000元（二零

零二年：港幣7,539,000元）

之擔保，就此，本公司於

年內向世紀南凌收取港幣

375,000元（二零零二年：

港幣108,000元）之擔保費。

(ii) 本公司於二零零三年十二

月三十一日向南凌提供港

幣6,445,000元（二零零二

年：港幣4,569,000元）之

貸款，就此，本公司於年

內向南凌收取港幣415,000

元（二 零 零 二 年 ： 港

幣110,000元）之利息收入。
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
(4) Transactions with Nova and its subsidiaries (“Nova

Group”) (continued)

(iii) A corporate guarantee of HK$711,000 (2002:

HK$1,470,000) provided to Nova HK by the

Company as at 31 December 2003, of which a

guarantee fee of HK$27,000 (2002: HK$9,000) was

charged to Nova HK during the year.

(iv) On 7 May 2003, Nova Cyber and SZ Nova entered

into a co-operative agreement (the “Co-operative

Agreement”), pursuant to which both parties

cooperate to provide integrated enterprise

networking services to customers in certain cities in

China for an initial term of 3 years and, upon

expiration, will be renewable automatically annually

for one year under the same terms. Nova Cyber will

share its 50% of commission fee collected from

customers with SZ Nova. During the year, no

commission fee was receivable from SZ Nova.

31 有關連人士交易（續）
(4) 與南凌及其附屬公司（「南

凌集團」）進行之交易（續）

(iii) 本公司於二零零三年十二

月三十一日向南凌香港提

供港幣711,000元（二零零

二年：港幣1,470,000元）

之公司擔保，就此，本公

司於年內向南凌香港收取

港幣27,000元（二零零二

年：港幣9,000元）之擔保

費。

(iv) 於二零零三年五月七日，

世紀南凌與深圳市南凌訂

立一項合作協議書（「合作

協議書」），據此，訂約雙

方合作向中國若干城市之

客戶提供綜合企業網絡服

務，為期3年，而合作協

議書將於期滿後按相同條

款每年自動續約一年。世

紀南凌將與深圳市南凌分

享其向客戶收取之佣金之

50%。本公司於年內並無

應收深圳市南凌之佣金。
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31 Related party transactions (continued)
(4) Transactions with Nova and its subsidiaries (“Nova

Group”) (continued)

(v) On 7 May 2003, Nova Cyber and SZ Nova entered

into a marketing arrangement agreement (the

“Marke t ing  Ar rangement  Agreement” )

simultaneously with the Co-operative Agreement.

Pursuant to the Marketing Arrangement Agreement,

Nova Cyber agreed to provide exclusive business

development support and sales marketing services

of system integration solutions to SZ Nova for an

initial term of 3 years and, upon expiration, will be

renewable automatically every three years under the

same terms. Nova Cyber will be entitled to 7% of

the revenue recognised from system integration

projects introduced by Nova Cyber to SZ Nova.

During the year, a service fee of HK$452,000 was

charged to SZ Nova.

(d) On 8 October 2001, Vision Century Real Estate Development

(Dalian) Co. Ltd. (“VC Dalian”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of

the Company, entered into a project supervision agreement

(the “PS Agreement”) with JTC International Consultants

(Suzhou) Co. Ltd. (“JTCI (Suzhou)”) whereby JTCI (Suzhou)

agreed to provide certain project supervision and consultancy

services relating to a development project of a property located

at Xinglin Street, ZhongShan District, Dalian, Liaoning Province,

China (the “Dalian Project”) during a 36-month period, for a

consultancy fee of RMB1,900,000 (approximately

HK$1,792,000). If the actual supervision period is longer than

36 months, JTCI (Suzhou) will receive an additional consultancy

fee for any additional services which will be calculated on the

basis of time spent or may be mutually agreed between the

parties as stipulated under the PS Agreement subject to a

maximum cap of RMB500,000 (approximately HK$472,000).

31 有關連人士交易（續）
(4) 與南凌及其附屬公司（「南

凌集團」）進行之交易（續）

(v) 於二零零三年五月七日，

世紀南凌與深圳市南凌於

簽訂合作協議書同時訂立

銷售協議書（「銷售協議

書」）。根據銷售協議書，

世紀南凌同意向深圳市南

凌提供有關系統集成方案

之獨家業務開發支援及銷

售市場推廣服務，為期3

年，而銷售協議書將於期

滿後按相同條款每次自動

續約3年。世紀南凌將有

權獲得其向深圳市南凌引

薦之系統集成項目所確認

收益之7%。本公司於年

內向深圳市南凌收取港幣

452,000元之服務費。

(d) 於二零零一年十月八日，本公司全

資附屬公司威新房地產發展（大連）

有限公司（「威新大連」）與裕廊國際

顧問（蘇州）有限公司（「裕廊國際「蘇

州」」 訂立一項項目監管協議（「項

目監管協議」），據此，裕廊國際（蘇

州）同意於36個月期間就一項位於

中國遼寧省大連中山區杏林街之物

業發展項目（「大連項目」）提供若干

項目監管及顧問服務，顧問費用為

人民幣1,900,000元（約港幣1,792,000

元）。倘實際監管期超過36個月，

裕廊國際（蘇州）將可就任何額外服

務收取額外顧問費，額外顧問費根

據項目監管協議規定按所用時間或

各訂約方均同意之基準計算，最高

上限為人民幣 5 0 0 , 0 0 0元（約港

幣472,000元）。
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For the year ended 31 December 2003 截至二零零三年十二月三十一日止年度

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 有關連人士交易（續）
此外，威新大連及裕廊國際（蘇州）

亦訂立一項機電協議（「機電協議」），

據此，裕廊國際（蘇州）同意就大連

項目提供若干機電顧問服務，顧問

費用為人民幣1,100,000元（約港幣

1,038,000元）。裕廊國際（蘇州）由

裕廊集團間接全資擁有。裕廊集團

乃於新加坡共和國註冊成立之法定

委員會，並由新加坡政府全資擁有。

裕 廊 集 團 全 資 附 屬 公 司 J T C

Consultancy Services Holding Pte Ltd.

負責經營裕廊國際（蘇州）。裕廊集

團透過其全資附屬公司Ascendas Land

International Pte Limited間接擁有

Riverbook Group Limited全部權益，

Riverbook Group Limited則持有Vision

Century Limited50%權益。

32 最終控股公司
董事認為本公司之最終控股公司為在英

屬處女群島註冊成立之公司Vision Century

Limited。

33 通過財務報告
本年度財務報告已於二零零四年三月十

六日由董事局通過。

31 Related party transactions (continued)
Besides, VC Dalian and JTCI (Suzhou) also entered into a M&E

Agreement (the “M&E Agreement”) whereby JTCI (Suzhou)

agreed to provide certain mechanical and electrical consultancy

service relating to the Dalian Project for a consultancy fee of

RMB1,100,000 (approximately HK$1,038,000). JTCI (Suzhou)

is indirectly wholly-owned by JTC Corporation, a statutory

board incorporated in Republic of Singapore and wholly-

owned by the government of Singapore. JTC Consultancy

Services Holding Pte Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of JTC

Corporation, is running the operation of JTCI (Suzhou). JTC

Corporation, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Ascendas

Land International Pte Limited, indirectly owns 100% of

Riverbook Group Limited, which in turn holds 50% of Vision

Century Limited.

32 Ultimate holding company
The directors regard Vision Century Limited, a company

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, as being the ultimate

holding company.

33 Approval of financial statements
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors

on 16 March 2004.
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股東週年大會通告Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting of the

Company will be held at Chater Rooms 3 and 4, Basement 3, Regal

Hongkong Hotel, 88 Yee Wo Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong on

Tuesday, 4 May 2004 at 2:30 p.m. for the following purposes:

1. to receive and consider the audited consolidated financial

statements and the reports of the directors and auditors for the

year ended 31 December 2003.

2. to re-elect directors and to fix the remuneration of directors.

3. to re-appoint auditors and to authorise the board of directors to

fix their remuneration.

4. as special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following

resolutions as ordinary resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
(A) “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (b) of this Resolution, the exercise by

the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as

hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company to

repurchase shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) or on any other

stock exchange on which the shares of the Company may be

listed and recognised by the Securities and Futures Commission

of Hong Kong and the Stock Exchange for this purpose, subject

to and in accordance with all applicable laws and the

requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange or of any other stock exchange as

amended from time to time, be and is hereby generally and

unconditionally approved;

茲通告本公司謹訂於二零零四年五月四日（星

期二）下午二時三十分假座香港銅鑼灣怡和

街八十八號富豪香港酒店低座三樓聚賢廳三

及四室舉行股東週年大會處理下列事項：

1. 省覽及考慮截至二零零三年十二月三十

一日止年度之經審核綜合財務報告與董

事局報告書及核數師報告書。

2. 重選董事及釐定董事酬金。

3. 續聘核數師及授權董事局釐定其酬金。

4. 作為特別事項，考慮並酌情通過下列決

議案為普通決議案：

普通決議案
(A) 「動議：

(a) 在本決議案 (b)段之規限下，一般及

無附帶條件批准本公司董事於有關

期間（定義見下文）內行使本公司所

有權力，以遵循及按照所有適用之

法例及不時修訂之香港聯合交易所

有限公司（「聯交所」）證券上市規則

或任何其他證券交易所之規定，購

回本公司於聯交所或經由香港證券

及期貨事務監察委員會及聯交所就

此認可而於任何其他證券交易所上

市之股份；
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Notice of Annual General Meeting 股東週年大會通告

(b) the amount of the shares of the Company which the Company

is authorised to repurchase pursuant to the approval in

paragraph (a) of this Resolution during the Relevant Period,

shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount

of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of

passing of this Resolution and the said approval shall be limited

accordingly; and

(c) for the purposes of this Resolution, “Relevant Period” means

the period from the date of passing of this Resolution until

whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of

the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual

general meeting of the Company is required by the Bye-

laws of the Company or any applicable law to be held;

and

(iii) the date on which the authority set out in this Resolution

is revoked or varied by way of an ordinary resolution of

the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.”

(B) “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (c) of this Resolution, the exercise by the

directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as

hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company to allot,

issue and deal with additional shares in the capital of the

Company and to make or grant offers, agreements and options

(including bonds, warrants and debentures convertible into

shares of the Company) which would or might require the

exercise of such powers be and is hereby generally and

unconditionally approved;

(b) 本公司於有關期間根據本決議案 (a)

段之批准授權購回之股份之數額將

不得超過本決議案獲通過當日本公

司已發行股本面值總額之10%，而

上述批准亦須受此限制；及

(c) 就本決議案而言，「有關期間」乃指

通過本決議案之日起至下列任何較

早之日期止之期間：

(i) 本公司下屆股東週年大會結束；

(ii) 本公司之公司細則或任何適用

之法例規定本公司須舉行下屆

股東週年大會期限屆滿之日；

及

(iii) 本公司之股東於股東大會上通

過普通決議案撤銷或修訂本決

議案所述之授權之日。」

(B) 「動議：

(a) 在本決議案 (c)段之規限下，一般及

無附帶條件批准本公司董事於有關

期間（定義見下文）內行使本公司所

有權力以配發、發行及處理本公司

股本中之額外股份，並作出或授出

可能需要行使該等權力之售股建議、

協議及認股權（包括可轉換為本公

司股份之債券、認股權證及債權證）；
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(b) the approval in paragraph (a) of this Resolution shall authorise

the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period to

make or grant offers, agreements and options (including

bonds, warrants and debentures convertible into shares of

the Company) which would or might require the exercise of

such powers after the end of the Relevant Period;

(c) the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or

agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted (whether

pursuant to an option or otherwise) and issued by the directors

of the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) of

this Resolution, otherwise than pursuant to:

(i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined);

(ii) an issue of shares upon the exercise of the subscription

or conversion rights under the terms of any warrants of

the Company or any securities which are convertible into

shares of the Company; or

(iii) an issue of shares as scrip dividends pursuant to the Bye-

Laws of the Company from time to time,

shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount

of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of

passing of this Resolution and the said approval shall be limited

accordingly; and

(b) 在本決議案 (a)段之批准將授權本公

司董事於有關期間內作出或授出可

能需要於有關期間結束後行使該等

權力之售股建議、協議及認股權（包

括可轉換為本公司股份之債券、認

股權證及債權證）；

(c) 本公司董事根據本決議案 (a)段之批

准而配發或同意有附帶條件或無附

帶條件配發（不論根據認股權或以

其他方式）及發行之股本面值總額，

但不包括：

(i) 配售新股（定義見下文）；

(ii) 依據本公司任何認股權證或可

轉換為本公司股份之證券之條

款而行使認股權或換股權而發

行之本公司股份；或

(iii) 依據本公司不時之公司章程細

則就以股代息而發行之本公司

股份，

不得超過本決議案獲通過當日本公

司已發行股本面值總額之20%，而

上述批准亦須受此限制；及
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(d) for the purpose of this Resolution, “Relevant Period” means

the period from the date of passing of this Resolution until

whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of

the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual

general meeting of the Company is required by the Bye-

laws of the Company or any applicable law to be held;

and

(iii) the date on which the authority set out in this Resolution

is revoked or varied by way of an ordinary resolution of

the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting;

and

“Rights Issue” means the allotment, issue or grant of shares

pursuant to an offer of shares opened for a period fixed by

the directors of the Company to the holders of shares of the

Company on the register on a fixed record date in proportion

to their then holdings of such shares as at that date (subject

to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors of

the Company may deem necessary or expedient in relation to

fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions or

obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of any

recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any

territory outside Hong Kong applicable to the Company).”

(d) 就本決議案而言，「有關期間」乃指

通過本決議案之日起至下列任何較

早之日期止之期間：

(i) 本公司下屆股東週年大會結束；

(ii) 本公司之公司細則或任何適用

之法例規定本公司須舉行下屆

股東週年大會期限屆滿之日；

及

(iii) 本公司之股東於股東大會上通

過普通決議案撤銷或修訂本決

議案所述之授權之日；及

「配售新股」乃指本公司董事於指定

期間內根據於指定記錄日期名列本

公司股東名冊之股東按彼等於當日

之持股比例配售股份（惟本公司董

事有權就零碎股權或適用於本公司

之香港以外任何地區之法例限制或

責任或其任何認可監管機構或任何

證券交易所之規定，作出其認為必

要或權宜之豁免或其他安排）而配

發、發行或授予股份。」
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(C) “THAT subject to the passing of Ordinary Resolutions 4(A) and 4

(B) set out in the notice convening this meeting, the general

mandate granted to the directors of the Company to allot, issue

and deal with additional shares pursuant to Ordinary Resolution 4

(B) set out in the notice convening this meeting be and is hereby

extended by the addition thereto of an amount representing the

aggregate nominal amount of shares in the capital of the Company

repurchased by the Company under the authority granted pursuant

to Ordinary Resolution 4(A) set out in the notice convening this

meeting, provided that such amount of shares shall not exceed 10

per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the issued share

capital of the Company as at the date of passing of this resolution.”

By Order of the Board

Chan Tin Wai, David

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 17 March 2004

Notes:

1. A member of the Company who is the holder of two or more shares and who

is entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint

more than one proxy to attend and vote, on a poll, on his/her behalf. A proxy

need not be a member of the Company.

2. To be valid, the proxy form, together with the power of attorney or other

authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy thereof,

must be deposited at the branch share registrar and transfer office of the

Company in Hong Kong, Standard Registrars Limited at 28/F., BEA Harbour

View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours

before the time appointed for holding the annual general meeting or any

adjournment thereof.

3. A form of proxy for use at the annual general meeting and a circular containing

details regarding the proposed general mandates to directors of the Company

to repurchase share and issue shares of the Company under resolutions (A) to

(C) will be despatched to the shareholders of the Company together with the

2003 annual report of the Company.

(C) 「動議待本大會通告第4(A)及第4(B)項普

通決議案獲通過後，藉加入相當於本公

司根據第4(A)項普通決議案授予之權力

購回之本公司股本中之股份面值總額之

數額，以擴大本公司董事根據本大會之

通告所載第4(B)項普通決議案之權力配

發、發行及處理額外股份之一般授權；

惟該購回股份數額不得超過本決議案獲

通過當日本公司已發行股本面值總額之

10%。」

承董事局命

陳天衛

公司秘書

香港，二零零四年三月十七日

附註：

1. 凡持有兩股或以上股份及有權出席股東週

年大會並於會上投票之持有人，均有權委

派一名或多名代表出席大會，並於點票表

決時代其投票，受委代表毋須為本公司之

股東。

2. 代表委任表格連同簽署人之授權書或其他

授權文件（如有）或經公證人簽署證明之授

權書或授權文件副本，須於股東週年大會

或其任何續會指定舉行時間48小時前送達

本公司之香港股份過戶登記分處標準證券

登記有限公司，地址為香港灣仔告士打道

56號東亞銀行港灣中心28樓，方為有效。

3. 適用於股東週年大會之代表委任表格以及

載有關於上述第 (A)至 (C)項決議案建議授予

本公司董事購回及發行本公司股份之一般

授權之詳情而刊發之通函將連同本公司二

零零三年年報一併寄發予本公司股東。
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Particulars of Major Interests in Properties 主要物業權益詳情

1. Properties under Development
發展中物業
Properties Uses Shareholding Brief Description Area

物業 用途 股權 簡述 面積

Hong Kong香港
(a) Lot Nos. 111, 114 and Village 100% The site is irregular in shape and is currently Site area: 12,334 ft2

121 in Demarcation 鄉村式 zoned for “village” purposes. It is planned to 地盤面積：12,334平方呎

District No. 387, convert the site for residential use subject to

Sham Tseng, government approval.

Tsuen Wan, 該地盤呈不規則，目前劃作「鄉村式」用途，

New Territories 待獲得政府批准後，計劃作為住宅用途。

新界荃灣

深井丈量約份

第387號地段第111、

114及121號

China中國
(b) Scenic Place Residential/ 100% It is a residential development with supporting 404,608 m2 (GFA)

No. 305 Commercial commercial and communal facilities and clubhouse. 404,608平方米

Guang An Men Wai 住宅／商業 The property is planned for development in （建築樓面面積）

Avenue several phases. Its phase 1 has just been completed.

XuanWu District Occupation permit for Block 7 has been obtained and

Beijing those for Block 5 & Block 8 are expected to be

北京市宣武區 granted in early 2004.

廣安門外大街305號 此乃一住宅發展項目，附設商業及綜合設施及俱樂部會所。

蝶翠華庭 物業按規劃分若干期開發。第一期剛剛竣工。

已取得第七座之入伙紙。預期於二零零四年初

獲發第五及第八座之入伙紙。

(c) The Ninth•ZhongShan Residential 98% It is a twin-towered development comprises a 56,000 m2 (GFA)

No. 2 Xinglin Street 住宅 32-storey east tower and a 30-storey west tower, 56,000平方米

ZhongShan District altogether offering 432 high-end （建築樓面面積）

Dalian residential flats of 2 to 4 bedroom units.

大連市中山區 Unit size ranges from 85-284 m2. There is a

杏林街 2號 comprehensive clubhouse and a 3-level basement

中山九號 carpark with 107 saleable carpark lots. The

Ninth•ZhongShan is expected to be completed by May 2004.

該兩幢大樓發展項目包括一幢32層高東大樓及一幢30層高西大樓，

合共提供432個2房至4房之高尚住宅單位。

單位面積由85平方米至284平方米不等，並配備綜合會所，

以及備有107個供出售車位之3層地庫停車場。

中山九號預期於二零零四年五月落成。
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1. Properties under Development (continued)
發展中物業（續）
Properties Uses Shareholding Brief Description Area

物業 用途 股權 簡述 面積

(d) Vision International Commercial 60% The development is a 13-storey building with two levels 39,000 m2 (GFA)

Centre at Phase 2 of 商業 basement car parks and ancillary facilities. The total land 39,000平方米

Tsinghua Science Park area is about 8,200 m2. The building is to be used as office （建築樓面面積）

Tsinghua South Road/ and/or research and development facilities and scheduled

Cheng Fu Road, Beijing for completion in July 2004.

北京 威新國際大廈為一幢 13層高大樓，設兩層地庫停車場及配套設施。

成府路／清華南路 總土地面積約為 8,200平方米。該幢大樓將用作辦公室及／或

清華科技園第二期 研究及發展設施，定於二零零四年七月竣工。

威新國際大廈

2. Property held for Development
持有作發展用途之物業
Properties Uses Shareholding Brief Description Area

物業 用途 股權 簡述 面積

China中國
Vision (Shenzhen) Commercial 95% Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Phase 2 will comprise 121,300 m2 (GFA)

Business Park 商業 5 hi-tech multi-purpose buildings (from 5 to 9 storeys), 121,300 平方米

Phase 2 and 3 at a 2-storey amenity centre and a multi-storey carpark （建築樓面面積）

Shenzhen Hi-Tech building. The total land area for Phase 2

Industrial Park development is about 6 ha.

GaoXin South Ring Road/ 深圳威新軟件科技園第二期包括 5幢高新科技多用途大樓

KeJi South Road, Shenzhen （5至 9層高大樓）、一幢 2層高康樂中心及一幢多層高

深圳市高新區 停車場大樓。第二期發展項目之總土地面積約為 6公頃。

高新南環道／科技南路

深圳高新科技工業園

深圳威新軟件科技園

第二期及第三期
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投資物業
Properties Uses Term of Lease Shareholding Brief Description Area

物業 用途 地契年期 股權 簡述 面積

China中國
Vision (Shenzhen) Commercial Medium 95% Vision (Shenzhen) Business Park Phase 1, 23,500 m2 (GFA)

Business Park 商業 中期 located on a 2.3 ha site, comprises two 23,500平方米

Phase 1 at Shenzhen cross-shaped, 5-storey buildings. Units （建築樓面面積）

Hi-Tech Industrial Park are designated for housing I.T. research

GaoXin South Ring Road/ & development centres and offices, and

KeJi South Road for ancillary uses. Phase 1 was

Shenzhen completed in March 2001.

深圳市 深圳威新軟件科技園第一期佔地2.3公頃，

高新區 包括 2幢 5層高十字型大樓。各單位均指定為

高新南環道／科技南路 資訊科技研發中心及辦公室及有配套用途。

深圳高新科技工業園 第一期已於二零零一年三月竣工。

深圳威新軟件科技園第一期

4. Completed Properties held for Sale
待出售之已完成物業
Properties Uses Shareholding Brief Description Area

物業 用途 股權 簡述 面積

Hong Kong香港

(a) Various Units & Residential 100% Harbourview Garden was completed in year 2000. 3,480 ft2 (GFA)

Carparks at 住宅 The development is a 24-storey residential tower, 3,480平方呎

Harbourview Garden situated on a 5-level carpark podium. （建築樓面面積）

339 Prince Edward Road Average flat size is 1,160 ft2.

West, Kowloon City, 維景雅軒已於二零零零年落成。該發展物業為一幢 24層高住宅大樓，

Kowloon 連 5層停車場平台。單位平均面積為 1,160平方呎。

九龍九龍城

太子道西339號

維景雅軒中多個單位

及停車位

(b) Various Carparks at Carpark 100% Greenery Place comprises four 11-storey residential –

Greenery Place 停車場 towers with a total of 330 residential units,

No. 1 Town Park Road a clubhouse and a 2-level carpark.

South, Yuen Long, The property was completed in 2001.

New Territories 翠韻華庭包括 4幢 11層高住宅大樓，

新界元朗公園南路1號 提供合共330個住宅單位、1間會所及2層高停車場。

翠韻華庭中多個停車位 該物業已於二零零一年落成。

3. Investment Properties
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4. Completed Properties held for Sale (continued)
待出售之已完成物業（續）
Properties Uses Shareholding Brief Description Area

物業 用途 股權 簡述 面積

(c) Various Units at Residential/ 100% Elite Court comprises 3 shops and 46 residential Residential

Elite Court Commercial units, including 22 three-bedroom units, 23,406 ft2 (GFA)

33 Centre Street 住宅／商業 each of 833 ft2 (gross), 23 two-bedroom units, 住宅

Sai Ying Pun each of 604 ft2 (gross) and 1 three-bedroom 23,406平方呎

Hong Kong duplex unit of 1,705 ft2 (gross). （建築樓面面積）

香港西營盤正街 33號 The property was completed in March 2002.

雅賢軒中多個單位 雅賢軒之不同單位由3個鋪位及46個住宅單位組成，

包括22個建築面積各833平方呎的三房單位、

23個各604平方呎的兩房單位，

及1個建築面積為1,705平方呎的三房複式單位。

該物業已於二零零二年三月竣工。

China中國

(d) Scenic Place at Residential 100% Tower 7 of Phase 1 is a completed residential tower 29,392 m2 (GFA)

No. 305 住宅 consisting of 289 non-furnished flats comprising 29,392平方米

Guang An Men 1 to 3 bedrooms units with sizes ranging from （建築樓面面積）

Wai Avenue 70 to 147 m2 .

XuanWu District 第一期第七座為一幢經已竣工之住宅大樓，

Beijing 包括由 1房至 3房單位組成之 289個無配備傢具之單位，

北京市宣武區 單位面積由70平方米至147平方米不等。

廣安門外大街305號

蝶翠華庭
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The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate

governance practices and has complied throughout the year with the

Code of Best Practice as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing

the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

(the “Listing Rules”).

The following chart illustrates the Company’s corporate governance

structure:

本公司致力維持優質企業管治，並於年內一

直遵守香港聯合交易所有限公司證券上市規

則（「上市規則」）附錄14所載之最佳應用守則。

本公司之企業管治架構如下圖示：

# 非執行董事

** 獨立非執行董事

# Non-executive Directors

** Independent Non-executive Directors

Audit Committee

Mr. Kwong Che Keung,
Gordon** (Chairman)

Dr. Han Cheng Fong#

Mr. Alan Howard
Smith, J.P.**

Ms. Wang Poey Foon,
Angela**

審核委員會

鄺志強先生**
（主席）
韓禎豐博士 #

Alan Howard Smith
先生，太平紳士**
王培芬女士**

Executive Committee

Dr. Han Cheng Fong#

(Chairman)
Ms. Chong Siak Ching#

Mr. Lai Seck Khui#

Mr. Ang Ah Lay
Mr. Lew Syn Pau#

執行委員會

韓禎豐博士 #

（主席）
張雪倩女士 #

黎錫駒先生 #

洪亞歷先生
劉信保先生 #

Remuneration
Committee

Mr. Alan Howard
Smith, J.P.**
(Chairman)

Dr. Han Cheng Fong#

Mr. Lew Syn Pau#

薪酬委員會

Alan Howard Smith
先生，太平紳士**
（主席）
韓禎豐博士 #

劉信保先生 #

Board of Directors
Dr. Han Cheng Fong# (Chairman)
Ms. Chong Siak Ching# (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Lai Seck Khui# (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P.** (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Ang Ah Lay (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lew Syn Pau#

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon**
Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela**
Mr. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick

(Alternate Director to Dr. Han Cheng Fong)
Mr. Tan Ser Ping (Alternate Director to Ms. Chong Siak Ching)
Mr. Hui Choon Kit (Alternate Director to Mr. Lai Seck Khui)
Mr. Goh Toh Sim (Alternate Director to Mr. Lew Syn Pau)

董事局
韓禎豐博士 #（主席）
張雪倩女士 #（副主席）
黎錫駒先生 #（副主席）
Alan Howard Smith先生，太平紳士**（副主席）
洪亞歷先生（行政總裁）
劉信保先生 #

鄺志強先生**
王培芬女士**
吳榮鈿先生
（韓禎豐博士之替任董事）
陳思伻先生（張雪倩女士之替任董事）
許遵傑先生（黎錫駒先生之替任董事）
吳多深先生（劉信保先生之替任董事）
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董事局
董事局之現有成員包括一名執行董事及七名

非執行董事（其中三名為獨立非執行董事）。

董事局於二零零三年已舉行三次全體董事會

議。董事局負責確保領導層之連續性。設定

卓越之業務策略，確保資金和管理資源足以

應付業務策略之推行，並確保財務及內部監

控制度健全，及業務運作符合適用之法律及

規例。

執行委員會
本公司之董事局執行委員會乃於二零零一年

四月成立。執行委員會由五名董事（其中四

名為非執行董事）組成。該委員會乃制定本

公司之策略性方向及監察管理層之表現。於

二零零三年已舉行四次會議。

審核委員會
審核委員會乃於二零零一年八月由董事局設

立，其成員包括四名非執行董事，其中三名

為獨立非執行董事。二零零三年已舉行兩次

會議，而外聘核數師亦有出席會議。

審核委員會之職權範圍包括下列各項：

(a) 考慮外聘核數師之委任、核數費用及辭

任或免職之任何問題；

(b) 於審核前與外聘核數師商議審核性質及

範疇，並確保當超過一間核數公司參與

審核時之相互協調事宜；

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors currently comprises an executive director and

seven non-executive directors, three of whom are independent non-

executive directors. Three full board meetings were held in 2003. The

Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,

development of sound business strategies, availability of adequate capital

and managerial resources to implement the business strategies adopted,

adequacy of systems of financial and internal controls and conduct of

business in conformity with applicable laws and regulations.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company

was formed in April 2001. It comprises five directors, four of whom are

non-executive directors. The Committee establishes the strategic

directions of the Company and monitors the performance of

management. Four meetings were held in 2003.

Audit Committee
An Audit Committee was established by the Board of Directors in August

2001 and it comprises four non-executive directors, three of whom are

independent non-executive directors. Two meetings were held in 2003

and the external auditors were in attendance.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee include the following:

(a) to consider the appointment of the external auditors, the audit fee

and any question of resignation or dismissal;

(b) to discuss with the external auditor before the audit commences,

the nature and scope of the audit, and ensure co-ordination where

more than one audit firm is involved;
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Audit Committee (continued)
(c) to review the half-year and annual financial statements before

submission to the Board of Directors focusing particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgemental areas;

(iii) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv) the going concern assumption;

(v) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi) compliance with stock exchange and legal requirements.

(d) to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and

final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to discuss (in

the absence of management where necessary);

(e) to review the external auditors’ management letter and

management’s response;

(f) to review the Company’s statement on internal control systems

prior to endorsement by the Board of Directors;

(g) (where an internal audit function exists) to review the internal audit

programme, ensure co-ordination between the internal and external

auditors, and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately

resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company;

審核委員會（續）
(c) 在半年及全年財務報告提呈董事局前先

予以審閱，主要重點為：

(i) 會計政策及慣例之任何改變；

(ii) 主要具爭議性的部份；

(iii) 因審核導致之重要調整；

(iv) 持續經營業務假設；

(v) 遵守會計標準；及

(vi) 遵守證券交易所及法例之要求。

(d) 討論由中期及末期審核引起之問題及保

留意見，及核數師希望討論之任何議題

（如有需要，管理層需要避席）；

(e) 審閱外聘核數師致管理層之信函及管理

層之回應；

(f) 於董事局簽署公司之內部監控系統報告

前予以審閱；

(g) （如有內部核數職能）審閱內部核數計劃，

確保內部及外聘核數師之協調，及確保

內部核數之職務是有充份資源及於公司

內擁有適當地位；
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Audit Committee (continued)
(h) to consider the major findings of internal investigations and

management’s response; and

(i) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board of Directors to

investigate any activity within its terms of reference; to seek any

information it requires from any employees and all employees are directed

to co-operate with any requests made by the Committee; to obtain

outside legal or other independent professional advice; and to secure

the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if

necessary.

Remuneration Committee
In October 2002, a Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors

(“Remuneration Committee”) was formed to replace the Management

Development and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

which was formed in April 2001. The Remuneration Committee

comprises Mr. Alan Howard Smith (Chairman), Dr. Han Cheng Fong

and Mr. Lew Syn Pau. The objectives of the Remuneration Committee

are to establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of

remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key executives

to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration Committee will

ensure that the remuneration policies and systems of the Group support

the Group’s objectives and strategies. The Committee held two meetings

in 2003.

Relations with Shareholders
The Company’s Annual General Meeting provides a good opportunity

for communication between the Board of Directors and the Company’s

shareholders. Notice of the Annual General Meeting and related papers

are sent to shareholders at least 21 calendar days before the meeting. It

is well participated by the shareholders of the Company.

Website
The Company’s information is accessible to all via the Internet. Besides

providing the traditional interim and annual reports and the press

releases, the Company’s website also includes the most updated

information on the Company.

審核委員會（續）
(h) 考慮內部調查之主要結果及管理層之回

應；及

(i) 討論由董事局提出之其他議題。

審核委員會獲董事局授權，可調查其職權範

圍內之任何事項；向任何僱員索取任何所需

資料，而所有僱員均須就審核委員會之要求

作出通力合作；向外界法律人士或其他獨立

專業人士尋求意見；及於有需要時邀請具有

相關經驗和專才之外界人士參與會議。

酬金委員會
董事局酬金委員會（「酬金委員會」）於二零零

二年十月成立，以取代於二零零一年四月成

立之董事局管理發展及補償委員會。酬金委

員會由Alan Howard Smith先生（主席）、韓禎

豐博士及劉信保先生組成。酬金委員會的宗

旨為建立及維持適當而具競爭力的酬金水平，

以吸引、挽留及鼓勵董事及行政要員，藉此

帶領本公司邁向成功。酬金委員會將確保本

集團的酬金政策及制度均支持本集團之目標

及策略。該委員會於二零零三年已舉行兩次

會議。

股東關係
本公司之股東週年大會為董事局與本公司之

股東提供溝通良機。股東週年大會通告及有

關文件於大會舉行日期前最少二十一個曆日

寄予股東。股東週年大會獲本公司股東踴躍

出席。

網頁
任何人士均可透過互聯網查閱本公司之資料。

除提供中期報告、年報及新聞稿等傳統資料

外，本公司之網頁亦提供本公司其他最新資

訊。
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Board of Directors
Executive Director

Mr. Ang Ah Lay (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Han Cheng Fong (Chairman)

Ms. Chong Siak Ching (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Lai Seck Khui (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Lew Syn Pau

Mr. Goh Yong Chian, Patrick (Alternate to Dr. Han Cheng Fong)

Mr. Tan Ser Ping (Alternate to Ms. Chong Siak Ching)

Mr. Hui Choon Kit (Alternate to Mr. Lai Seck Khui)

Mr. Goh Toh Sim (Alternate to Mr. Lew Syn Pau)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Alan Howard Smith, J.P. (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Kwong Che Keung, Gordon

Ms. Wang Poey Foon, Angela

Company Secretary
Mr. Chan Tin Wai, David

Registered Office
Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
Suite 2806-2811, 28/F

Shell Tower

Times Square

1 Matheson Street

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

董事局
執行董事

洪亞歷先生 （行政總裁）

非執行董事

韓禎豐博士 （主席）

張雪倩女士 （副主席）

黎錫駒先生 （副主席）

劉信保先生

吳榮鈿先生 （韓禎豐博士之替任董事）

陳思伻先生 （張雪倩女士之替任董事）

許遵傑先生 （黎錫駒先生之替任董事）

吳多深先生 （劉信保先生之替任董事）

獨立非執行董事

Alan Howard Smith先生，太平紳士（副主席）

鄺志強先生

王培芬女士

公司秘書
陳天衛先生

註冊辦事處
Canon’s Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

總辦事處及主要營業地址
香港

銅鑼灣

勿地臣街1號

時代廣場

蜆殼大廈

28樓2806-2811室
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Auditors
PrincewaterhouseCoopers

22/F Prince’s Building

Central

Hong Kong

Solicitors
Allen & Overy

9/F Three Exchange Square

Central

Hong Kong

Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office
in Hong Kong

Standard Registrars Limited

28/F BEA Harbour View Centre
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Wanchai

Hong Kong

Principal Bankers
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

CITIC Ka Wah Bank Limited

DBS Bank Ltd, Hong Kong Branch

Standard Chartered Bank

China Construction Bank

CITIC Industrial Bank

Company Website
http://www.visioncentury.com.hk

Stock Code
535

核數師
羅兵咸永道會計師事務所

香港

中環

太子大廈22樓

律師
安理國際律師事務所

香港

中環

交易廣場第三座九樓

香港股份過戶登記
分處

標準證券登記有限公司

香港

灣仔

告士打道56號

東亞銀行港灣中心28樓

主要往來銀行
中國銀行（香港）有限公司

中信嘉華銀行有限公司

星展銀行香港分行

渣打銀行有限公司

中國建設銀行

中信實業銀行

公司網址
http://www.visioncentury.com.hk

股份代號
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